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SIMON PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER,
PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION AND PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT, AND
IMMEDIATE APPOINTMENT OF A SPECIAL MASTER

In accordance with the provisions of Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 53, 56 and
65, and the attached transcripts of testimony, Plaintiffs, the Honorable Kenneth L. Simon,
the Honorable Lewis W. Macklin, II and Helen Youngblood, (hereinafter “the Simon
Parties™), respectfully move this Honorable Court for an immediate order enjoining
Defendants, their agents and successors in office, and all persons acting in concert with
them from issuing certificates of nomination or election for representative of the proposed
61" Congressional District, Exhibit A, or any district that touches the 6™ District and
requires reconfiguration as a result of the 6™ District’s unconstitutionality. Plaintiffs
hereby further seek an immediate order under Fed. R. Civ. P. 53 appointing a special master
to assume control of the Ohio redistricting process, to assure compliance with Ohio and
federal law and to expedite completion of the redistricting process in a manner to avoid
further election chaos attributable to willful violation of law by Defendants

The exceptional step of the appointment of a master should be taken for the reason
Defendants have intentionally ignored their duty under 52 U.S.C. 810301, et seg. to
consider racial demographics and to consider whether the totality of circumstances
applicable to proposed districts results in the political processes leading to nomination or
election not being equally open to participation by Plaintiffs’ putative class and whether
they have less opportunity to elect representatives of choice. The districts proposed by
Defendants unlawfully dilute the voting strength of plaintiffs’ putative class.

In this case Defendants consciously ignored the VRA. They also ignored the

opinion in Armour v. Ohio., Exhibit B, which documents a history of intentional racial

discrimination in redistricting by the State of Ohio in Plaintiffs’ geographic area and
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evidence of continued racially polarized voting. The testimony of defendants chief map
maker , Mr. Di Rossi, at Exhibit C and the comments of President Huffman and Speaker
Cupp at Exhibit D and proof that Defendants failed to comply with the VRA and have as
a result drawn district maps that dilute the voting strength of Plaintiff’s putative class aside

from violating state law.

A Memorandum in support of this motion, Proposed Order and Exhibits are

attached.

/sl Percy Squire

Percy Squire (0022010)
Percy Squire Co., LLC

341 S. Third Street, Suite 10
Columbus, Ohio 43215
(614) 224-6528, Telephone
(614) 224-6529, Facsimile
psquire@sp-lawfirm.com
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MEMORANDUM

A. INTRODUCTION

Ohio now faces electoral chaos and Plaintiffs’ voting rights will be injured
irreparably unless drastic steps are taken to supervise the redistricting process. Ohio
officials refuse to abide by State and federal law For this reason given the failure by
Defendants to comply with federal law, Plaintiffs respectfully move for an immediate order
enjoining certification of the results of the primary election for the 6™ U.S. House district
because the district violates the Voting Rights Act. Plaintiffs have also alleged that the
challenged districts violate the 14" and 15" Amendments but move for an injunction in
relation to Plaintiffs’ statutory VRA challenge only at this juncture.

A temporary restraining order should be issued because: (1) Plaintiffs are likely to
prevail on the merits in this action; (2) Plaintiffs will suffer irreparable harm during the
pendency of this action if this relief is not granted; (3) the balance of equities strongly favor
Plaintiffs'; and (4) an injunction is in the public interest. In support of this Motion, Plaintiffs
submit (i) a Memorandum in Support of this Motion; and (ii) Exhibits A —F (iii) an Exhibit
List describing the exhibits submitted in support of the Motion; and (iv) a Proposed Order.
Plaintiffs request oral argument on their motion for temporary restraining order.

B. BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs in this action have filed a complaint that alleges five members of the Ohio
Redistricting Commission and the Redistricting Commission intentionally violated
Sections 2 and 3 of the VVoting Rights Act 52 U.S.C. 810301, et seq in connection with the
proposed configuration of Ohio Congressional districts. The proposed Congressional
Districts dilute Plaintiffs’ voting strength by submerging Plaintiffs into a racially polarized

voting block of voters located in several racially polarized voting counties south of
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Mahoning County and stretching over 165 miles, counties with negligible number of Black
voters while a district proposed by Plaintiffs would contain over 250,000 Blacks voters and
enabled Plaintiffs to elect a representative of choice. Exhibit E

Plaintiffs’ motion should be granted as a threshold matter in this action for the
reason Defendants have stated publicly that the challenged districts were configured
without any regard whatsoever to whether the proposed districts impair Plaintiffs’ ability
to participate equally in the electoral process and elect representatives of choice.
Defendants, despite the clear admonitions of the VRA that no voting...standard practice or
procedure shall be imposed in a manner that dilutes Black voting strength and the historical

findings of official racial discrimination set forth by this Court in Armour v. Ohio, 775 F.

Supp. 1044 (6" Cir. 1991) concerning the role of race in elections in Mahoning County,
Ohio, adopted a wholesale policy of ignoring racial demographics in Mahoning County
elections®. An injunction should be issued for the reason Defendants’ conduct here violates
the clear instruction of the United States Supreme Court concerning the procedure that

should be followed to comply with §2 of the VRA. See, Thornburg v. Gingles, 478 U.S.

30 (1986).

In Thornburg, the United States Supreme Court stated both amended 82 and its
legislative history make clear, in evaluating a statutory claim of vote dilution through
districting, courts, and implicitly legislative bodies configuring legislature districts, must
consider the "totality of the circumstances” and determine, based "upon a searching

practical evaluation of the past and present reality,” S. Rep. at 30 (footnote omitted),

! [R]edistricting legislatures will almost always be aware of racial demographics, but that sort of race
consciousness does not lead inevitably to impermissible race discrimination. See, Shaw v. Reno, 509 U.S.
630, 646. Here defendants configured districts without any consideration of racial demographics and
therefore drew districts that failed to take into account historical and previous judicial findings of racial
block voting..
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whether the proposed structure results in the political process being equally open to

minority voters. "' This determination is peculiarly dependent upon the facts of each case,

Rogers, supra, at 621, quoting Nevett v. Sides, 571 F.2d 209, 224 (CA5 1978), and requires

"an intensely local appraisal of the design and impact” of the contested electoral
mechanisms. 458 U.S. at 458 U. S. 622. The issue underlying this motion is whether
Defendants violated 82 and Armour by totally disregarding race when they configured the
districts challenged here. The clear answer to this question is yes. Accordingly, judgment
should issue enjoining the certification of election in the challenged districts and granting
partial summary judgment in relation to the question of whether Defendants violated the
VRA by intentionally ignoring the totality of circumstances and the 15" Amendment by
ignoring the VRA intentionally.

C. DEFENDANTS’ POLICY CONCERNING ROLE OF RACE CONTRARY
TO LAW

In order to comply with the VRA the redistricting process must take into

consideration whether a white "majority votes sufficiently as a bloc to enable it...usually

to defeat the minority's preferred candidate.” Thornburg v. Gingles, 478 U.S. 30, 51 (1986).
Here, Plaintiffs provided evidence to Defendants demonstrating that consideration of race
was mandatory to account for the racial discrimination historical findings in Armour to

prevent "retrogression in respect to Plaintiffs’ ability...to elect their preferred candidates

of choice." See, Alabama Legislative Black Caucus v. Alabama, 135 S. Ct. 1257, 1263

(2015) (quoting 52 U.S.C. § 10304(b)). Defendants here stated explicitly that they
followed a policy level decision to completely disregard race and whether the proposed
districts impair the voting rights of Black Mahoning Valley voters or takes into account

the findings in Armour.
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The Voting Rights Act violations complained of herein were not innocent mistakes.
Defendants were fully aware of their duties under the VRA, but conspired to intentionally

ignore the previous finding of this Court in Armour and the clear language of Section 2 in

favor of partisan political advantage. Defendants intentionally discriminated by ignoring
Armour’s 15" Amendment findings and failed to follow federal VRA methodology, which
specifically harmed Plaintiffs’ class in a Mahoning Valley, but also generally diluted Black
voting power across Ohio.

The specific intentional conduct of Defendants complained of herein should operate
to invalidate the March 2 Plan because, despite having been advised of the findings of this
Court in Armour concerning historical racial discrimination and the duty under the VRA
to engage in an intensely local appraisal of indigenous political reality in Ohio and
Mahoning County and the totality of circumstances test set forth in the Senate Report
enacting Section 2, Defendants gave specific instructions to their staff responsible for the
drawing of district maps to disregard race, racial bloc voting or any other racial
consideration in connection with district configuration.. (See, Exhibit D for input provided
by Plaintiffs to Defendants during redistricting.)

Further, support for this assertion is found in the following exchange that occurred
during hearings before the Ohio Redistricting Commission on September 9, 2021.

Ray DiRossi: Urn, [00:03:30] | am Ray DiRossi and as was mentioned, I'm

from the caucus staff for the Senate Majority Caucus and my colleague

Blake Springhetti, caucus staff for the Ohio House Majority Caucus. Urn,

co-chairs and distinguished members of the Redistricting Commission, it's

great to be with you today.

Sykes: Uh, thank you to the co-chairs and to Mr. Springhetti and

Mr. DiRossi. Thank you, uh, for the work that you put together, uh, put, so

you could present to us to get, today. Excuse me. Uh, my question is specific

to, urn, how this current map complies with, uh, any provisions of the
Voting Rights Act and what provisions of the Voting Rights Act [00:22:30]
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d- did you consider in constructing this map that you presented, or these
maps that you presented today?

Ray DiRossi: Co-chairs, Leader Sykes, thank you for the question. We did
not use demographic data or racial data in the production of our maps.
Sykes: Any follow up.

Vernon Sykes: Yes, please.

Sykes: Thank you for answering the question. Uh, so are there any
provisions of the Voting Rights Act in which you considered while you
drew the, or while you drew these maps [00:23:00] before us today?

Ray DiRossi: | guess | would ... Co-chairs | guess | would say it on my
previous statement, we did not use racial data or demographic data for the
map, but we feel that the map complies with all the provisions of the Ohio
Constitution.

Sykes: Thank you. Uh, | appreciate your answer, and I, | certainly
appreciate the brevity of it. Uh, can you explain why you didn't consider
any parts of the Voting Rights Act in your consideration of these maps
[00:23:30] before us today?

Ray DiRossi: Well, | said we didn't consider racial data or demographic

data in our maps, but we were directed not to use that data by the legislative

leaders, and so we did not use it.

Audience: (laughs)

Vernon Sykes: Yeah. [inaudible 00:23:46].

Sykes: So I, I would count myself as a legislative leader and | don't

think that | shared that information with you and I, this is not an ambush,

this is simply a question. The Voting Rights Act is certainly, uh, a part of

our, uh, [00:24:00] election and electoral fabric. Uh, and so really just trying

to get a better idea of how we are, or not in compliance with that, with these

maps. So, urn, hopefully we can have some deeper conversations about that,

but, but again, thank you for your responses.

Ray DiRossi: Thank you.
See, Exhibit C, DiRossi Transcript, pp. 789-790. Also see, Exhibit D for comments by
President Huffman and Speaker Cupp concerning refusal to consider racially polarized

voting and racial demographics.
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This testimony is clear evidence that the legislative leadership in Ohio intentionally
disregarded whether the proposed districts diluted Black voting strength or the existence
among other things, of racial block voting.

According to Mr. DiRossi, the lead representative for defendants in the redistricting
process, the Defendants intentionally decided to ignore race, and the Voting Rights Act,
but also previous judicial findings of official racial discrimination in legislative districting
in Ohio. The approach to redistricting followed the Defendants, results in vote dilution,

because it ignores preexisting judicial findings in Armour of racial block voting and the

Senate Report factors discussed in Armour.

D. VOTING RIGHTS ACT

Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act of 1965, 52 U.S.C. § 10301, prohibits voting
practices and procedures that discriminate on the basis of race, color, or membership in a
language minority group. "The essence of a § 2 claim is that a certain electoral laws,
practices, or structures interact with social and historical conditions to cause an inequality
in the opportunities enjoyed by protected voters to elect their preferred representatives."
Gingles, 478 U.S. at 47. Defendants failed to determine whether the proposed districts

caused inequality despite a permanent injunction from Armour and the duty to consider the

totality of circumstances. This threshold failure by Defendants warrants the entry of
summary judgment on Plaintiffs’ VRA claim.

A. TIMELINESS

The Simon Parties exercised appropriate diligence in connection with their
challenge to the current proposed Ohio 6" United States Congressional District. On the
very first day of Regional hearings concerning the current redistricting process, August

23,2021, Plaintiff, Reverend Kenneth L. Simon and Undersigned Counsel appeared before

10
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the Ohio Redistricting Commission and presented a proposed map for a new congressional
district for the Ohio Mahoning Valley. Exhibit E. ECF Docket #147-4, on September 14,
2021, counsel for Simon Parties appeared before the Ohio Redistricting Commission, and
again presented a proposed Congressional Map on September 15,2021 See, Exhibit F —
Transcript of September 15, 2021 hearing.

Because the Congressional District proposed by Defendants was adopted pursuant
to a policy which gave no consideration to racial demographics, the testimony of the Simon
Parties at Redistricting Hearings, the fact that the Court in Armour had found intentional
violations of the 15" Amendment in Armour, violation of a VRA and the geographic area
within by the proposed 6™ Congressional District had a history of 14" and 15" Amendment
violations, as discussed in the Armour Opinion, the Simon Parties filed an action in United
States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio, as a case related to Armour, eleven
days later December 1,2021, Case No. 4:21-cv-2267.

On December 13, 2021, the Simon Parties moved in the N.D. Ohio for Class
Certification and a three judge district court. On December 21, 2021 Defendants moved to
stay. On January 3, 2022, the Simon Parties moved the N.D. Ohio Court for an injunction
prohibiting elections under the proposed 6" District Plan. On January 4, 2022, the Simon
Parties filed opposition to Defendants’ Motion to Stay. On January 12, 2022 the N.D. Ohio
action was stayed, at the request of Defendants, in difference to litigation in the Ohio
Supreme Court. On January 14, 2022 the Ohio Supreme Court invalidated the November
20, 2021 Congressional Plan.

On February 21, 2022, in order to preserve this status under the first-to-file rule,
the Simon Parties moved to Intervene in this action. On March 2, 2022, Defendants

approved a new Congressional Plan.

11
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The March 2, 2022 Plan suffered from the same defects as the November 20, 2022
Plan. On March 23, 2022 the Simon Parties filed a Complaint in the S.D. Ohio challenging
the March 2, 2022 Plan.

On March 29, 2022 in State Court litigation the Ohio Supreme Court deferred a
ruling on the validity of the March 2, 2022 Congressional Plan. On March 30, 2022 the
Simon Parties moved to enjoin the March 2, 2022 Congressional Plan.

The current cycle of submission and rejection in the Ohio Supreme Court illustrates
an unfortunate flaw in the Ohio redistricting process. In order to preclude an action in
federal Court, the State should have an adequate state remedy available, Ohio does not.
The current redistricting fiasco is evidence of that. In addition, the Simon Parties seek relief

under the VRA based in part, on a previous federal Court order, Armour, and history of

violations of the 14" and 15" Amendments. In other words the Simon Parties seek “Bail-
In” relief under §3 of the VRA as well as relief under Sec 2.

Section 3 relief was sought initially by the Simon parties in the Court where the
previous relief was accorded, the ND Ohio

According a recent opinion in League of Women Voters v. Lee , Case No 4:21-
CV-186 ND Florida: Section 3(c) of the VRA states “Retention of jurisdiction to prevent
commencement of new devices to deny or abridge the right to vote," Section 3(c) provides
additional remedies for Plaintiffs who have successfully challenged voting restrictions
under the Fourteenth or Fifteenth Amendments. Under section 3(c), if a Court finds that a
"political subdivision" has committed intentional race discrimination in voting, it "shall
retain jurisdiction for such period as it may deem appropriate.” 52 U.S.C. § 10302(c).

Case No. 4:21-cv-186 states: Section 3(c) is “[a] hybrid of sections 2 and 5" of the

VRA. Travis Crum, The Voting Rights Act's Secret Weapon: Pocket Trigger Litigation and

12
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Dynamic Preclearance, 119 Yale. L. J. 1992, 2006 (2010). “Section 3 authorizes courts to
impose preclearance in response to violations of the Fourteenth and Fifteenth
Amendments.” Id.; see also Pub. L. No. 89-110, § 3(c), 79 Stat. 437, 437-38 (1965).
Congress designed section 3(c) "to deal with denials or abridgments of the right to vote in
so-called ‘pockets of discrimination'—that is, areas outside the States and subdivisions to
which the prohibitions of section 4(a)

are in effect.” H.R. Rep. No. 80-439, at 23 (1965). Section 3(c) was intended to supplement
sections 4 and 5 "by providing for judicial scrutiny of new or changed voting requirements,
[and] to insure against the erection of new and onerous discriminatory voting barriers by
State or political subdivisions which had been found to have discriminated." Just as courts
can “bail out” states that have stopped discriminating, they can “bail in” states who have
recently discriminated, but who were not already subject to preclearance.

Section 3(c) allows preclearance; in that way, it resembles sections 4 and 5. But
section 3(c) does not raise the same constitutional concerns raised in Shelby County.
Unlike section 4, section 3(c) does not sort jurisdictions into categories based on their long-
past history of discrimination. While "section 4's coverage ... required[] preclearance in
jurisdictions with histories of racial discrimination in voting dating back to the 1960s and
1970s," section 3(c) "requires a court to find—or a jurisdiction to admit—a constitutional
violation." Crum supra, at 2009. Put another way, rather than rely "on decades-old data
relevant to decades-old problems" section 3(c) relies on the most up-to-date data possible.
Shelby Cnty., 570 U.S. at 553.

Jeffers v. Clinton, 740 F. Supp. 585 (E.D. Ark. 1990), is the seminal case
interpreting the section. There, a three-judge district court panel imposed a preclearance

requirement on Arkansas after determining that it “ha[d] committed a number of

13
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constitutional violations of the voting rights of black citizens.” Id at 586. With a few
caveats, this Court finds the Jeffers, courts first ask "whether violations of the Fourteenth
or Fifteenth Amendments justifying equitable relief have occurred within the State.” Perez
v. Abbott, 390 F. Supp. 3d 803, 813 (W.D. Tex. 2019). On this point, Jeffers explained that
"more than one violation must be shown.” 740 F. Supp. at 600. But there are reasons to
doubt this conclusion. For one, it "runs counter to statutorily mandated rules of
construction.” Crum supra, at 2007 n.88; 1 U.S.C. 8 1 ("In determining the meaning of any
Act of Congress, unless the context indicates otherwise . . . words importing the plural
include the singular ..."). Plus, "any statute that violates the Fifteenth Amendment
necessarily violates countless citizens' Fifteenth Amendment rights.” Crum supra, at 2007
n.88. At any rate, because this Court already found that, over the past 20 years, Florida has
repeatedly targeted Black voters because of their affiliation with the Democratic party, this
Court need not resolve this issue. The first Jeffers factor is met.

Next, under Jeffers, courts ask whether "the remedy of preclearance should be
imposed." Perez, 390 F. Supp. 3d at 813. Recall that the statute says that this Court, upon
finding a Fifteenth Amendment violation, "shall retain jurisdiction for such period as it
may deem appropriate.” 52 U.S.C. § 10302(c) (emphasis added). Jeffers reasoned that the
word "shall" in section 3(c) does not strip courts of their discretion. 740 F. Supp. at 600
(stating that lilt is standard doctrine that statutes stating that courts 'shall' grant equitable
relief upon the occurrence of a certain state of affairs are not literally construed"). This
Court questions whether courts may so casually disregard an express directive from
Congress. See Kingdomware Techs., Inc. v. United States, 579 U.S. 162, 171 (2016)
("Unlike the word 'may," which implies discretion, the word 'shall' usually connotes a

requirement.”); Lexecon Inc. v. Milberg Weiss Bershad Hynes & Lerach, 523 U.S. 26, 35

14
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(1998) ("The . . . instruction comes in terms of the mandatory 'shall,” which normally
creates an obligation impervious to judicial discretion.™). Still, because this Court finds that
equity favors imposing preclearance, it need not decide whether “shall* really means shall.

Having determined that courts may exercise discretion in deciding whether to
award 3(c) relief, Jeffers set out a series of non-exhaustive factors to guide that discretion.
740 F. Supp. at 601. These factors include (1) whether “the violations [have] been persistent
and repeated,” (2) whether the violations are "recent or distant in time,” (3) whether
preclearance would prevent future violations, (4) whether the violations have "been
remedied by judicial decree or otherwise,” (5) whether the violations are likely to recur,
and (6) whether "political developments, independent of this litigation, make recurrence
more or less likely." 1d.Given the Jeffers factors Defendants had a duty to at least look at
and consider the Simon parties’ racial data.

1. LIKELIHOOD OF SUCCESS ON THE MERITS

The Simon Parties are likely to succeed on the merits of their VRA claim because
the Simon Parties satisfy the first Thornbury v. Gingles, 478 U.S. 30 106 S. Ct. 2752 (1986)
precondition, a threshold showing that the minority group is sufficiently large and
geographically compact to constitute a majority in a single member district.

Gingles arose in the context of a North Carolina challenge to a multi member
districting scheme. There was also a general election run off requirement, unlike Ohio
where in a plurality will suffice to win an election for U.S. Representatives.

The Court in Gingles stated expressly it was not deciding which standards apply to
other types of claims of establishing a bright line rule. The Court stated:

We have no occasion to consider whether 8 2 permits, and if it does,

what standards should pertain to, a claim brought by a minority group, that
is not sufficiently large and compact to constitute a majority in a single-

15
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member district, alleging that the use of a multi-member district impairs its
ability to influence elections.

We note also that we have no occasion to consider whether the
standards we apply to respondents' claims that multi-member districts
operate to dilute the vote of geographically cohesive minority groups, that
are large enough to constitute majorities in single-member districts and that
are contained within the boundaries of challenged multi-member districts,
are fully pertinent to other sorts of vote-dilution claims, such as a claim
alleging that the splitting of a large and geographically cohesive minority
between two or more multimember or single-member districts resulted in
the dilution of the minority vote.

In a different kind of case, for example a gerrymander case,
plaintiffs might allege that the minority group that is sufficiently large and
compact to constitute a single-member district has been split between two
or more multi-member or single member districts, with the effect of diluting
the potential strength of the minority vote. *1052 Id. at 46 D. 12,106 S. Ct.
at 2764 n. 12; at 50 n. 16, 1.06 S. Ct. at 276711. 16. (emphasis added).

Here the size and scope of the Simon Class has yet to be determined. However, the
Simon Parties submitted a proposed District to the Defendants on September 16, 2021,
Exhibit F, that suggests a district where Black voters would satisfy the first Gingles
precondition.

According to the 2020 Census, Ohio’s current population is 11, 779, 488. See,
2020 Census, P.L. 94-171. An Ohio Congressional district will have a representative ratio
of 1:787,527 citizens. The Simon Parties proposed a district, as indicated at Exhibit F, that
instead of separating the Black community in Warren, Ohio, from the Black community in
Youngstown, Ohio, two communities that have historically belonged to the same media
market and standard metropolitan statistical area, due to the linkage of their histories and
economics, or submerging these communities into areas south of Mahoning County, the

county where Youngstown is located, the district should extend west or northwest to

include additional voters with similar interests. In this manner extremely polarized racial

16
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voting will be avoided . A Black has never been elected to county wide office in Mahoning
or Trumbull County

Under the districts proposed by the Simon Parties the total voting aged white
population is 333,776. The total voting aged Black population is 284,338. When this total
voting block is further divided by political party, which would be required in a Gingles
threshold condition analysis, the Simon Parties class would be sufficiently large a
geographically compact to prevail in a singe member election. The data in Exhibit F was
complied by Dr. Mark J. Sallings, Maxine Goodman Levin College of Urban Affairs,
Cleveland State University.

The Simon Parties do not merely seek relief under 82 of the VRA. Relief is also
requested under §3, due to the history in northeast Ohio as a “pocket of discrimination.”
In Youngstown alone, violations of the 15" Amendment in districting was found in Armour
aside from Armour, violations of the Fourteenth Amendment due to racial discrimination
were found in the police department. Williams v. Vokovich, 720 F.2d 909 (6" Cir. 1983)
and in public schools Alexander v. Board of Education, 675 F.2d 787 (6™ Cir. 1982). This
is pointed out to say, even if Simon can not satisfy the requirements for relief under 82 of
the VRA, the history of violation under the 14" and 15" Amendments would still entitle
Simon to relief under 83 of the VRA. Most importantly , Defendants had a duty under the
VRA once the Simon Parties brought this history to Defendants attention to at least
consider it as requested on August 23, 2021 on the first day of Ohio Redistricting
Commission hearings to “consider it.” Instead Defendants established a statewide policy
of giving no consideration whatsoever to racial demographics, notwithstanding the

requirements of the VRA and Armour being brought to their attention.

17
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In order to avoid the need to resurrect the shameful history of treatment of
descendants of persons formerly held in bondage in the United States, slaves, the VRA
focused on whether a challenged voting mechanism results in the processes leading to
nomination and election not being equally open to minority voters. Defendants’ policy of
zero consideration of racial demographics frustrates any means to measure whether the
location of a district boundary results in dilution of Black voting strength. The need to
consider racial demographics in order to determine if the location of boundaries results in
vote dilution was confirmed on March 29, 2022 hearing in Gonadakis on March 28, 2022
by Chris Glassburn, President of Project Govern in redistricting . Glassburn
testified as follows concerning “results’:

Q. So given that you did have available to you, if you had elected to use it -
- if the Commission had elected to use it, the ability to analyze the voting
behavior of homogeneous precincts racially, the exclusion of that
information, then, would prevent you from determining whether the lines
that were drawn in these districts resulted in vote dilution or not. It took that
ability away from you, didn't it?

A. Without the census racial data, no, we could not look at racial data.
However, we also did not have any Gingles test which is a -- which is the
analyzation of racially polarized voting. We did not have any documents
that suggest there was racially polarized voting that followed that Gingles
criteria for any part the state.

Q. Wouldn't it be part of the analysis of the mapmakers to look at, if the
racial data was available, whether or not the lines they were recommending
resulted in the processes leading to nomination or election not being equally
open to black voters?

A. No.

Q. How could you contend -- how could you, then, determine what the
results would be of a particular configuration on black voters if you did not
include that in the process of determining where these district lines would
be?

A. There was no racial analysis done.

Q. So you couldn't determine the results. Would you agree with me?
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A. Yes.

Q. And your failure to include those results was the result of express
directions given to you by the redistricting commission. Would you agree
with that statement?

A. Yes. In this round and all others.

See, Exhibit G. Transcript of Glassburn Testimony.

According to the 2020 Census 13.1% of Ohio’s population is Black, 1,521,462
persons. The VRA extends protection to this group not only from the effects of historical
de jure racial discrimination but also de facto. Defendants blanket refusal to even consider
the history provided to them by the Simon Parties, not only injured the Simon Parties, it
may have resulted in the dilution of the voting strength of Blacks in other Ohio locales
where on intensely local appraisal of indigenous political reality and searching evaluation
of past and present conditions was totally ignored by Defendants.

For these reasons, the Simon Parties have requested relief not only under the VRA,
but also §3 of the 14" Amendment, which basically says if a State fails to accord complete
rights of suffrage to former slaves, then those former slaves do not count toward the number
of elected officials that the State is entitled to have as representatives in Congress.

In this case of Ohio, an express directive, Rule 9 on the Defendants guidance to the
mapmakers and instruction to map drawers, was given by the most senior legislative
officials to violate the VRA by not considering any racial demographics. This de jure
discriminatory policy harmed 13% of Ohio’s population, not just the Simon Parties. If
Defendant’s continue with this intentional disregard of §§2 and 3 of the VRA, Ohio should
have its Congressional denominator reduced by 13% of the State’s population , the extent

to which it failed to comply with §3 of the 14" Amendment.
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Defendants contend that the Simon Parties are not merely asserting an influence
claim. Influence claims are not barred in the Sixth Circuit by reason of the decision in
Growe v. Emison, 507 U.S. 25 (1993) and Cousins v. Sunquist, 145 F.3d 818 (6™ Cir. 1998).
Defendants argument is incorrect. Growe stated explicitly “to establish a vote-dilution
claim with respect to a multimember district plan, a plaintiff must establish three threshold
conditions.” This case does not deal with a multimember districting plan. Growe was
factually similar to Gingles, both involved multimember plans. Defendants also content
that an influence claim is barred by Cousins v. Sundquist, 145 F. 3d 818 (6" Cir. 1998).
Although there is dicta in Cousin concerning an influence claim, the decision did not turn
the size of the minority voting group Plaintiffs, the decision rested on inability to meet the
third Gingles precondition, proof of racial block voting. The claim of the Simon Parties is
because of the duties imposed under 882 and 3 of the VRA and the findings in Armour ,
the Defendants’ should have considered racial demographics when drafting the 6"
Congressional District.

Defendants still have a chance to reconsider the 6" District lines as litigation is
ongoing in the State system concerning the March 2, 2022 map.

It bears mentioning that Defendants suggest that the Simon Parties should have
joined the litigation in State court. The Simon Parties seek to vindicate and rely upon the
findings in Armour as a component for their claim to 83 relief. While the Simon Parties
wholly support the 2015 Amendments to the Ohio Constitution concerning redistricting,
these amendments do not provide an adequate remedy due to the endless cycle of rejection
and resubmission that may, and unfortunately, is occurring.

The Simon Parties became involved in this process from its outset. They are now

faced with having to vote for Congressional representative in a racially discriminatory
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district. Given the Defendants’ malfeasance in the creation of this predicament, holding
final certification of the May 3 primary in abeyance pending the outcome of litigation
concerning the March 2, 2022 map is a small measure of justice to the Simon Parties who
to date have had their concerns relegated to back-of-the-bus status.

Growe does not require a different result Growe counseled deference to State
proceedings, where the state proceedings were an adequate remedy. Ohio’s State
procedure, as evidenced by the current predicament is not.

Defendants also raise Purcell v. Gonzalez, 549 U.S. 1 (2006). Purcell, stated “court
orders affecting elections especially conflicting orders, can themselves result in voter
confusion and consequential incentive to remain away from the policy. Id at 4.

Early voting has already started in Ohio. Affording the Simon Parties a remedy on
the back end is not going to effect the May 3 primary. Voters are already confused and
turn out is already low. These circumstances are due to Defendants’ conduct. The Simon
Parties do not seek to enjoin or disrupt an election; they request that unless the election is
determined to be fair, the results should not be certified.

1. IRREPARABLE HARM

Plaintiffs have suffered and continue to suffer irreparable injuries. "Courts routinely
deem restrictions on fundamental voting rights irreparable injury” because "once the
election occurs, there can be no do-over and no redress.” League of Women Voters of N.C.
v North Carolina, 769 F.3d 224, 247 (4th Cir. 2014). “The proper remedy for a legal
provision enacted with discriminatory intent Croson v. City of Richmond, 422 U.S.

In the absence of the requested injunction, Plaintiffs will suffer irreparable harm.

"An injury is irreparable 'if it cannot be undone through monetary remedies."" Scott, 612
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F.3d at 1295 (quoting Cunningham v. Adams, 808 F.2d 815, 821 (11" Cir. 1987)).
Recognizing this well-settled principle of law, courts considering motions for preliminary
injunctions have repeatedly found that state actions infringing on the right to vote constitute
irreparable injury. See, e.g., Williams v Rhodes, 393 U.S. 23,30 (1968).

The purpose of a preliminary injunction is "to prevent irreparable injury so as to
preserve the court's ability to render a meaningful decision on the merits.” United States v.
Alabama, 791 F.2d 1450, 1459 (11th Cir. 1986) (affirming preliminary injunction). An
injury is considered to be irreparable "if it cannot be undone through monetary remedies."
Scott v. Roberts, 612 F.3d 1279, 1295 (11" Cir. 2010); Cunningham v. Adams 808 F.2d
815, 821 (11th Cir. 1987); see also Charles I1. Wesley Educ. Found., Inc. v. Cox, 32*, Supp.
2d 1358, 1368 (N.D. Ga. 2004) (Cox I), aff'd, 408 F.3d 1349 (11" Cir. 2005) (Cox II) ("no
monetary award can remedy the fact that [plaintiff] will not be permitted to vote in the
precinct of her new residence."); see also United States v. Georgia, 892 F. Supp. 2d 1367,
1377 (N.D. Ga. 2012) (entering a preliminary injunction where "the potential deprivation
of the ability to vote, the most basic of American citizens' rights, outweigh[ed] the cost and
inconvenience" that the state might suffer, which were comparatively minor).

“Once a state legislative apportionment scheme has been found unconstitutional ,
it would be the unusual case in which a court would be justified in not taking appropriate
action to insure that no further elections are conducted under the invalid plan. Reynolds v.
Sims, 377 U.S. 533 (1964).

Some form of relief is due to the Simon Parties because the State has intentionally
trampled on their fundamental voting rights or irreparable harm as a matter of law.

IV. HARMTO OTHERS AND PUBLIC INTEREST

22



Case: 4:22-cv-00612-JRA Doc #: 4 Filed: 04/15/22 23 of 33. PagelD #: 510

Enjoining the certification of the results of an unlawful election will not cause harm
to others. The Simon Parties do not seek to enjoin the election, despite having been denied
access to the Courts under the guise of Growe.

Federal courts generally have a "™virtually unflagging™ obligation to hear and
decide cases within their jurisdiction. Sprint, 571 U.S. at 77 (quoting Colo. River Water
Conserv. Dist. v. United States, 424 U.S. 800, 817 (1976)). Federal courts "have 'no more
right to decline the exercise of jurisdiction which is given, than to usurp that which is not
given." Id. (quoting Cohens v. Virginia, 6 Wheat. 264, 404 1821)). "Parallel state-court
proceedings do not detract from that obligation™; instead, contemporaneous federal and
state litigation over the same subject matter is the norm. Id. The availability of the federal
courts to adjudicate federal claims is essential to protecting federal rights especially, as

relevant here, the right to vote free of intentional racial discrimination.

V. PUBLIC INTEREST

The public interest is served by enjoining certification for the reason amid the chaos
created by the ongoing cycle of map rejection, voters in the Simon class will know that the
irreparable harm caused an election under the current unconstitutional 6™ District map may
not be valid. An injunction presents a remedy for the Simon Parties.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the above reasons the Simon Parties respectfully request the motion be granted.

E. SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN SECTION 2 LITIGATION

Summary judgment is warranted where "the movant shows that there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law."

Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a); accord Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 247 (1986).
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In deciding whether there is a genuine issue of material fact, the court must draw all
justifiable inferences in the nonmoving party's favor and accept the nonmoving party's
evidence as true. Anderson, 477 U.S. at 255. To determine which facts are "material,” a

court must look to the substantive law on which the claim rests. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett,

477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986). A "genuine issue” is one whose resolution could affect the
outcome of the action. Id. In the absence of a genuine issue of material fact, the court may
enter judgment against the movant if the non-movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of

law. See, e.g., Employers Ins. of Wausau v. Petroleum Specialties, Inc., 69 F.3d 98, 104

(6th Cir. 1995); Markva v. Haveman, 168 F. Supp. 2d 695, 706-07 (E.D. Mich. 2001).
In Section 2 cases, summary judgment usually "presents particular challenges due
to the fact-driven nature of the legal tests required by the Supreme Court." Ga. State

Conference of NAACP v. Fayette Cty. Bd. of Comm'rs, 775 F.3d 1336, 1348 (11th Cir.

2015). Because district courts must conduct "a searching practical evaluation of the past
and present reality" in a jurisdiction, Gingles, 478 U.S. at 79, and a "comprehensive, not
limited, canvassing of relevant facts," De Grandy, 512 U.S. at 1011, summary adjudication

is rarely possible, see, e.g., Metts v. Murphy, 363 F.3d 8, 12 (1st Cir. 2004). Particularly

when resolution turns on "disputed issues presented by the experts’ analysis,” full

development of the record is often necessary. Mallory v. Eyrich, 707 F. Supp. 947, 054

(S.D. Ohio 1989). Unlike the usual 82 case here Defendants openly concede that they
ignored the totality of circumstances. Accordingly, a VRA violation should glow
automatically from that failure.

Defendants actions, the total failure to even consider race, renders both the 2021
Senate and U.S. Congressional Plan invalid which warrants the issuance of a preliminary

injunction. Support for this assertion is below.
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Defendants began the Redistricting process with an express declaration from lead
map drawer Mr. Ray DiRossi, that Ohio’s legislative leadership instructed map drawers to
not consider race. This unlawful policy has been followed by Defendants throughout the
map drawing process and infects the Third Plan. See, Exhibit E, DiRossi, Deposition, pp.
789-790.

As recently as March 23, 2022, the Defendant Ohio Redistricting Commission
reiterated its intention to craft new legislative districts without considering race and issued
unlawful instructions to newly engaged experts to that effect. See, Item 9, Exhibit F, Rules
issued to map drawers for 4™ Round. Ironically, Defendants contend that federal law
prohibits consideration of race. See, Exhibit F, Testimony of Mr. Huffman starting at
01:19:25.” Federal law prohibits considerations of race ...” Also see Testimony of Speaker
Cupp, Exhibit C, 01:19:25. “No information like that has been submitted to the
Commission.” Contrary to these statements the Simon Parties submitted “information like
that” to the Commission on multiple occasions, including on its initial day of hearings on
August 23, 2021. Exhibit D. Simon Parties initial input.

The Fourth Plan is defective and should not been maintained or otherwise utilized
because it dilutes the voting power of the Simon Parties in violation of federal law.

E. TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER

The Supreme Court has "long held that federal courts may in some circumstances
grant injunctive relief against” state and federal officials "who are violating, or planning to

violate, federal law." Armstrong v. Exceptional Child Ctr., Inc., 575 U.S. 320, 326-27

(2015) (citing Osborn v. Bank of United States, 9 Wheat. 738, 838-39 (1824); Ex parte

Young, 209 U.S. 123, 150-51 (1908); Am. Sch. of Magnetic Healing v. McAnnulty, 187

U.S. 94, 110 (1902)). This power to enjoin unlawful "actions by state and federal officers
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is the creation of courts of equity, and reflects a long history of judicial review of illegal
executive action, tracing back to England.” 1d. At 327. While Congress may prohibit courts
from awarding such equitable relief, id. at 327-28, Congress need not confer the power to
award such relief in order for courts to exercise that power: the power is an inherent aspect

of the courts' equitable authority, see, e.g., Am. School of Magnetic Healing, 187 U.S. at

110; see also Barry v. Lyon, No. 13-cv-13185, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 174347, at *5 (E.D.
Mich. June 5, 2015); In re Trump, 928 F.3d 360, 373 (4th Cir. 2019); Int'l Refugee

Assistance Project v. Trump, 883 F.3d 233, 287 (4th Cir. 2018) (en banc) (Gregory, J.,

concurring); Sierra Club v. Trump, 929 F.3d 670, 694 (9th Cir. 2019); CNSP, Inc. v. City
of Santa Fe, 755 F. App'x 845, 849 (10th Cir. 2019).

Courts must balance "four factors ... when considering a motion for a temporary
restraining order: (1) whether the movant has a strong likelihood of success on the merits;
(2) whether the movant would suffer irreparable injury without the injunction; (3) whether
issuance of the injunction would cause substantial harm to others; and (4) whether the

public interest would be served by issuance of the injunction.” City of Pontiac Retired

Emples. Ass'n v. Schimmel, 751 F.3d 427, 430 (6th Cir. 2014) (internal quotation marks

omitted). The standard for a permanent injunction is identical, except that the movant must
show "actual success on the merits" instead of a likelihood of success on the merits. Amoco

Prod. Co. v. Vill. of Gambell, 480 U.S. 531, 546 n.12 (1987). A permanent injunction is in

place here via Armour. Defendants totally ignored Armour.

The purpose of a temporary restraining order is "to prevent irreparable injury so as
to preserve the court's ability to render a meaningful decision on the merits." United States
v. Alabama, 791 F.2d 1450, 1459 (11th Cir. 1986) (affirming preliminary injunction). An

injury is considered to be irreparable "if it cannot be undone through monetary remedies."
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Scott v. Roberts, 612 F.3d 1279, 1295 (11th Cir. 2010); Cunningham v. Adams, 808 F.2d

815, 821 (11th Cir. 1987); see also Charles H. Wesley Educ. Found., Inc. v. Cox, 32*,
Supp. 2d 1358, 1368 (N.D. Ga. 2004) (Cox I), aff'd, 408 F.3d 1349 (11" Cir. 2005) (Cox
I1) ("no monetary award can remedy the fact that [plaintiff] will not be permitted to vote in

the precinct of her new residence."); see also United States v. Georgia, 892 F. Supp. 2d

1367, 1377 (N.D. Ga. 2012) (entering a preliminary injunction where "the potential
deprivation of the ability to vote, the most basic of American citizens' rights, outweigh[ed]
the cost and inconvenience" that the state might suffer, which were comparatively minor).

As explained below, injunctive relief is warranted, because all four elements
strongly weigh in Plaintiffs' favor. Plaintiffs are likely to succeed on the merits. They will
suffer irreparable harm if the 2022 elections are conducted using constitutionally infirm
districts. The balance of hardships weighs in favor of Plaintiffs as well: Ohioan’s
fundamental right to vote would be infringed absent an injunction, outweighing any burden
that Defendant might experience in complying with the requested injunction. The requested
injunction would serve the public interest because protecting the right to vote is
unquestionably in the public interest.

1. PLAINTIFFS ARE LIKELY TO PREVAIL ON THE MERITS OF THEIR
VRA CLAIM

A claim of racial gerrymandering usually requires "a two-step analysis." Cooper v.
Harris, 137 S. Ct. 1455, 1463 (2017). "First, the plaintiff must prove that 'race was the
predominant factor motivating the legislature's decision to place a significant number of

voters within -or without a particular district."" 1d. (quoting Miller v. Johnson, 515 U.S.

900, 916 (1995)). "Second, if racial considerations predominated over others, the design of

the district must withstand strict scrutiny. The burden thus shifts to the State to prove that
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its-race-based sorting of voters serves a ‘compelling interest' and is 'narrowly tailored' to
that end.” 1d. at 1464. A compelling interest may require racially gerrymandered Districts
in order to comply with the Voting Rights Act. Here, whether the race required a given
district structure was totally ignored. This act itself harmed Plaintiffs in light of the locales

history, as documented in the Armour Opinion and in the subsequent history of Mahoning

County that Defendants totally disregard.

2. IRREPARABLE INJURY

In the absence of the requested injunction, Plaintiffs will suffer irreparable harm.
"An injury is irreparable 'if it cannot be undone through monetary remedies." Scott, 612

F.3d at 1295 (quoting Cunningham v. Adams, 808 F.2d 815, 821 (11" Cir. 1987)).

Recognizing this well-settled principle of law, courts considering motions for preliminary
injunctions have repeatedly found that state actions infringing on the right to vote constitute

irreparable injury. See, e.g., Williams v Rhodes, 393 U.S. 23, 30 (1968).

3. THE BALANCE OF THE EQUITIES WEIGHTS IN FAVOR OF
PLAINTIFFS

The irreparable injury that Plaintiffs will suffer absent an injunction outweighs any
harm Defendant will suffer if the requested injunction is granted. Plaintiffs will suffer
irreparable injury to their fundamental right to vote absent an injunction. See Williams v.
Rhodes, 393 U.S. 23, 30 (1968) ("the right of qualified voters ... to cast their votes
effectively ... rank[s] among our most precious freedoms."); see also Scott, 612 F.3d at
1295 (citation omitted). By contrast, any potential harm Defendant would face under the
requested injunction would be substantially less, particularly in light of the schedule this

Court has set to avoid any interference with relevant pre-election deadlines.
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"If the currently existing status quo itself is causing one of the parties irreparable
injury, it is necessary alter the situation so as to prevent the injury, either by returning to
the last uncontested status quo between the parties, by the issuance of a mandatory
injunction, or by allowing the parties to take proposed action that the court finds will

minimize the irreparable injury.” Fayette County, 118 F. Supp. 3d at 1349 (quoting Canal

Auth. of Fla. v. Callaway, 489 F.2d 567, 576 (5th Cir. 1974)). Indeed, "once a State's

legislative apportionment scheme has been found to be unconstitutional, it would be the
unusual case in which a court would be justified in not taking appropriate action to insure
[sic] that no further elections are conducted under the invalid plan.” Reynolds, 377 U.S. at
585.

4. PUBLIC INTEREST

The Supreme Court has long recognized that "[t]he right to vote freely for the
candidate of one's choice is of essence of a democratic society and any restrictions on that
right strike at the heart of representative government.” Reynolds, 377 U.S. at 555; see

Williams v. Rhodes, 393 U.S. 23, 30 (1968) ("[T]he right of qualified voters...to cast their

votes effectively ... rank[s] among our most precious freedoms."); Yick Wo v. Hopkins,

118 U.S. 356, 370 (1886) (the right to vote is "preservative of all rights™). In recognition
of this fundamental principle, courts have repeatedly held that an infringement on the right
to vote constitutes irreparable injury. See, e.g., Dillard, 640 F. Supp. at 1363; Harris v.
Graddick, 593 F. Supp. 128, 135 (M.D. Ala. 1984).

The requested injunction would not be adverse to public interest. Plaintiffs and the
citizens of Alabama have a fundamental right to “to cast their votes effectively.” Williams
v. Rhodes, 393 U.S. 23, 30 (1968) Additionally, "the protection of ‘franchise-related rights

is without question in the public interest,’ and in such a situation, public interest is "best
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served by ensuring ...that all citizens ... have an equal opportunity to elect the

representatives of their choice.” Fayette County, 118 F. Supp. 3d at 1349 (quoting x 11, 408

F.3d at 1355). Plaintiffs' requested injunction would protect their franchise-related rights
by allowing them to participate in elections using conditionally drawn districts and ensure
that citizens of have an equal opportunity to elect the representatives of their choice; thus,
the requested injunction would be in the public interest. On the contrary, allowing the 2022
election cycle to proceed with the racially gerrymandered map does not further any public
interest.

It is unfortunate that Defendants chose to ignore the VRA and make it necessary to
revive evidence of past racial injustices in order to demonstrate why all Senate Report
factors should have been considered by Defendants when drawing district lines.

Defendants decision to not consider the racial history of Blacks and voting in
Mahoning County requires resort to the type analysis the VRA was designed to avoid.

As stated in Gingles:

The Senate Report states that one reason the Senate Committee abandoned
the intent test was that

"the Committee . . . heard persuasive testimony that the intent test is
unnecessarily divisive because it involves charges of racism on the part of
individual officials or entire communities."”

S.Rep. at 36. The Committee found the testimony of Dr. Arthur S.
Flemming, Chairman of the United States Commission on Civil Rights,
particularly persuasive. He testified:

"[Under an intent test,] Mitigators representing excluded minorities will
have to explore the motivations of individual council members, mayors, and
other citizens. The question would be whether their decisions were
motivated by invidious racial considerations. Such inquiries can only be
divisive, threatening to destroy any existing racial progress in a community.
It is the intent test, not the results test, that would make it necessary to brand
individuals as racist in order to obtain judicial relief."
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Ibid. (footnote omitted). The grave threat to racial progress and harmony
which Congress perceived from requiring proof that racism caused the
adoption or maintenance of a challenged electoral mechanism is present to
a much greater degree in the proposed requirement that plaintiffs
demonstrate that racial animosity determined white voting patterns. Under
the old intent test, plaintiffs might succeed by proving only that a limited
number of elected officials were racist; under the new intent test, plaintiffs
would be required to prove that most of the white community is racist in
order to obtain judicial relief. It is difficult to imagine a more racially
divisive requirement.

A second reason Congress rejected the old intent test was that, in most cases,
it placed an "inordinately difficult burden" on 8 2 plaintiffs. Ibid. The new
intent test would be equally, if not more, burdensome. In order to prove that
a specific factor -- racial hostility -- determined white voters' ballots, it
would be necessary to demonstrate that other potentially relevant causal
factors, such as socioeconomic characteristics and candidate expenditures,
do not correlate better than racial animosity with white voting behavior. As
one commentator has explained:

"Many of the[se] independent variables . . . would be all but impossible for
a social scientist to operationalize as interval-level independent variables
for use in a multiple regression equation, whether on a step-wise basis or
not. To conduct such an extensive statistical analysis as this implies,
moreover, can become prohibitively expensive."

"Compared to this sort of effort, proving discriminatory intent in the
adoption of an at-large election system is both simple and inexpensive."

Dilution Lawsuits, 28 How.L.J. 463, 492 (1985) (footnote omitted).

The final and most dispositive reason the Senate Report repudiated the old
intent test was that it "asks the wrong question." S.Rep. at 36. Amended § 2
asks instead "whether minorities have equal access to the process of electing
their representatives.” Ibid.

Focusing on the discriminatory intent of the voters, rather than the behavior
of the voters, also asks the wrong question. All that matters under 8 2 and
under a functional theory of vote dilution is voter behavior, not its
explanations. Moreover, as we have explained in detail, supra, requiring
proof that racial considerations actually caused voter behavior will result --
contrary to congressional intent -- in situations where a black minority that
functionally has been totally excluded from the political process will be
unable to establish a § 2 violation. The Senate Report's remark concerning
the old intent test thus is pertinent to the new test: the requirement that a
"court . . . make a separate . . . finding of intent, after accepting the proof of
the factors involved in the White [v. Regester, 412 U. S. 755] analysis . . .
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[would] seriously clou[d] the prospects of eradicating the remaining
instances of racial discrimination in American elections.”

G. SPECIAL MASTER

The Simon Parties move under Fed. R. Civ. P. 53 for the appointment of a Special
Master to complete the task of redistricting in a manner consistent with the Orders of the
Ohio Supreme Court, the Ohio Constitution and the VRA, measures that Defendants have
elected to intentionally ignore. The state is not entitled to multiple opportunities to remedy

its unconstitutional districts. See, Reynolds v. Sims, 377 U.S. 533, 585-87 (1964)

(affirming remedial districting map drawn by a district court after district court found state
legislature’s first proposed remedial map failed to remedy constitutional violation).
Additionally, the fast approaching election deadlines necessitates an expedited schedule.
In light of the need for an expedited schedule, the multiple opportunities for Defendants to
approve lawful plans, and the fact experts have been engaged by Defendants to draft lawful
plans, this Court should assume control of the process recently established by the State by
appointing the experts the State has engaged and paid as Special Masters. The Sixth Circuit
has also made two mediators available. It is comparable to the approach followed in

similar cases. See Order, Personhuballah v. Alcorn, No. 3:13-cv-678, Doc. No. 241 (E.D.

Va. Sept. 25, 2015) (appointing special master approximately three weeks after first
notifying parties of its intent to appoint to appoint special master); see also Order,

Personhuballah v. Alcorn, No. 3:13-cv-678, Doc. No. 207 (E.D. Va. Sept. 3, 2015)

(notifying parties of intent to appoint special master). In view of upcoming elections and
upon consideration of the technical nature of determining an appropriate remedy when
district lines are at issue, exceptional circumstances exist for appointment of a Special

Master pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 53. The Special Master should assist
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the Court in further evaluating and redrawing the Subject Districts by developing an
appropriate plan remedying the constitutional violations that render the present Districts
legally unacceptable.

H. CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, partial summary judgment should be entered in favor of
Plaintiffs and a temporary restraining order issued and a special master appointed.

A proposed order and Exhibits are attached.

[s/ Percy Squire

Percy Squire (0022010)
Percy Squire Co., LLC

341 S. Third Street, Suite 10
Columbus, Ohio 43215
(614) 224-6528, Telephone
(614) 224-6529, Facsimile
psquire@sp-lawfirm.com
Attorney for Plaintiffs

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
The undersigned hereby certifies that a copy of the foregoing was served by
operation of the United States District Court, Northern District of Ohio electronic filing
system, on April 13, 2022.

/sl Percy Squire
Attorney for Plaintiffs (0022010)

33


mailto:psquire@sp-lawfirm.com

‘ i 9
g . =) o QU
2 l H ron -
cl
‘1 : 13
- ' ‘. . 1
] |“ ) : 9 ‘: 7
P ,%J,i s\“. 4n -
3 h =\
: Ch
1 -
[ g =
W Hoklnes
T : S
: =
- i =
| o o
2 : h )
2 S -
: : [ f
i o . =
3 " | Musking i
7115 12
T
10 > : SLT
v - I‘-.
- ; a o i
2= i ) ikav ]
: 5 g
> Holckihg -
~
'U‘ g > v 0( L §
‘ v Vinto s
ie a
s - "
i :
Q
n
2 »
r > : :
g y Ili
iato | ©

11

EXHIBIT
A

©2021 CAL



carolyn
Exhibit


Case: 2: 22ase00 7223 AL00NRTIRAB Muc#: 4-21 3| ede DHIFAR2 21 RAG:. 1R DPAGEDD #: 3196

EXHIBIT

ARMOUR v. OHIO B
775 F. Supp. 1044 (1991) | Cited 0 times | N.D. Ohio | September 4, 1991

OPINION AND ORDER
JOHN W. PECK, SENIOR CIRCUIT JUDGE

This three-judge district court was convened pursuant to the en banc decision of the United States
Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit, 925 F.2d 987 (6th Cir. 1991), in order to hear this challenge to
the constitutionality of the apportionment of the Ohio House of Representatives. Plaintiffs allege
that the boundary between House Districts 52 and 53 in Mahoning County deliberately and
effectively dilutes the minority vote, and therefore violates the Fifteenth Amendment and the Voting
Rights Act of 1965. For the reasons that follow, we find that the boundary violates both the plaintiffs’
constitutional and statutory rights and order appropriate relief.

I. BACKGROUND
A. Prior Proceedings

This case was filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio in May of
1988. The plaintiffs sought a temporary restraining order preventing the results of the May, 1988
primary election for districts 52 and 53 from being certified and a preliminary injunction prohibiting
further elections in those districts until they were brought into compliance with federal law. The
district court denied the temporary restraining order, ordered the injunction hearing consolidated
with the trial on the merits, and referred both to a magistrate. The magistrate recommended that
relief be denied because the plaintiffs could not constitute a majority in a reconfigured district, and
the district court adopted the recommendation. On appeal, a panel of the United States Court of
Appeals for the Sixth Circuit reversed, holding that the district court should have examined the
totality of the circumstances to consider whether the political process in the contested districts is
equally open to minority voters. However, the Sixth Circuit voted en banc to vacate the panel
opinion, and after additional arguments the court held that the subject matter was exclusively within
the jurisdiction of a three-judge district court under 28 U.S.C. § 2284. The Chief Judge of the Sixth
Circuit then convened the instant court.

B. Facts

The Ohio General Assembly is composed of two bodies, a 33-member senate, and a 99-member house
of representatives. The method of apportioning the districts of the assembly is established by the
Ohio Constitution. The current provision was enacted in 1967, after the previous plan was held
unconstitutional. See Nolan v. Rhodes, 378 U.S. 556 , 12 L. Ed. 2d 1034 , 84 S. Ct. 1906 (1964).

The House of Representatives is composed exclusively of single-member districts of substantially

equal size. No district may have a population more than five per cent greater or less than the state's
population divided by 99, except that this tolerance is increased to ten per cent if it will allow the
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creation of a house district consisting of a single county. Ohio Const. Art. X1, § 3,8 9. When possible,
house districts must be drawn to contain one or more whole counties. Id. at § 7(A). However, when
this is not possible, a district is formed by combining the areas of counties, townships,
municipalities, and city wards, giving preference in the order named. Id. at § 7(B). If governmental
units must be divided to create districts of substantially equal size, "only one such unit may be
divided between two districts, giving preference in the selection of a unit for division to a township, a
city ward, a city, and a village in the order named." Id. at § 7(C).

Mahoning County lies in northeastern Ohio along the Pennsylvania border, about sixty miles
southeast of Cleveland. Much of the county is rural. However, the northeastern quadrant of the
county is dominated by the City of Youngstown. Youngstown is roughly rectangular in shape, about
half again as wide as it is tall, except that the southeast corner of the rectangle, approximately
one-ninth of the total, falls outside the corporate limits. That area is occupied by Campbell City
(formerly known as East Youngstown), Struthers, and Coitsville Township. The Mahoning River
bisects the city, entering Youngstown in the northwest corner and winding its way southeast to
Campbell City before it wanders into Pennsylvania.

In 1981, the population of Mahoning County was 289,487. The ideal house district population was
109,065, and therefore the maximum population for a house district that was not a single county was
114,518. Consequently, Mahoning County was required to contain two whole house districts and
share one house district with a neighboring county. Additionally, the City of Youngstown, which had
a population of 115,427, had to be divided among two districts. The populations and racial balances
of the districts established by the 1981 Apportionment Board are set forth below: DISTRICT 52 Total
Black % City of Youngstown Ward 2 16,597 10,341 (62.3%) Ward 7 17,485 182 (1.04%)Campbell City
11,619 1,173 (10.1%)Boardman Twp. (Part) 10,881 52 (0.48%)Other cities and townships 54,793 578
(1.05%) Total 110,975 12,326 (11.11%) DISTRICT 53 Total Black %Black City of Youngstown Ward 1
16,667 9,791 (58.74%) Ward 3 16,761 7,528 (44.91%) Ward 4 16,168 339 ( 2.1%) Ward 5 16,430 4,985
(30.3%) Ward 6 15,719 5,312 (33.79%)Boardman Twp. (Part) 30,952 173 (0.56%) Total 112,697 28,128
(24.96%)

The plaintiffs, black voting age residents of Districts 52 and 53, assert that the apportionment
between these districts unlawfully dilutes the black vote. They assert that the boundary between the
two districts divides the black population at its point of greatest concentration in a ratio of 35:65.
Plaintiffs seek a reapportionment plan which would allocate ninety-nine per cent of Mahoning
County's black residents to District 53. They would do this by allocating Youngstown Ward 2 and
Campbell City, currently assigned to District 52, to District 53. In exchange, they would assign all of
Boardman Township to District 52. Maps showing the configurations of both the current and
proposed districts may be found in Appendix I.

IT. DISCUSSION
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Plaintiffs allege that the boundary at issue violates both the Fifteenth Amendment and the Voting
Rights Act of 1965. The Fifteenth Amendment claim must be heard by a three-judge district court
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2284(a). Armour v. Ohio, 925 F.2d 987 (6th Cir. 1991). However, once
convened, "the jurisdiction of the District Court so constituted . . . extends to every question
involved, whether of state or federal law, and enables the court to rest its judgment on the decisions
of such of the questions as in its opinion effectively dispose of the case." Sterling v. Constantin, 287
U.S. 378, 393-94, 77 L. Ed. 375, 53 S. Ct. 190 (1932); U.S. v. Georgia Public Service Commission, 371
U.S. 285, 287-88,9 L. Ed. 2d 317, 83 S. Ct. 397 (1963) ("Once convened the case can be disposed of
below or here on any ground, whether or not it would have justified the calling of a three-judge
court.”) Therefore, consistent with the judicial preference for resolving cases without reference to
questions arising under the Federal Constitution whenever possible, Hagans v. Lavine, 415 U.S. 528,
546-47,39 L. Ed. 2d 577,94 S. Ct. 1372 (1974), we will first address the statutory claim.

A

Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act of 1965 was originally viewed as coextensive with the prohibition
against discrimination contained in the text of the Fifteenth Amendment. However, after the United
States Supreme Court ruled in City of Mobile, Alabama v. Bolden, 446 U.S. 55, 60-61, 64 L. Ed. 2d 47 ,
100 S. Ct. 1490 (1980), that a plaintiff must show discriminatory intent to prevail on a Fifteenth
Amendment claim, Congress amended Section 2 "to make clear that plaintiffs need not prove a
discriminatory purpose in order to establish a violation." S. Rep. No. 97-417, p.27, quoted in Chisom
v. Roemer, 115 L. Ed. 2d 348, 59 U.S.L.W. 4696, 4699, 111 S. Ct. 2354 (1991).

Section 2 as amended reads as follows:

Denial or abridgment of right to vote on account of race or color through voting qualifications or
prerequisites; establishment off violation

(a) No voting qualification or prerequisite to voting or standard, practice, or procedure shall be
imposed or applied by any State or political subdivision in a manner which results in a denial or
abridgement of the right of any citizen of the United States to vote on account of race or color, or in
contravention of the guarantees set forth in section 4(f)(2) [ 42 U.S.C. § 1973(f)(2)], as provided in
subsection (b).

(b) A violation of subsection (a) is established if, based on the totality of the circumstances, it is
shown that the political processes leading to nomination or election in the State or political
subdivision are not equally open to participation by members of a class of citizens protected by
subsection (a) in that its members have less opportunity than other members of the electorate to
participate in the political processes and to elect representatives of their choice. The extent to which
members of a protected class have been elected to office in the State or political subdivision is one
circumstance which may be considered: Provided, That nothing in this section establishes a right to
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have members of a protected class elected in numbers equal to their proportion in the population.

§42 U.S.C. § 1973.
In amending Section 2, Congress intended to provide two separate claims for relief:

Plaintiffs must either prove such intent, or alternatively, must show that the challenged system or
practice, in the context of all the circumstances in the jurisdiction in question, results in minorities
being denied equal access to the political process.

S. Rep. No. 97-417, p. 27, (emphasis supplied), quoted in Chisom v. Roemer, 115 L. Ed. 2d 348, 59
U.S.L.W. 4696, 4699, 111 S. Ct. 2354 (June 20, 1991). But see Chisom, 59 U.S.L.W. at 4702 (Scalia, J.,
dissenting) ("As currently written, the statute proscribes intentional discrimination only if it has a
discriminatory effect, but proscribes practices with discriminatory effects whether or not
intentional.") We first turn our attention to the plaintiffs' claims under the results test.

The results test under the Voting Rights Act as amended is meant to restore the pre-Mobile legal
standard which governed cases challenging election systems or practices as an illegal dilution of the
minority vote. S. Rep. No. 97-417, p.27, quoted in Chisom v. Roemer, 115 L. Ed. 2d 348, 59 U.S.L.W.
4696, 4699, 111 S. Ct. 2354 (1991). This test asks whether "as a result of the challenged practice or
structure, plaintiffs do not have an equal opportunity to participate in the political process and to
elect candidates of their choice." This determination requires a searching practical evaluation of past
and present reality in the region at issue.

The Senate Report lists several typical factors that may be used to establish unequal access to the
political processes:

1. the extent of any history of official discrimination in the state or political subdivision that touched
the right of the members of the minority group to register, to vote, or otherwise to participate in the
democratic process;

2. the extent to which voting in the elections of the state or political subdivision is racially polarized,;
3. the extent to which the state or political subdivision has used unusually large election districts,
majority vote requirements, antisingle shot provisions, or other voting practices or procedures that

may enhance the opportunity for discrimination against the minority group;

4. if there is a candidate slating process, whether the members of the minority group have been
denied access to that process;

5. the extent to which members of the minority group in the state or political subdivision bear the
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effects of discrimination in such areas as education, employment and health, which hinder their
ability to participate effectively in the political process; """

6. whether political campaigns have been characterized by overt or subtle racial appeal;

7. the extent to which members of the minority group have been elected to public office in the
jurisdiction.

""" The courts have recognized that disproportionate educational employment [sic], income level and
living conditions arising from past discrimination tend to depress minority political participation.
Where these conditions are shown, and where the level of black participation in politics is depressed,
plaintiffs need not prove any further causal nexus between their disparate socio-economic status and
the depressed level of political participation. [citations omitted).

S. Rep. No. 97-417, pp.28-29, footnotes omitted, citing with approval White v. Regester, 412 U.S. 755,
37 L. Ed. 2d 314, 93 S. Ct. 2332 (1973), and Zimmer v. McKeithen, 485 F.2d 1297 (5th Cir. 1973) (en
banc), aff'd sub nom. East Carroll Parish School Board v. Marshall, 424 U.S. 636 , 47 L. Ed. 2d 296 , 96
S. Ct. 1083 (1976). See also Thornburg v. Gingles, 478 U.S. 30,46, 92 L. Ed. 2d 25, 106 S. Ct. 2752
(1986). The Senate Committee noted that in some cases the following factors also had probative value:

whether there is a significant lack of responsiveness on the part of elected officials to the
particularized needs of the members of the minority group;

whether the policy underlying the state or political subdivision's use of such voting qualification,
prerequisite to voting, or standard, pracrice or procedure is tenuous.

S. Rep. No. 97-417, p.29.

Finally, the Committee indicated that these factors are not exclusive, and that there is no
requirement that any particular factors be proven or that a majority of them point one way or
another. Id. Instead, the court must decide based on the totality of the circumstances whether the
voting strength of minority voters is "minimized or cancelled out." Id. at 29, n. 118.

The Supreme Court's recent decision in Thornburg v. Gingles also offers guidance on the use of the
results test. In that case, the Court concluded that the Senate Report places three limitations on the
circumstances under which a Section 2 violation may be proven:

First, electoral devices, such as at-large elections, may not be considered per se violative of § 2.
Plaintiffs must demonstrate that, under the totality of the circumstances, the devices result in
unequal access to the electoral process. Second, the conjunction of an allegedly dilutive electoral
mechanism and the lack of proportional representation alone does not establish a violation. Third,
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the results test does not assume the existence of racial bloc voting; plaintiffs must prove it.
Thornburg v. Gingles, 478 U.S. 30, 46 , 92 L. Ed. 2d 25 , 106 S. Ct. 2752 (1986).

In the instant case, the "allegedly dilutive electoral mechanism" is the placement of a district
boundary. Therefore, applying the framework supplied by the Supreme Court and the Senate Report,
the plaintiffs must establish that due to racial bloc voting and the totality of the past and present
circumstances of blacks in Mahoning County, the district boundary minimizes or cancels out the
voting strength of the minority population.

However, the defendants argue that in this case, there is no need to examine the totality of the
circumstances because the plaintiffs do not have a large enough population to constitute a majority
in a single-member district, however drawn. They assert that the Supreme Court implicitly
established this size as a precondition to all challenges to district configurations in Thornburg v.
Gingles. In Gingles, the Supreme Court stated that "unless there is a conjunction of the following
circumstances, the use of multimember districts generally will not impede the ability of minority
voters to elect representatives of their choice." Id. at 48 (emphasis supplied). The Court then set forth
three pre-conditions to a Section 2 challenge to the use of multi-member districting:

First, the minority group must demonstrate that it is sufficiently large and geographically compact to
constitute a majority in a single-member district. If it is not, as would be the case in a substantially
integrated district, the multi-member form of the district cannot be responsible for the minority
voters' inability to elect its candidates. """ Second, the minority group must be able to show that it is
politically cohesive. If the minority group is not cohesive, it cannot be said that the selection of a
multi-member electoral structure thwarts distinctive minority group interests. Third, the minority
must be able ro show that the white majority votes sufficiently as a bloc to enable it -- in the absence
of special circumstances, such as the minority candidate running unopposed -- usually to defeat the
minority's preferred candidate.

""" .. The single-member district is generally the appropriate standard against which to measure
minority group potential to elect, because it is the smallest political unit from which representatives
are elected. Thus, if the minority group is spread evenly throughout the multi-member district, or if,
although geographically compact, the minority group is so small in relation to the surrounding white
population that it could not constitute a majority in a single-member district, these minority voters
cannot maintain that they would have been able to elect representatives of their choice in the
absence of the multimember electoral structure.

Id. at 50-51 (emphasis in original) (citations omitted).

Defendants assert that the Court's reasoning compels the extension of these pre-conditions to all
results test cases, adopting the logic of the three-judge district court in the Gingles case:

Free Legal Research for Anyone, Anytime, Anywhere www . anylaw.com




Case: 2: 22ase00 7223 AL00NRTIRAB Muc#: 4-21 3| ede DDIHAR2 77 RAGY.. TRAGEH DPAGESD #: 3202

ARMOUR v. OHIO
775 F. Supp. 1044 (1991) | Cited 0 times | N.D. Ohio | September 4, 1991

Short of [the majority| level, there is no principled basis for gauging voting strength, hence dilution
of that strength. Nothing but raw intuition could be drawn upon by courts to determine in the first
place the size of those smaller aggregations having sufficient group voting strength to be capable of
dilution in any legally meaningful sense. . ..

... There must obviously be some size (as well as dispersion) limits on those aggregations of voters to
whom the concept can properly be applied. We do not readily perceive the limit short of the effective
voting majority level that can rationally be drawn and applied.

Gingles v. Edminsten, 590 F. Supp. 345, 381 (1984).

Defendants also argue that these conditions should apply ro challenges to single-member districts
because if the government can be forced to defend a lawsuit protesting the configuration of
single-member districts when the plaintiff group would not be large enough to bring suit over a
multi-member districting plan due to the Gingles pre-conditions, then the government is effectively
being punished for adopting a form of districting that is generally considered to be more favorable to
minority groups.

We do not agree with defendants’ analysis. In establishing threshold conditions for challenges to
multi-member districts, the Court was responding to Congress' express concern that multi-member
districts would be subject to challenge any time that minorities are not elected in direct proportion
to their population. As the Court noted in Gingles, the multi-member form of districting by itself
infringes on a minority group's opportunity to participate in the political process and elect a
candidate of its choice only if the group would otherwise be guaranteed the opportunity to control at
least one single-member district. The Court established threshold conditions for challenges to
multi-member districts in order to enable governments to maintain such systems without the
constant threat of time-consuming and expensive litigation.

Furthermore, the Court expressly limited the application of these pre-conditions to situations in
which plaintiffs were challenging only the multi-member districting. " In footnotes to its opinion,
the Court noted that there were issues implicated by its interpretation of the Voting Rights Act

which were not before the Court and which the Court therefore would not address. For example, the
Court noted that:

... We have no occasion to consider whether § 2 permits, and if it does, what standards should
pertain to, a claim brought by a minority group, that is not sufficiently large and compact to
constitute a majority in a single-member district, alleging that the use of a multi-member district
impairs its ability to influence elections.

We note also that we have no occasion to consider whether the standards we apply to respondents’
claims that multimember districts operate to dilute the vote of geographically cohesive minority
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groups, that are large enough to constitute majorities in single-member districts and that are
contained within the boundaries of challenged multi-member districts, are fully pertinent to other
sorts of vote-dilution claims, such as a claim alleging that the splitting of a large and geographically
cohesive minority between two or more multimember or single-member districts resulted in the
dilution of the minority vote.

... In a different kind of case, for example a gerrymander case, plaintiffs might allege that the
minority group that is sufficiently large and compact to constitute a single-member district has been
split between two or more multi-member or single member districts, with the effect of diluting the
potential strength of the minority vote.

[d. at 46 n. 12; 50 n. 16. (emphasis added).

Additionally, the Court has since suggested that a dilution of minority influence may be sufficient to
sustain a Section 2 results claim. In Chisom v. Roemer, 115 L. Ed. 2d 348, 59 U.S.L.W. 4696, 111 S. Ct.
2354 (1991), the Supreme Court held that Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act applied to elected judges.
In the course of its analysis, the Court stated that in order to establish a Section 2 claim, the plaintiffs
must show both that they have less opportunity to participate in the political process and that they
have less opportunity to elect representatives of their choice. Id. at 4700. Justice Scalia dissented,
arguing that this reading of the statute would leave "minorities who form such a small part of the
electorate in a particular jurisdiction that they could on no conceivable basis 'elect representatives of
their choice' entirely without Section 2 protection and that they could therefore be denied equal
opportunity to participate in the political process with impunity. Id. at 4703 (Scalia, J. dissenting).
The majority responded that Justice Scalia's argument "rested on the erroneous assumption that a
small group of voters can never influence the outcome of an election.” 1d. at 4700 n. 24.

Based on these statements in Chisom and the Court's express disclaimers regarding the scope of its
decision in Gingles, we cannot conclude that the Court intended the Gingles pre-conditions for
challenges to multi-member districting schemes to apply to all Section 2 challenges. *" Therefore, we
do not adopt them for the racial gerrymandering claim at issue here. While the bright-line test
advocated by the defendants would be indeed be simpler than a case by case analysis of the totality of
the circumstances,

the standard that should be applied in litigation under § 2 is not at issue here. Even if serious
problems lie ahead in applying the totality of the circumstances described in § 2(b), that task, difficult
as it may prove to be, cannot justify a judicially created limitation on the coverage of the broadly
worded statute, as enacted and amended by Congress.

Chisom v. Roemer, 115 L. Ed. 2d 348, 59 U.S.L.W. 4696, 4699, 111 S. Ct. 2354 (1991).

Moreover, we reject defendants' argument that the state is being punished for adopting a

Free Legal Research for Anvone, Anyiime, Anywhere www.anylaw.com



Case: 2: 22ase00 7223 AL00NRTIRAB Muic#: 421 fH|Ede DD IH A2 DRAGY.. ORAGEI DPAGEID #: 3204

ARMOUR v. OHIO
775 F. Supp. 1044 (1991) | Cited 0 times | N.D. Ohio | September 4, 1991

single-member districting plan. While single-member districting is generally more favorable to large,
compact minority populations, single-member districting plans possess their own unique
opportunities for abuse, of which racial gerrymandering is a prime example. *' We cannot agree with
the defendants that a government may with impunity divide a politically cohesive, geographically
compact minority population between two single member districts in which the minority vote will be
consistently minimized by white bloc voting merely because the minority population does not exceed
a single district's population divided by two. Accordingly, we proceed to an analysis of the totality of
the circumstances in Mahoning Valley to determine whether the plaintiffs have proven that the
boundary lines at issue minimize or cancel out the voting strength of the black community.

Totality of the Circumstances

At first blush, plaintiffs do not appear to have presented a very strong case. There are no allegations
that laws in Mahoning County have ever prohibited blacks from voting or from registering to vote.
Additionally, none of the election procedures frequently used to discriminate against minorities are
present here: candidates are elected from single member districts, there is no majority vote
requirement and no formal slating process, and only 150 signatures are needed to obtain a place on
the ballot. Therefore, the only allegation of de jure discrimination is that the boundary line at issue
divides the black community.

However, the Senate Report to the Voting Rights Act directs us to examine de facto discrimination as
well as that authorized by law. We begin this analysis with an examination of the history of the area
in question. Although the boundary line at issue was drawn during a statewide reapportionment, the
focus of the results test is on the plaintiffs rather than the drafters, and therefore our inquiry does
not focus on the black experience in the entire state but rather on the political and social reality local
to the Mahoning Valley. Because more than ninety-eight per cent of Mahoning County's black
population resides within the corporate limits of Youngstown, much of our discussion will
necessarily be concerned with that city.

History of the Mahoning Valley

The relevant history of the Mahoning Valley is developed in detail in the record before us. It is thus
established that in 1880 the City of Youngstown had a population of approximately 15,000. By the
turn of the century, the population had tripled to 45,000, and by 1930 the city had swollen to over
170,000 residents due to the burgeoning steel industry that had grown up along the banks of the
Mahoning River. The ethnic composition of the area reflected a similarly dramatic change. In the
nineteenth century, Youngstown was composed predominantly of "old-stock" Americans of British
and German descent. However, the steel industry attracted immigrants from a variety of European
countries, to the point that in 1920, more than 60% of the city's population of were foreign born or
first generation Americans.
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During the same time period, the steel mill owners actively recruited rural southern blacks to work in
the mills. Blacks were barred from membership in the steelworkers labor unions. Therefore, steel
mill owners hired blacks to quell labor unrest, to break strikes, and to work at undesirable jobs that
union members would not take. As a result of the recruitment by the steel mills, the black population
of Youngstown increased at an even greater rate than that of the general population, jumping from
less than two per cent of the population in 1900 to 6,750 in 1920 and doubling again to 14,500, over
eight per cent of the city's population, by 1930. The black workers formed communities near the steel
mills that employed them, settling along the river banks. Ultimately, the steel companies began to
provide housing which the workers could rent and eventually own. The company housing segregated
the workers by race and national origin.

The influx of blacks combined with religious and cultural differences between the primarily
Protestant original settlers and the Catholic and Jewish immigrants to provide fertile ground for the
organization of the Ku Klux Klan, which began to organize in Youngstown in 1922. In 1923, the year
that Youngstown obtained a home rule charter, see Ohio Const., Art. XVII1, § 7, the Klan functioned
as the city's only political party, appointing precinct workers and nominating candidates. *" That
year its candidates won six of the seven council seats, the mayoral seat, and the majority of seats on
the board of education. The Klan also was responsible for the division of the city into seven wards.
Each ward began at the river and moved outward, in a wedge shape, thereby dividing the mill
laborers who resided along the river banks and submerging them into the general population. These
wards exist essentially unchanged today.

While the Klan fell from power almost as quickly as it rose, disappearing as a major influence by
1926, racial segregation and inequality continued. Discrimination pervaded all aspects of
Youngstown life. The police routinely rounded up blacks in the 1920's as a means of investigating
crimes. Theaters directed black patrons to the balcony. Most restaurants denied them any but
carryout service. Hotels did not always permit blacks to register. All of the city operated swimming
pools but one were restricted for white use. "

Discrimination was also conspicuous in city employment practices. Prior to 1960, there were no
black members of the fire department. Blacks fared little better in Youngstown's Police Department:
in 1976, their relative low numbers and lack of advancement opportunities were such that a number
of black police officers and candidates for appointment to the department filed a lawsuit alleging
racial discrimination in the department's hiring and promotional practices. Williams v. Vukovich,
720 F.2d 909 (6th Cir. 1983). In that same year, the Office of Revenue Sharing, in response to a
complaint lodged against the department, launched an investigation and found thart, while
Youngstown boasted a black population of 25 percent, only 7.6 percent of the police department was
black. Id. at 914 n. 5. The investigation further uncovered that only two (6 percent) of the thirty-four
officers hired the previous year were black, and that only 5 percent of the sergeants and 2.6 percent of
the detectives on the police force were black. ¢
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Discrimination was also evident in the city's school system. The Youngstown Board of Education had
a policy against hiring black high school teachers until 1956. Black teachers also found it difficult to
obtain administrative positions.”" In 1977, the United States District Court for the Northern District
of Ohio specifically found that the Youngstown public schools were racially segregated, although no
relief was ordered because the segregation was not proven to result from discriminatory intent. See
Alexander v. Board of Education, 675 F.2d 787, 795 n. 7 (6th Cir. 1982). The court also found that the
school system disproportionately assigned black teachers and administrators to predominantly black
schools and ordered appropriate relief. Id. at 790 & n. 2.

In addition to city employment, Youngstown blacks have faced discrimination in other fundamental
areas throughout this century. Restrictive covenants prohibited real estate from being sold to blacks.
Even after these covenants were declared unenforceable, Shelley v. Kraemer, 334 U.S. 1,92 L. Ed.
1161, 68 S. Ct. 836 (1948), black families were unable to purchase housing in white neighborhoods. *"
Consequently, Youngstown's housing pattern has remained intensely segregated. While the fourth
and seventh wards of the city are less than two per cent black, the 1980 and 1990 census data show
that many areas in Youngstown are more than eighty per cent black. *" The court takes judicial
notice of the segregated white-black housing assignment policies maintained by the Youngstown
Metropolitan Housing Authority. This was pursuant to the policy of the Federal Public Housing
Administration that existed from the 1930's into the 1960's. Moreover, social activities remain closed
to blacks. At the time of the trial in 1988, no blacks had ever been members of any of the city's three
country clubs or of the Youngstown Club, the city's primary business club.

Effects of Discrimination

The effects of discrimination are apparent in the data compiled during the U.S. Department of
Commerce's 1980 Census of Population and Housing (Census) and in studies conducted by plaintiffs’
expert witness, Dr. Terry Buss. " The Census showed that in Mahoning County, the mean income
for blacks in 1979 was $ 14,118, substantially lower than the mean income for whites of $ 20,259.
Likewise, the Census showed that 27.3% of black families lived below the poverty level while the
corresponding figure for whites was only 5.8%. Of the blacks in Mahoning County 25 years of age or
older, nearly half (48.6%) had not completed high school, and only sixteen per cent had completed one
or more years of college. For whites in Mahoning County, less than one-third had not completed
high school, and almost one-quarter had completed at least one year of college. Finally, the Census
shows that the median value of housing for blacks in Mahoning County in 1980 was $ 20,200, while
the median value of housing for whites was $ 39,700. See Appendix I for census data.

Similarly, a 1984 study by Dr. Buss, entitled "Inequities in the Distribution of Unemployment in the
Youngstown/Warren SMSA", """ indicated that blacks were much more likely to be unemployed than
whites. This study, prepared for the Ohio Bureau of Unemployment Services using the methodology
used by the U.S. Bureau of the Census during its monthly population survey, showed that the
unemployment rate for blacks was 37.2% while that for whites was only 15.0%. Young blacks, ages 34
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and under, had the highest unemployment rate, nearly 50%. Additionally, blacks comprised more
than one-quarter of the discouraged workers, " nearly three times the amount that would have been
equivalent to whites given the racial makeup of the region. Dr. Buss testified that he had studied
black and white unemployment data for the period between his 1984 study and the time of the trial
and concluded that while unemployment for both groups vacillates, blacks consistently experienced

greater unemployment rates than whites, with the rate for blacks reaching double that of whites on
some occasions. "

While the effects of discrimination are apparent in areas of education, employment, income and
health care as discussed above, the effect of discrimination against blacks in the Mahoning Valley is
perhaps most apparent in political life. In the most vivid example, McCullough Williams, a leader in
Youngstown's black community and one of the first black members of Youngscown's school board,
testified that he received threats as a result of his civil rights activities. These threats culminated in
his house being bombed in 1970. Compelling testimony was also provided by Herman "Pete” Starks
regarding his candidacy for Mayor in 1985. Starks was endorsed by the party in his campaign for the
Democratic primary, the only time a candidate has received a party endorsement in a city-wide or
county-wide election. Nonetheless, throughout the primary race, the media focused on Starks' race,
consistently describing him as the black candidate for Mayor. Additionally, the opposition campaign
used overt racial appeals. They campaigned door-to-door telling voters that if Starks was elected, his
cabinet would be black. In addition, a soundtruck canvassed the city announcing that "If Pete Starks
is elected Mayor, we will have a black police chief, we will have a black fire chief, and we cannot have
that." Furthermore, although party rules required party officials to support the endorsed candidates,
and although each precinct had committeemen who were paid to campaign for the endorsed
candidates, Starks received zero votes in four precincts, including one precinct where two party
officials resided. No sanctions were taken by the party against the officials or the committeemen who
refused to support Starks.

Finally, the record establishes that blacks in Mahoning County participate in the political process at
a lower rate than whites. From the data previously discussed indicating disparity in income,
education, and employment between whites and blacks in Mahoning County, we conclude that the
depressed minority political participation is the result of past discrimination. See S.Rep. No. 97-417,
28 n.114, quoted at p.9, supra.

Black Candidates in Elections

In the history of Mahoning County, eight blacks have run for state representative. With the
exception of W.R. Stewart's election in 1904, before the population boom and the emergence of the
Ku Klux Klan, none has been successful. No black has ever won a county-wide election. Only one
black candidate has ever won a city-wide election other than for school board. The Honorable Lloyd
Haynes was appointed to municipal court in 1972, and subsequently won election in 1978 and again
in 1984. Five black candidates have won elections for the Youngstown school board. The school
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board election is conducted on a multi-member city-wide basis.
Racial Polarization and Political Cohesiveness

The Supreme Court's decision in Gingles indicates that plaintiffs must prove white bloc-voting and
black political cohesiveness in order to prevail on a Section 2 claim. In this case, the plaintiffs have
proven both.

Plaintiffs' expert witness, Dr. Buss, testified first to general trends in Mahoning County. Overall,
blacks in Mahoning County will vote for the Democratic party candidate in the general election at a
rate of between eighty and ninety per cent. Ten per cent of white voters in Mahoning County vote
consistently for the Republican ticket. The remaining white voters tend to split evenly between
independent candidates and the Democratic candidate.

Dr. Buss collected and evaluated data showing the voting patterns in the City of Youngstown for 14
elections in which a black candidate had sought election. Dr. Buss conducted extreme case analysis
and regression analysis to determine whether blacks and whites in Youngstown differed in their
voting behavior. These techniques yielded data concerning the voting patterns of each racial group,
including estimates of the percentages of members of each race who voted for each candidate. ™" His
analysis showed that the relationship between the candidate's race and the race of the voter was
consistently near linear, ™" indicating that there is a relationship between the race of the voter and
the likelihood that he will vote for a black candidate. Additionally, the analysis showed that the
percentage of votes received increased as the percentage of blacks in the precinct increased. "
Homogeneous precinct analysis, or extreme case analysis, produced similar results.

Dr. Buss's analyses showed that, on average, black voters supported black candidates at a rate of
almost eighty per cent, while white voters supported black candidates at a rate of about twelve per
cent. ™" The rate of white support dropped to less than seven percent when school board races were
excluded.

From these data, and Dr. Buss's observation that black voters in Youngstown generally vote for the
Democratic candidate at a rate between eighty and ninety per cent, we find that plaintiffs constitute
a politically cohesive voting unit. However, white voters in Youngstown do not support black
candidates. Therefore, in the usual course of events white bloc voting will result in the defeat of the
minority group's candidates.

Responsiveness
The Senate Report indicates that another factor that is sometimes useful in the totality of the

circumstances analysis is the responsiveness of elected officials to plaintiffs' group. In this case, we
find that the state representatives in Districts 52 and 53 have not been sensitive to the needs of the
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black community in Youngstown. First, we note that the representatives have little incentive to
consider black voters. As demonstrated above, the black community is safely Democratic. In the
absence of a black candidate, over eighty per cent of black voters will vote strictly along party lines.
However, white voters in Mahoning County are less consistent, and therefore the representatives
must cater to their needs in order to secure re-election. The uncontradicted evidence suggests that
this is in fact the practice in Mahoning County: very little campaigning for the state representative
positions has been directed toward the black community. Furthermore, black voters in these districts
testified that their representatives are not responsive to minority issues, and surveys by Dr. Buss of
black residents and leaders in the black community show that the representatives are perceived as
indifferent to the needs of minority community. These surveys also showed that black citizens feel
that their representatives do not seek input from the black community. For example, one of
Youngstown's state representatives introduced a bill into the state legislature to eliminate one of
Youngstown's three municipal judgeships, the only judgeship ever held by a black, and the only
city-wide position to which a black had ever been elected by a majority vote. "

State's Interest

Finally, the Senate Report suggests that this court may find it useful to examine the policy underlying
the state's use of the challenged practice. Where the underlying policy is tenuous, the challenged
practice is more likely to violate Section 2. In this case, there is simply no defensible basis for the
current boundaries. The state's apportionment policies established within its constitution require
that the integrity of political subdivisions be respected whenever possible. In this case, those policies
were clearly violated. Article XI of the state constitution states that a house district should be formed
by combining the areas of governmental units. Ohio Const., Art. XI, § 7(B). When a unit must be
divided in order to create house districts of substantially equal size, "only one such unit may be
divided between two districts." Id. at § 7(C). In this case, as more fully appears in Section B below,
both the City of Youngstown and Boardman Township were divided between districts 52 and 53.
Since the current configuration of the districts violates the state's own constitutional requirements,
we find that the state has no interest in maintaining the current configuration.

Conclusions

From the totality of the above evidence, we conclude that segregation and racial discrimination have
been a way of life in Mahoning County since blacks settled in the area at the turn of the century. One
effect of these practices has been to foreclose the area's black residents from the political processes
leading to nomination and election of candidates for any office in the Mahoning Valley, with a
corresponding depression in black registration and voting rates. Additionally, the current
configuration of the Ohio House of Representatives districts deprive blacks of the opportunity to
elect a candidate of their choice in either house district. They cannot elect a black representative
because white voters will not support a black candidate, whether or not he has a party endorsement,
and blacks are not sufficiently numerous in either district to carry an election without white support.
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Therefore, white race-based bloc voting works in conjunction with the division of the black voters to
permit and indeed compel political parties to ignore minority candidates, and to discourage black
candidates from seeking office. Defendants argue that blacks have not run in the primary elections,
and that therefore they have no basis for claiming that they cannot prevail in the current districts.
However, we can take notice of the tremendous expense, monetary and otherwise, of running for
office, and we find that the circumstances in these two districts are such that most blacks could not

reasonably have believed that they would have a chance of making a substantial showing, much less
of winning.

With regard to white candidates, political reality does not encourage candidates in the current
district configurations to take positions that are responsive to the needs of the black community. In
the absence of a black candidate, the Democratic candidate can be assured of more than eighty per
cent of the black vote simply by virtue of his party endorsement, and the Republican candidate can be
assured that he will receive less than ten per cent. Therefore, candidates from both parties must, and
do, focus their campaigns on winning the "swing vote" -- which in these districts is primarily
composed of wealthy suburban whites. Given the totality of the circumstances in this region, we can
take judicial notice that the expectations of wealthy suburban voters are qualitatively different from
those of the impoverished, urban black community. As a result, we conclude that under the current
configurations, because the black voting strength is divided into two districts each of which contains
a large population of white suburban voters, black voters in Mahoning county do not have an equal
opportunity to elect a candidate of their choice for state representative,

The next question that we address is whether black voters could elect a candidate of their choice ina
redrawn district. " For the reasons set forth below, we find that plaintiffs have shown that in the
proposed district they will be able to elect a candidate of their choosing.

Defendants go to great lengths to demonstrate that based upon racial voting patterns plaintiffs will
not be able to elect a black candidate without a majority of black voters in the redrawn district.
However, defendants misapprehend the requirements of the Voting Rights Act. The issue is not
whether the plaintiffs can elect a black candidate, but rather whether they can elect a candidate of
their choice. We believe that they can. In a reconfigured district, plaintiffs will constitute nearly
one-third of the voting age population and about half of the usual Democratic vote. Therefore, the
Democratic Party and its candidates will be forced to be sensitive to the minority population by
virtue of that population's size. Moreover, in a district composed only of Youngstown and Campbell,
candidates and representatives will not find themselves in conflict between the interests of wealthy
suburbs and the impoverished urban communities they serve. Since black voters consistently vote
eighty to ninety per cent Democratic and white voters vote consistently almost fifty per cent
Democratic, we find that plaintiffs could elect a candidate of their choice, although not necessarily of
their race, in a reconfigured district. *"

Therefore, based on our previous findings, we conclude that the plaintiffs have proven that the
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current configuration of Ohio House of Representatives Districts 52 and 53 violates the provisions of
Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act of 1965, 42 U.S.C. § 1973.

B

Our finding that the plaintiffs have proven their claim under the results test of Section 2 of the
Voting Rights Act would ordinarily allow us to proceed to the question of relief without reaching
plaintiffs’ other claims. However, due to the paucity of authority regarding the application of the
results test to minority populations that are not large enough to form a majority in a single-member
districts, we are compelled by principles of sound judicial administration to address plaintiffs'
second claim under the Voting Rights Act: that the state apportionment board intentionally split the
black population of Mahoning County into two districts in order to dilute the effectiveness of the
minority vote. Because this claim is indistinguishable from a claim under the Fifteenth Amendment,
we address these claims together.

The Fifteenth Amendment states:
Section 1. Right of citizens to vote -- Race or color not to disqualify.

The right of citizens to vote shall not be denied or abridged by the United States or by any State on
account of race, color, or previous condition of servitude.

Section 2. Power to enforce amendment.
The Congress shall have power to enforce this article by appropriate legislation.

This amendment prohibits states from intentionally discriminating on the basis of race in matters
having to do with voting. City of Mobile v. Bolden, 446 U.S. 55, 61, 64 L. Ed. 2d 47 , 100 S. Ct. 1490
(1980).

Plaintiffs have produced strong evidence proving that the drafting of the boundary between District
52 and District 53 was racially motivated. First, Robert Dykes, a political consultant hired by the
Ohio Democratic Party to draft an apportionment plan, testified that the team that designed the plan
adopted by the state sought out information regarding the location of substantial black populations
within the state. When the drafting team determined that there was a large enough black population
to form a black majority for a district, they shifted boundaries to more closely approximate the black
population. This was accomplished notwithstanding the mandate of the Ohio Constitution that
"district boundaries established by the preceding apportionment board shall be adopted to the extent
reasonably consistent with the requirements of section 3 of this article.” Art. XI, § 7(D). However, if
the black population could not constitute a majority in a district, Dykes testified that the drafters did
not attempt to conform the boundaries to black concentrations. Furthermore, the Secretary of State
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testified that the apportionment board was contacted by incumbents who wanted their districts
"protected.” Finally, the evidence showed that the incumbent legislators were white, these
incumbents were supported by white voters, voting in the districts was racially polarized, and the
districts were safely Democratic.

From this evidence, we find that the line dividing Youngstown between district 52 and 53, when it
was originally drawn in 1971 and when it was left in place in 1981, was intended to split the black
community in order to dilute the potential effectiveness of the black vote, to the obvious benefit of
the incumbents. Although courts are reluctant to provide relief on claims that a district has been
gerrymandered to protect an incumbent's seat, see Davis v. Bandemer, 478 U.S. 109, 138-43, 92 L. Ed.
2d 85,106 S. Ct. 2797 (1986) and 478 U.S. at 143-60 (O'Connor, J., concurring), this rule does not hold
when the manipulations were conducted on a race-conscious basis. Like the Seventh Circuit, we see
"little point .. . in distinguishing discrimination based on an ultimate objective of keeping certain
white incumbents in office from discrimination borne of pure racial animus.” Ketchum v. Byrne, 740
F.2d 1398, 1406-10 (7th Cir. 1984), cert. denied, 471 U.S. 1135 ,86 L. Ed. 2d 692, 105 S. Ct. 2673 (1985).
See also Garza v. City of Los Angeles, 918 F.2d 763, 771 (9th Cir. 1990), cert. denied, 112 L. Ed. 2d 673,
111 S. Ct. 681 (1991) (Fifteenth Amendment violation was proven when officials chose to fragment the
Hispanic vote in order to preserve incumbencies). See also Gomillion v. Lightfoot, 364 U.S. 339, 346 ,
5L.Ed.2d 110, 81 S. Ct. 125 (1960) ("When the legislature thus singles out a readily isolated segment
of a racial minority for special discriminatory treatment, it violates the Fifteenth Amendment.")

Furthermore, the districts as drawn in 1981 violate the express command in the Ohio Constitution
that only one governmental unit be divided between two districts. The governmental unit that was
unnecessarily divided was Boardman Township, an area with a population of 41,510 persons, only 225
of whom are black. It is apparent from the record that any reasonable division between the two
districts that did not split any entity other than Youngstown would have created a district with a
substantially greater black population than District 53 as currently drawn. Recognizing the
admonition in Gomillion v. Lightfoot, 364 U.S. 339,342, 5 L. Ed. 2d 110, 81 S. Ct. 125 (196), that "the
Fifteenth Amendment nullifies sophisticated as well as simple-minded modes of discrimination”, we
find that the deliberate combination of over 30,000 persons from a 99% white township with areas of
Youngstown that were nearly half black in flagrant disregard of the state constitution's
apportionment rules was not color blind. Accordingly, we find that the plaintiffs have proven that the
current apportionment violates the Fifteenth Amendment.

C

The Supreme Court stated in Constantin and Pacific Gas & Electric, supra at p.6, that once a
three-judge court is properly convened, it has jurisdiction to determine "all the questions in the case,
local as well as federal.” We recognized above that the boundary line at issue in this case violates the
Ohio Constitution. While issues requiring the resolution of ambiguities in state statutes or
constitutions are best reserved to state courts, there is no ambiguity here. The state constitution
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mandates that "only one [governmental] unit may be divided between two [house] districts." Ohio
Const. Art X1, § 7(C). The City of Youngstown was more than five per cent larger than the state's
population divided by 99, and it therefore had to be divided to meet the requirements of Article X1,
section 3, limiting the permissible variation in size between districts. Because Youngstown had to be
divided, the state constitution compelled that all other governmental units in the two districts at
issue be allocated wholly to one district or the other. The division of Boardman Township
unquestionably violated this mandate.

ITT. RELIEF

Plaintiffs seek declaratory and injunctive relief from the boundary between Districts 52 and 53. In
particular, plaintiffs request an order enjoining the State from holding future elections using the
current boundaries and directing the State to adopt plaintiffs' proposed districts. Finally, plaintiffs
ask this court to order a special election to be held in November of 1991 to elect representatives from
Constitutionally drawn districts. We address these requests in sequence.

First, we find that plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory relief for the reasons discussed above, and
accordingly, we declare that the current boundaries of Ohio House of Representatives Districts 52
and 53 violate the Voting Rights Act of 1965 as well as the constitutions of the United States and the
State of Ohio. "Once a State's legislative apportionment scheme has been found to be
unconstitutional, it would be the unusual case in which a court would be justified in not taking
appropriate action to insure that no further elections are conducted under the invalid plan." Reynolds
v. Sims, 377 U.S. 533,585, 12 L. Ed. 2d 506, 84 S. Ct. 1362 (1964). In this case, the current house terms
do not expire until January 1, 1993, and the Ohio Constitution requires a new statewide
apportionment of the General Assembly to be published this year. Therefore, we find that there are
no special circumstances which would compel us to withhold this form of injunctive relief.
Consequently, we enjoin the defendants from using the current house district configurations for
future elections.

However, we conclude that an order requiring the state to adopt plaintiffs’ proposed districts would
not be appropriate at this time. "Legislative reapportionment is primarily a matter for legislative
consideration, and . . . judicial relief [is] appropriate only when the legislature fails to reapportion
according to federal constitutional requisites in a timely fashion after having had an adequate
opportunity to do so." Reynolds v. Sims, 377 U.S. at 586; see also Wise v. Lipscomb, 437 U.S. 535,
539-40, 57 L. Ed. 2d 411, 98 S. Ct. 2493 (1978). The Ohio Constitution requires the apportionment
board to publish a new apportionment plan for the Ohio General Assembly by October 5, 1991 based
on the 1990 decennial census. We therefore retain jurisdiction of this case to consider further
injunctive relief; however, we defer a hearing on this issue until after the October deadline has
passed. If at that time the reapportionment plan has not been published, or if the board's plan
violates plaintiffs' statutory or constitutional rights, we will then entertain an application for an
order fashioning an appropriate remedy.
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Finally, with regard to plaintiffs' request for a special election from constitutionally drawn districts
for the house seats expiring in January of 1993, equitable considerations require that this relief be
denied. The burden of requiring the State to hold an election for these districts one month after the
apportionment is published combined with the burden on the potential candidates far exceeds the
burden on the plaintiffs of being represented for an additional year by legislators whom they might
not have chosen had the election been held in constitutionally drawn districts. Moreover, while our
broad remedial powers may permit us to order the apportionment published before the October
deadline, we decline to do so. We do not believe that an earlier deadline would give the board
adequate opportunity to fashion a statewide plan that meets the federal constitutional requirements
announced in this opinion as well as the requirements imposed by the Ohio Constitution. Similarly,
we decline to order a special election for the house seats at a later date. Although a later election
would give the candidates and the state time to prepare, the incremental cost of a special election
imposes its own burdens, and the benefit to the plaintiffs diminishes as the time remaining in the
existing house term expires. Therefore, we decline to compel a special election for the house districts
at issue.

IV. ATTORNEY'S FEES
Section 19731 of United States Code Title 42 provides:

(e) Attorney's fees. In any action or proceeding to enforce the voting guarantees of the fourteenth or
fifteenth amendment the court, in its discretion, may allow the prevailing party, other than the
United States, a reasonable attorney's fee as part of the costs.

42 U.S.C. 19731.

Under this statute, a prevailing plaintiff should ordinarily recover an attorney's fees unless special
circumstances would render such an award unjust. Hensley v. Eckerhart, 461 U.S. 424, 429,433 n. 7 ,
76 L. Ed. 2d 40, 103 S. Ct. 1933 (1983). We find that there are no circumstances that would render an
award of fees unjust in this case, and we therefore grant plaintiffs' request for fees and costs.
Plaintiffs should submit a fee request with appropriate documentation to the court. Defendants will
then have the opportunity to file objections to any of the charged hours if they so desire.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, we find that plaintiffs' statutory and Fifteenth Amendment claims have
merit, and we order the relief announced above.

While we retain jurisdiction of this case to consider plaintiffs' request for an order directing the state
to adopt plaintiffs' proposed districts until after the state apportionment board publishes a new
apportionment plan and to determine the amount of attorney's fees, we find that there is no just
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reason for delay in the entry of judgment ordering declaratory relief and enjoining future elections
using the current districts, and we therefore direct that judgment be entered on those claims
pursuant to Rule 54(b).

So ordered.

Judgment and Order for Plaintiffs - September 4, 1991, Filed

This three-judge district court was convened in the Northern District of Ohio, Cleveland, Ohio,
pursuant to the en banc decision of the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit, 925 F.2d
987 (6th Cir. 1991), and was constituted by order of the Honorable Gilbert S. Merritt, Chief Judge of
said Circuit.

BEFORE: Honorable Nathaniel R. Jones

United States Circuit Judge

Honorable John W. Peck Senior

United States Circuit Judge

Honorable Alice Batchelder

United States District Judge

In accordance with the Memorandum Opinion and Order filed in this case granting declaratory and
injunctive relief,

IT ISHEREBY ORDERED, Adjudged and Decreed that judgment be and is entered for Plaintiffs.
So ordered.

John W. Peck

Senior United States Circuit Judge

Nathaniel R. Jones

United States Circuit Judge

APPENDIX I [SEE ILLUSTRATIONS IN ORIGINAL]
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APPENDIX IT*

The following data are excerpted from tables published in the 1980 Census of Population and
Housing Report for the Youngstown-Warren, Ohio Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area. Tables
H-2 and H-3 Occupancy, Utilization and Financial Characteristics of Housing Units in Mahoning
County White Black PERSONS IN UNIT 1 person 18,849 3,0512 persons 27,780 3,4843 persons 15,629
2,5814 persons 13,980 2,0715 persons 7,135 1,2596 persons 2,867 6267 persons 1,094 3768 or more
persons 457 237Median, occupied housing units 2.40 2.62Median, owner-occupied housing units 2.67
2.87Median, renter-occupied housing units 1.70 2.33 VALUE Specified owner-occupied housing
units 58,276 6,707Less than $§ 15,000 3,546 1,916% 15,000 to $ 19,999 3,204 1,366% 20,000 to § 24,999
4,537 1,1218 25,000 to $ 29,999 5,703 695% 30,000 to $ 34,999 6,535 548% 35,000 to $ 39,999 6,018 308%
40,000 to $ 49,999 10,467 3798 50,000 to $ 59,999 7,153 169$ 60,000 to $ 79,999 7,490 162$ 80,000 to $
99,999 2,293 34§ 100,000 to $ 149,999 1,038 6% 150,000 to 199,999 198 2§ 200,000 or more 94 1Median $
39,700 $ 20,200 CONTRACT RENT Specified renter-occupied housing units 20,498 5,595Median $
180 8 107Tables P-12 & P-14 Social and Labor Force Characteristics for Mahoning County: 1980
SCHOOL ENROLLMENT Persons 3 years old and over enrolled in school 61,122 12,625Nursery
School 2,699 606Kindergarten 3,022 775Elementary School (1 to 8 years) 28,083 6,436High School (1 to
4 years) 16,121 3,236College 11,197 1,572 YEARS OF SCHOOL COMPLETEDPersons 25 years of age
or older 153,435 21,364Elementary: 0 to 4 years 3,564 1,518 5 to 7 years 7,813 2,076 8 years 10,996
1,353High School: 1 to 3 years 27,279 5,443 4 years 65,766 7,527College: 1 to 3 years 20,021 2,535 4 or
more years 17,996 912 LABOR FORCE STATUS Persons 16 years and over 191,484 28,328Labor Force
110,316 14,822Percent of persons 16 and over 57.6 52.3 Employed 99,320 11,229 Unemployed 10,923
3,583Percent of civilian labor force 9.9 24.2 LABOR FORCE STATUS IN 1979Persons 16 years and
over, in labor force in 1979 119,214 16,321Percent of persons 16 and over 62.3 57.6Worked in 1979
116,806 14,673 40 or more weeks 86,678 9,607 Usually worked 35 or more hrsfweek 73,220 8,226 50 to
52 weeks 70,106 7,067 Usually worked 35 or more hrs/week 60,844 6,179 With unemployment in 1979
25,307 6,112Percent of those in labor force in 1979 21.2 37.4Unemployed 15 or more weeks 9,176
3,225Mean weeks of unemployment 14.5 20.6

Tables P-13 and P-15 Occupation, Income in 1979, and Poverty Status in 1979 for Mahoning County:
1980

Census Tracts
[400 or More White Persons and

400 or More of a Specified Racial Group] White Black INCOME IN 1979 Households 87,969
13,752Less than $ 5,000 10,352 3,922$ 5,000 to $7,499 5,993 1,386% 7,500 to $ 9,999 6,260 1,159% 10,000
to $ 14,999 12,167 1,797$ 15,000 to $ 19,999 13,312 1,691$ 20,000 to $ 24,999 13,570 1,407 25,000 to $
34,999 15,889 1,5098 35,000 to § 49,999 7,351 721$ 50,000 or more 3,075 160Median § 18,401 $
11,047Mean § 20,259 $ 14,118 Families 67,398 10,356Median income $ 21,245 $ 13,552Mean income $
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23,176 $ 15,896 Unrelated individuals 15 years and over 24,394 4, 450Median income $ 6,635 §
4,452Mean income $ 9,186 $ 6,722Per capita income $ 7,323 $ 4,696 Households 87,969 13,752With
earnings 69,349 9,338 Mean earnings $ 21,099 $ 16,436With Social Security income 27,184 3,761 Mean
Social Security Income $§ 4,427 $ 4,131With public assistance income 5,465 4,112 Mean public
assistance income § 2,515 § 2,546 INCOME IN 1979 BELOW POVERTY LEVEL Families 3,906
2,823Percent below poverty level 5.8 27.3 Householder worked in 1979 1,926 848With related children
under 18 years 2,877 2,477Female householder, no husband present 1,663 2,073 Householder worked
in 1979 655 562 With related children under 18 years 1,482 1,941 With related children under 6 yrs 784
1,141Householder 65 years and over 462 211 Unrelated individuals for whom poverty status is
determined 5,285 1,860Percent below poverty level 22.0 42.3 65 years and over 1,943 549Persons for
whom poverty status is determined 18,818 12,238Percent below poverty level 7.8 30.2Related children
under 18 years 6,418 5,828 Related children 5 to 17 years 4,655 3,95960 years and over 3,850 1,311 65
years and over 2,799 884 Percent of persons for whom povertystatus is determined Below 75 percent
of poverty level 5.4 25.0 Below 125 percent of poverty level 10.9 35.6 Below 200 percent of poverty
level 23.3 51.7

1. Indeed, there is nothing in Gingles that would prevent minority plaintiffs in a multi-member district that prohibited
"bullet” voting or that required a majority vote to prevail in an election from challenging the lacter requirements even if

the group were not large enough to challenge the multi-member form of the district. See Gingles, 478 U.S. at 56.

2. We recognize that some courts have applied the Gingles preconditions to cases in jurisdictions where a majority vote
was not required to win the election. Brewer v. Ham., 876 F.2d 448, 455 (5th Cir. 1989); McNeil v. Springfield Park District,
851 F.2d 937, 944 (7ch Cir. 1988), cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1031, 104 L. Ed. 2d 204, 109 S. Ct. 1769 (1989); Collins v. Norfolk,
883 F.2d 1232 (4th Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 112 L. Ed. 2d 305, 111 S. Ct. 340 (1990); Buckanaga v. Sisseton Indep. School
Dist., 804 F.2d 469, 475 (8th Cir. 1986). Because our analysis in this case is not founded on Ohio's plurality election
requirement, we need only recognize that these cases involved challenges to multi-member districting and therefore are

not relevant to the issues presented in this case.

3. Indeed, given the unique facts of this case, the plaintiffs might well benefit from a multi-member districting scheme

because in a multi-member district the plaintiff group could not easily be divided.

4. The primary focus of the Klan in Youngstown appears to have been on moral reforms -- enforcement of prohibition
and the Sunday blue laws. However, white supremacy and racial segregation were still part of the platform. For example,
the Youngstown Vindicator reported that blacks and ethnic women were harassed when they tried to register to vote in
1923. Similarly, Herbert Armstrong testified that Klansmen wearing white hoods and riding horses had driven his father,
a black merchant, into bankruptcy in 1926 because his clothing store was primarily patronized by white men. He also
testified that he had personally observed Klan activity in Youngstown, including the burning of crosses. It appears that
the main reason that racial issues did not have the primacy in Youngstown that they had in other areas of the country

dominated by the Klan was that there was a system of de facto racial segregation firmly in place before the Klan arrived.

5. Eventually, another white pool was constructed less than 300 feet away from the only black pool.
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6. On the date the Williams case was filed, only 6.8 percent of the police department was black. A decade later, the city

entered into a consent decree agreeing to an affirmative hiring and promotion plan.

7. Dr. Herbert Armstrong testified that he was not, appointed to a position as principal until 1965, nine years after
qualifying for the position and thirteen years after joining the school system, despite a Master's Degree in School
Administration and Bachelor of Science degrees in both Education and Business Administration. He testified that the
average time for a non-black teacher of similar background and experience to become a principal would have been about

five years. Dr. Armstrong's eventual appointment made him the school system's first black elementary school principal.

8. For example, McCullough Williams testified that he had contracted to purchase a house on Volney Road and obtained
financing. However, at closing, the realtor refused to sell him the property directly, stating that he would lose his real
estate license if he did so. He suggested that Williams instead place the property in trust or have it purchased by a white
person. Williams testified that he attempted to look at a home on Goleta Avenue and that the owner refused to show the
house. Finally, he testified that when he sought to purchase property on which to establish a funeral home, there were
only three properties that were properly zoned that realtors would show him. Similarly, A.J. Carter testified that when he
came to Youngstown in 1925, he moved in with his uncle because people refused, explicitly on the basis of race, to rent to
him.

9. The district court in the school desegregation case made the same observation in 1977. See Alexander v. Youngstown
Board of Education, 675 F.2d 787, 795 n.7 (6th Cir. 1982) (quoting 454 F.Supp. at 1066).

10. At the time of trial, Dr. Buss was the Director of the Department of Urban Studies at the University of Akron. Dr.
Buss testified that he had conducted between three and four hundred surveys related to the demographics and economy

of the Mahoning Valley area during his since obtaining his Ph.D. in political science and mathematics in 1976.

11. Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area, as classified by the U.S. Bureau of the Census during the 1980 Census of
Population and Housing.

12. Discouraged workers are persons who want to work but have not sought employment in the last four weeks.

13. Dr. Buss also conducted a survey of "Health and Human Service Needs of People in Poorer Neighborhoods" in 1985.
This study focused on the twenty poorest census tracts in Youngstown. The demographics of the sample indicated that
almost sixty per cent of the persons surveyed were black. The survey indicated that blacks in poor neighborhoods in

Youngstown were alienated from the health and human services care delivery system.

14. There are, however, certain deficiencies in plaintiffs’ data. First, the trial revealed an error in the ecological bivariate
regression analysis. This analysis determines whether there is a relationship between two variables, for example the race
of the candidate and the race of the voter, and if so, attempts to quantify the correlation. One common approach to this
analysis in voting cases is to plot the percentage vote received by a black candidate in each precinct against the
percentage of black residents in that precinct. If the resulting graph is approximately linear, there is a relationship

between the race of the voter and the likelihood that he would vote for a black candidate. A line of x=y indicates complete
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racial polarization: no whites voting for the black candidate but all blacks voting for the black candidate. In the instant
case, the testimony indicated that instead of plotting votes received by the black candidate against the percentage of
black residents, Dr. Buss plotted the votes received against the concentration of "non-whites” in a precinct. We find that
this error most likely results in an understatement of the degree of polarization. Additionally, we note that Dr. Buss used
only data from the City of Youngstown. While city data is useful because the plaintiff class resides almost exclusively
within the city limits and because the district proposed by plaintiffs is nearly coextensive with the city limits, it would
have been appropriate to include all the data from the state representative elections and from Pete Starks' race for County

Auditor. Finally, it would have been useful to have statistical proof of black voting patterns in the absence of a black
candidate.

15. The correlation coefficient was usually between 0.75 and 1.0. Significantly, the lowest correlation coefficient, about
0.2, appeared in the race of Benson for state representative. In this race, Benson only received 12% of the black vote. He
received 6% of the white vote.

16. The slope of the graphs was consistently positive and approached one.

17. These figures do not include the race of Benson because in that election the regression analysis indicated low
correlation between the race of the voter and the percentage of votes the candidate received. The following table shows
plaintiffs’ extrapolations from Dr. Buss's regression analyses: Candidate Black Vote White Vote R2 Frost, 1981 mayoral
primary 70% 20% 0.87 Pincham, 1983 school board 65% 33% 0.92 Simon, 1983 school board 60% 8% 0.77 Rogers, 1983
school board 73% 12% 0.91 Frost, 1983 mayoral general 64% 3% 0.96 Benson, 1984 State Rep. 12% 7% 0.20 Jackson, 1984
Pres. primary 98% 2% 0.96 Simon, 1985 school board 90% 6% 0.97 Starks, 1985 Mayoral Primary 98% 6% 0.97 Starks, 1986
County Auditor 67% 2% 0.67 Armour, 1986 State Rep. 48% 4% 0.83 Hightower, 1987 school board 90% 20% 0.93 Pincham
1987 school board 80% 35% 0.91 Jackson, 1988 Pres. primary 98% 9% 0.95 Average (Total/14) 72% 12% 0.80 Without
elections for which R2<<0.50 77% 12% 0.90The result of Armour's 1986 campaign for State Representative is particularly

b

significant because in that race, the black candidate was running in a general election against an endorsed Democratic
candidate. Since black voters in Mahoning County usually identify with the Democratic candidate in a general election at
arate of eighty to ninety per cent, for an independent candidate to obtain nearly fifty per cent of the black vote is a
remarkable showing.

18. Plaintiff Ezell Armour, who was active in many leading black community organizations including the A. Philip
Randolph Institute, the NAACP, and the Ministerial Alliance, testified that the representative had not consulted with the
black community regarding this legislation although he had "a lot of contact with other people.” Although the record
shows that the legislation was not pursued after the black community protested, we agree with the late Mr. Armour that
"this was very insensitive."

19. The plaintiffs, relying on Gingles, 478 U.S. at 46 n. 12, suggest that § 2 of the Voting Rights Act may permit an action
based on a minority group's "ability to influence” an election in a single-member district which is independent of that
group's ability to elect the candidate of its choice. In Gingles, the Supreme Court stated: We have no occasion to consider
whether § 2 permits, and if it does, what standards should pertain to, a claim brought by a minority group, that is not

sufficiently large and compact to constitute a majority in a single-member district, alleging that the use of a
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multi-member district impairs its ability to influence elections. 478 U.S. at 46 n. 12 (emphasis supplied). The plaintiffs
argue that the Supreme Court's dicta here recognizes the possibility of such an action under § 2. We need not reach the
question of whether such an action may be viable under the Voting Rights Act because we find that the plaintiffs have
met their burden of demonstrating an ability to elect a candidate of their choice.

20. The State of Ohio argues that the plaintiffs' claim of an ability to elect based on an alleged correlation between the
outcome of the Democratic primary election and victory in the general election is flawed. We agree. Plaintiffs contend
that in a redrawn district they will be able to elect a black candidate in the Democratic primary by a plurality and,
because the Democratic candidate always wins the general election, they will therefore be able to elect a black candidate
to office. The problem with this reasoning is that plaintiffs have demonstrated persuasively that white voters in
Mahoning County do not usually vote for black candidates. Thus, there is no assurance that a black candidate winning
the primary could muster sufficient white votes to be elected to office. However, our conclusion that blacks in a redrawn
district could elect a candidate of their choice depends neither upon an historical correlation between the outcome of the
primary and the general election nor upon speculation as to how a black can be elected, and therefore the inconsistency
in plaintiffs’ theory does not affect our conclusion. * The Census Bureau reports include data for each of the larger
municipalities within Mahoning County and for the area which the source describes as "Remainder," using separate
tables for data about blacks and whites. We have combined the tables, showing only the "Total" for Mahoning County for
each race. Additionally, we have omitted some of the data categories provided by the census bureau. DISSENT
FOOTNOTES" This amended opinion has been filed to correct a typographical error.

1. Throughout the text of this opinion, I shall refer to as the "Senate Report” the Report issued by the Senate Judiciary
Committee in connection with the 1982 amendments to the Voting Rights Act. S. Rep. No. 417, 97th Cong., 2d Sess. at 29
& n.114, reprinted in 1982 U.S.C.C.A.N. 177, 207.

2. Throughout this opinion, T will refer to the transcript of the trial testimony as "Tr.", together with a reference to the
volume and page number where the testimony appears. By stipulation of the parties, this case was heard before this
three-judge panel on the transcript of trial testimony, which was taken before the Magistrate in 1988, with the addition of
a few exhibits.

3. Nothing in the record reflects why that ward system has not been changed or whether attempts have been made in that

regard. In sum, there is no evidence that it is relevant to the issues presented in this case.
4. According to the testimony of William Jenkins, the Klan administration took office in January 1924 (Tr. Vol. 1T at 343),
and its control on Youngstown politics "declined very rapidly after the Niles Riot in November of 1924," and practically

collapsed in 1925. (T, Vol. I at 351).

5. I have considered the possibility that this was a misstatement by Dr. Buss, but because the data upon which he based

this conclusion appears nowhere in the record, there is nothing in the record that would indicate it is an error.

6. Dr. Buss' own conclusion in this regard is equivocal, "Whites would appear to have a higher participation rate than
would blacks.” (Tr. Vol. T at 132).
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7. Although the majority opinion concludes that "blacks in Mahoning County participate in the political process at a
lower rate than whites" (Opinion at 24), that statement does not answer the ultimate question regarding factor 5, namely
whether past discrimination "hinder[s| their ability to participate effectively in the political process.” S. Rep. 417 at 29,
1982 U.5.C.C.A.N. at 207. The opinion simply does not address the question of whether blacks can participate effectively

in the political process. The record in this case provides no support for a conclusion that they cannot.

8. There are numerous reasons why data for elections besides state house elections should not be considered. For
example, in Presidential or municipal elections, the issues and concerns of voters may differ dramatically from those in
state house elections.

9. Justices White and O'Connor in their separate concurring opinions believed that it is appropriate for courts to focus on
elections in which there were candidates of both races. Id. at 83, 108 S. Ct. at 2783 (White, ., concurring); id. at 101, 108 S.
Ct. 2792 (O'Connor, J., concurring).

10. One concern 1 have about the majority's discussion of this factor is that with respect to the polls regarding minority
perception of responsiveness, perception is not necessarily an accurate reflection of realicy. This was brought to Jight in
the on defendant's cross-examination of Dr. Buss, and the direct examination of Dr. Tuchfarber. (See Tr. Vol. I at 276-77;
Supplemental Transcript of Tuchfarber Testimony, at 29-30). While perceptions may indeed influence the conduct of
those who hold them, the Senate Report calls not for perceptions of responsiveness, but for evidence that there actually
exists a significant lack of responsiveness. In addition, even if the perceptions are accurate, it is not clear from the
evidence presented in this case whether the representatives are insensitive to minority concerns, or are not concerned
with the poor in the area. It would certainly be interesting to see poll results broken down by the respondents’ economic
level and race to see if poor whites in the area respond similarly to poor blacks, and if middle-class whites and blacks
respond similarly.

11. The majority opinion recognizes that some courts have applied the preconditions in cases in which a majority vote
was not required to win the election, but distinguishes them because those cases "involved challenges to multi-member
districting and therefore are not relevant to the issues presented in this case." (Opinion at 15 n.2). The majority does not
explain, however, why the analysis should be different in a challenge to a single-member district plan. Several cases are
relevant in this regard. In McNeil v. Springfield Park Dist., 851 F.2d 937 (7th Cir. 1988), cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1031, 104 L.
Ed. 2d 204,109 S. Ct. 1769 (1989), the Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit, in requiring plaintiffs to meet the Gingles
preconditions and in rejecting the influence claim, stated that "courts might be flooded by the most marginal section 2
claims if plaintiffs had to show only that an electoral practice or procedure weakened their ability to influence elections.”
Id. at 947; accord Skorepa v. City of Chula Vista, 723 F. Supp. 1384, 1391 (S.D. Cal. 1989). Similarly, in Brewer v. Ham, 876
F.2d 448 (5th Cir. 1989), the Fifth Circuit applied the numerosity precondition to a challenge to an at-large feature of the
election system. The court held, "If the minority group is dispersed throughout the electoral district or is so small in
proportion to the electorate as a whole, such that even under a single-member districting plan the minority is not assured
the power to elect representatives of its choice, the at-large feature of the election system, by itself, cannot be said to
violate Section 2." Id. at 455.

12. Judge Guy noted that under the plaintiffs' plan, the defendant would be subject to a claim by the blacks remaining in
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District 52 after the redistricting who have lost voting strength. He stated: For all practical purposes, plaintiffs seek to
remove all the blacks from District 52 and put them in a newly structured District 53 which would be slightly reduced in
population, thus further increasing black voting strength. It would also mean that in District 52 as reconstructed blacks
would have little or no voting strength or influence. In other words, plaintiffs seek to change two "maybe" districts into
one sure winner and one likely loser. I am not suggesting this intent is evil, but [ do suggest that if, for example, the
legislature or an apportionment commission made a division of this nature, the few blacks left isolated in District 52
would certainly have a legitimate right to complain. Armour, at *10 (Guy, ., dissenting).

13. These figures differ slightly from the figures offered in Dr. Buss's testimony. He stated that 12,608 or 11.4 percent of
the population in the 52nd District is black, (Tr. Vol. T at 33), and that 23,768 or 21.1 percent of the population in the 53rd

District is black. (Tr. Vol. I at 33). Nevertheless, T shall utilize the figures of the majority for the sake of consistency.
14. Tnote in passing that the majority's reference to a violation of the Ohio Constitution is wholly irrelevant to the issues
presented in this case. Whether districts other than 52 and 53 were drawn in order to create or maintain black majorities

is completely irrelevant to these plaintiffs' challenge of the line dividing the 52nd and 53rd Districts.

15. Because I find that neither Section 2 nor the Fifteenth Amendment has been violated, I have no occasion to address

the majority's conclusion that blacks could elect candidates of their choice in a reconfigured district.

Free Legal Ressarch for Anyone, Anytime, Anywhere www.anylaw.com




e A 2R e QRIRI2 IR Moo Y63 Fritet: @WABIZZ 1N off 3. FRape D#E: 515
Supreme Court of Ohio Clerk of Court - Filed October 22, 2021 - Case No. 2021-1210

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF OHIO EXHIBIT

LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS C

OF OHIO, et al.,

Relators, Case No. 2021-1193
V.

OHIO REDISTRICTING
COMMISSION, et al.,

Respondents.

BRIA BENNETT, et al.,

Relators, Case No. 2021-1198
V.

OHIO REDISTRICTING
COMMISSION, et al.,

Respondents.

THE OHIO ORGANIZING
COLLABORATIVE, et al.,

Relators, Case No. 2021-1210

V.

OHIO REDISTRICTING
COMMISSION, et al.,

Respondents.

STIPULATION OF EVIDENCE
(deposition transcript and exhibits)

Volume 3 of 7 (pages 00452 - 00832)

(counsel listing on next page)


carolyn
Exhibit


e A 22 s AOR2 RN [Dooc#H: Y63 Fieet: @UABIZZ 2 aif D). FReyd D#HE: SBH

Freda J. Levenson (0045916)
ACLU of Ohio Foundation, Inc.
4506 Chester Avenue
Cleveland, Ohio 44103

Tel: 614-586-1972 x 125
flevenson@acluohio.org

David J. Carey (0088787)

ACLU of Ohio Foundation, Inc.
1108 City Park Avenue, Suite 203
Columbus, OH 43206

(614) 586-1972 x2004
dcarey@acluohio.org

Alora Thomas*

Kelsey Miller*

Julie A. Ebenstein*

American Civil Liberties Union
125 Broad Street

New York, NY 10004

(212) 519-7866
athomas@aclu.org
jebenstein@aclu.org

Robert D. Fram (PHV 25414-2021)
Donald Brown*

Joshua Gonzalez (PHV 25424-2021)
Juliana Goldrosen (PHV 25193-2021)
David Denuyl (PHV 25452-2021)
COVINGTON & BURLING LLP
Salesforce Tower

415 Mission Street, Suite 5400

San Francisco, CA 94105-2533
(415) 591 6000

rfram@cov.com

DAVE YOST

OHIO ATTORNEY GENERAL
Bridget C. Coontz (0072919)
Julie M. Pfeiffer (0069762)
30 E. Broad Street
Columbus, OH 43215

Tel: (614) 466-2872

Fax: (614) 728-7592
bridget.coontz@ohioago.gov
julie.pfeiffer@ohioago.gov

Counsel for Respondents

Governor Mike DeWine,

Secretary of State Frank LaRose, and
Auditor Keith Faber

W. Stuart Dornette (0002955)

Beth A. Bryan (0082076)

Philip D. Williamson (0097174)
TAFT STETTINIUS & HOLLISTER LLP
425 Walnut St., Suite 1800
Cincinnati, Ohio 45202-3957

T: (513) 381-2838
dornette@taftlaw.com
bryan@taftlaw.com
pwilliamson@taftlaw.com

Phillip J. Strach (PHV 25444-2021)
Thomas A. Farr (PHV 25461-2021)
John E. Branch, III (PHV 25460-2021)
Alyssa M. Riggins (PHV 25441-2021)

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP

4140 Parklake Ave., Suite 200
Raleigh, North Carolina 27612
phil.strach@nelsonmullins.com
tom.farr@nelsonmullins.com
john.branch@nelsonmullins.com
alyssa.riggins@nelsonmullins.com
T: (919) 329-3812

Counsel for Respondents
Senate President Matt Huffman and
House Speaker Robert Cupp



ez A 22 o AORR2 RN [Dooc#H: Y63 Fidet: MUABIZZ? Baif3HD. FRay D#HE: S8

James Smith*

Megan C. Keenan (PHV 25410-2021)

L. Brady Bender (PHV 25192-2021)

Alexander Thomson (PHV 25462-2021)

COVINGTON & BURLING LLP
One CityCenter

850 Tenth Street, NW
Washington, DC 20001-4956
(202) 662-6000
mkeenan@cov.com

Anupam Sharma (PHV 25418-2021)
James Hovard (PHV 25420-2021)
Yale Fu (PHV 25419-2021)
COVINGTON & BURLING LLP

3000 El Camino Real

5 Palo Alto Square, 10th Floor

Palo Alto, CA 94306-2112

(650) 632-4700

asharma@cov.com

Madison Arent*

COVINGTON & BURLING LLP
The New York Times Building
620 Eighth Avenue

New York, NY 10018-1405
(212) 841 1000
marent@cov.com

Counsel for Relators
League of Women Voters et al.
*Pro Hac Vice Motion Forthcoming

Abha Khanna (PHV 2189-2021)
Ben Stafford (PHV 25433-2021)
ELIAS LAW GROUP

1700 Seventh Ave, Suite 2100
Seattle, WA 98101
akhanna@elias.law
bstafford@elias.law

T: (206) 656-0176

F: (206) 656-0180

John Gilligan (Ohio Bar No. 0024542)
Diane Menashe (Ohio Bar No. 0070305)
ICE MILLER LLP

250 West Street, Suite 700

Columbus, Ohio 43215
John.Gilligan@icemiller.com
Diane.Menashe@icemiller.com

Counsel for Respondents
Senator Vernon Sykes and
House Minority Leader Emilia Sykes

DAVE YOST

OHIO ATTORNEY GENERAL

Erik J. Clark (Ohio Bar No. 0078732)
Ashley Merino (Ohio Bar No. 0096853)
ORGAN LAW LLP

1330 Dublin Road

Columbus, Ohio 43215

T: (614) 481-0900

F: (614) 481-0904
ejclark@organlegal.com
amerino@organlegal.com

Special Counsel to Ohio Attorney General
Dave Yost

Counsel for Respondent
Ohio Redistricting Commission



ez A 22 s OR2 IR0 [Doc#: Y63 Fieet: @UABIZZ Aaif3HD. FReayd D#HE: 5528

Aria C. Branch (PHV 25435-2021)
Jyoti Jasrasaria (PHV 25401-2021)
Spencer W. Klein (PHV 25432-2021)
EL1AS LAW GROUP

10 G St NE, Suite 600
Washington, DC 20002
abranch@elias.law
jjasrasaria(@elias.law
sklein@elias.law

T: (202) 968-4490

F: (202) 968-4498

Donald J. McTigue* (Ohio Bar No. 0022849)
*Counsel of Record

Derek S. Clinger (Ohio Bar No. 0092075)
MCTIGUE & CoLoMBO LLC

545 East Town Street

Columbus, OH 43215
dmctigue@electionlawgroup.com
dclinger@electionlawgroup.com

T: (614) 263-7000

F: (614) 368-6961

Counsel for Relators
Bria Bennett et al.

Peter M. Ellis (0070264)

Counsel of Record
M. Patrick Yingling (PHV 10145-2021)
REED SMITH LLP
10 South Wacker Drive, 40th Floor
Chicago, IL 60606
Tel: (312) 207-1000
Fax: (312) 207-6400
pellis@reedsmith.com
mpyingling@reedsmith.com



ez A 22 a2 RN [Dooc#H: Y63l Fidet: @UABIZZZ Saif 3D, FRayd DH: 582D

Brad A. Funari (PHV 3139-2021)
Danielle L. Stewart (0084086)
REED SMITH LLP

225 Fifth Avenue

Pittsburgh, PA 15222

Tel: 412-288-4583

Fax: 412-288-3063
bfunari@reedsmith.com
dstewart@reedsmith.com

Brian A. Sutherland (PHV 25406-2021)
REED SMITH LLP

101 Second Street, Suite 1800

San Francisco, CA 94105

Tel: (415) 543-8700

Fax: (415) 391-8269
bsutherland@reedsmith.com

Ben R. Fliegel (PHV 25411-2021)
REED SMITH LLP

355 South Grand Avenue, Suite 2900
Los Angeles, CA 90071

Tel: (213) 457-8000

Fax: (213) 457-8080
bfliegel@reedsmith.com

Alicia L. Bannon (PHV 25409-2021)
Yurij Rudensky (PHV 25422-2021)
Michael Li (PHV 25430-2021)*
Ethan Herenstein (PHV 25429-2021)
BRENNAN CENTER FOR JUSTICE

AT NYU SCHOOL OF LAW

120 Broadway, Suite 1750

New York, NY 10271

Tel: (646) 292-8310

Fax: (212) 463-7308
alicia.bannon@nyu.edu

Counsel for Relators
Ohio Organizing Collaborative et al.
*Pro Hac Vice Motion Forthcoming



e A 22 s AORB2 RN [Doc#H: Y63 Fidet: MWABIZZ? Gaif 3D, FReaypd D#H: 580

STIPULATION OF EVIDENCE
(deposition transcript and exhibits)

Volume 3 of 7 (pages 00452 - 00832)
Index of Documents

Date Description Page Number

10/19/2021 Transcript of deposition of Ray DiRossi DEPO_00452-714

Exhibits to DiRossi deposition transcript DEPO_00715-832




e A 22 s AOR2 RN [Doc#H: Y63 Fidet: @WABIZZZ 77 aif 3. FRenped DA SEHL

Planet Depos’

We Make It Happen™

Transcript of Ray DiRossI

Date: October 19, 2021
Case: League of Women Voters of Ohio, et al. -v- Ohio Redistricting Comm., et al.

Planet Depos
Phone: 888.433.3767

Email: transcripts@planetdepos.com

www.planetdepos.com

WORLDWIDE COURT REPORTING & LITIGATION TECHNOLOGY

DEPO_00452


mailto:transcripts@planetdepos.com
mailto:transcripts@planetdepos.com

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

ez A 22 a2 RN [Dooc#H: Y63 Fidet: MWABIZ? Baif3HD. FReaypd DH: 56D

SUPREME COURT OF OHIO

LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS OF
OHIO, et al.,

Relators, Case No.: 2021-1193
vs. 2021-1198
OHIO REDISTRICTING 2021-1210

COMMISSION, et al.,

Respondents.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF RAY DIROSSI
October 19, 2021
7:05 a.m.

Conducted Virtually

REPORTED BY:

Tammy Moon, CSR No. 13184, RMR, CRR

DEPO_00453



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

e A 22 s AOR2 RN [Dooc#H: Y63 Fieet: MUWABIZ? Daif3HD. FReayed D#H: 5838

Transcript of Ray DiRossi
Conducted on October 19, 2021

Videotaped Deposition of RAY DIROSSI, Conducted
Virtually, beginning at 7:05 a.m. Pacific Standard
Time, on October 19, 2021, before TAMMY MOON,

Certified Shorthand Reporter No. 13184, RMR, CRR.

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

DEPO_00454




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Cresse: A 22 s THF2 AN [ooc#: Y63l Friket: @UWABIZZ 1D aif 30, e D#E: 5681

Transcript of Ray DiRossi
Conducted on October 19, 2021

REMOTE APPEARANCES:
FOR THE LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS OF OHIO, et al.,
RELATORS:

COVINGTON & BURLING LLP
BY: MEGAN KEENAN, ESOQ.
850 Tenth St., NW
Washington, DC 20001-4956
202.662.6000
Mkeenan@cov.com

FOR THE LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS OF OHIO, et al.,
RELATORS:

COVINGTON & BURLING LLP

BY: JULIANA GOLDROSEN, ESQ.

BY: ROBERT FRAM, ESQ.

BY: DAVID STANTON, ESQ.

BY: YALE FU, ESQ.

415 Mission St., Ste 5400

San Francisco, California 94105-2533
415.591.6000

Rfram@cov.com

FOR OHIO ORGANIZING COLLABORATIVE, RELATORS:

REED SMITH, LLP

BY: BRAD A. FUNARI, ESQ.

225 Fifth Ave.

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222
412.288.3124
Bfunari@reedsmith.com

FOR OHIO LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS, RELATORS:

ACLU OF OHIO FOUNDATION, INC.
BY: FREDA LEVENSON, ESQ.
4506 Chester Ave.

Cleveland, Ohio 44103
Flevenson@acluohio.org

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

DEPO_00455




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Cresse: A 22 s THH2 IR0\ [Dooc#: Y63l Frieet: MWABIZZ 111 aff 30. ARaged D#E: 5685

Transcript of Ray DiRossi
Conducted on October 19, 2021

REMOTE APPEARANCES:
FOR OHIO LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS, RELATORS:

ACLU of Ohio Foundation, Inc.
BY: DAVID CAREY, ESQ.

1108 City Park Ave, Ste 203
Columbus, Ohio 43206
Dcarey@acluohio.org

FOR OHIO LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS, RELATORS:

AMERTICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION
BY: ALORA THOMAS, ESQ.

125 Broad St.

New York, New York 10004
212.519.7866
Athomas@acluohio.org

FOR BRIA BENNETT, et al., RELATORS:

ELTAS LAW GROUP

BY: SPENCER KLEIN, ESQ.
BY: RAISA CRAMER, ESQ.
700 13th St NW #600
Washington, DC 20005
202.968.4509
Sklein@elias.law

FOR BRENNAN CENTER FOR JUSTICE OHIO ORGANIZING
COLLABORATIVE, et al.:

BRENNAN CENTER FOR JUSTICE
BY: ALICIA BANNON, ESQ.
120 Broadway, Ste 1750

New York, New York 10271

FOR RESPONDENT OHIO ATTORNEY GENERAL ON OHIO
REDISTRICTING COMMISSION:

ORGAN LAW LLP

BY: ERIK J. CLARK, ESQ.
1330 Dublin Rd.
Columbus, Ohio 43215
614.481.0908
Ejclark@organlegal.com

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

DEPO_00456




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Cresse: A 22 s THF2 IR0\ [Dooc#: Y63l Frieet: MWABIZZ 12 aff 30. AR D#E: 555

Transcript of Ray DiRossi
Conducted on October 19, 2021

REMOTE APPEARANCES:

FOR RESPONDENTS SENATE PRESIDENT MATT HUFFMAN AND
HOUSE SPEAKER BOB CUFF:

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP
BY: PHILLTIP STRACH, ESOQ.

BY: ALYSSA RIGGINS, ESQ.

BY: JOHN BRANCH, ESOQ.

4140 Parklake Ave, Ste 200

Raleigh, North Carolina 27612
919.329.3887

FOR RESPONDENTS SENATOR VERNON SYKES AND LEADER
AMELIA SYKES:

ICE MILLER, LLC

BY: DIANE MENASHE, ESQ.
Arena District

250 West St., Ste 700
Columbus, Ohio 43215-7509
614.221.6500
Diane.menashe@icemiller.com

FOR RESPONDENTS OHIO GOVERNOR DEWINE, OHIO SECRETARY
OF STATE LAROSE, AND OHIO AUDITOR FABER:

ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFICE

BY: BRIDGET COONTZ, ESOQ.

BY: JULIE PFEIFFER, ESQ.

BY: MICHAEL WALTON, ESQ.
Constitutional Offices Section

30 E. Broad St., 16th Flr

Columbus, Ohio 43215

614.466.2872
Bridget.Coontz@OhioAttorneyGeneral.gov

ALSO PRESENT: BRENDAN CASE, VIDEOGRAPHER

MICHAEL PIETANZA, THE REMOTE TECHNICIAN

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

DEPO_00457




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Cresse: A 22 e TS2 IR0\ [ooc#: Y63l Frieet: MUWABIZZ NBaif 380, FReg D#E: 58317

Transcript of Ray DiRossi
Conducted on October 19, 2021

EXAMINATION
MR. FRAM
MR. KLEIN

MR. FUNARI

MS. MENASHE

INDEX TO EXAMINATION
RAY DIROSSI

Tuesday, October 19, 2021

Tammy Moon CSR No. 13184, RPR, CRR

WITNESS: RAY DIROSSI

PAGE

10

148

167

201

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

DEPO_00458




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Cesse: 4 22 axx QX2 IR0 [DoucH: Y63l Fibst: MWABIZZ 1WA aif 3D, ARy D#: 5538
Transcript of Ray DiRossi
Conducted on October 19, 2021 7
INDEX TO EXHIBITS
RAY DIROSSI
Tuesday, October 19, 2021
Tammy Moon CSR No. 13184, RPR, CRR
MARKED DESCRIPTION PAGE
Exhibit 1 2021 Ten-year look back 83
Exhibit 2 Article XI, Section 8(C) (2) 95
Statement
Exhibit 3 Bates-stamped pages 112
SOs 001461-1524
Exhibit 4 Map: Hamilton County area 114
districts
Exhibit 5 Map: Montgomery County 122
Exhibit 6 Ohio Redistricting Commission 133
hearing 9/9/2021
Exhibit 7 Article XI, Section 6: Additional 151
district standards
Exhibit 8 Ohio Redistricting Commission 195
hearing transcript 9.15.2021

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

DEPO_00459



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Cresse: A 22 o THF2 IR0\ [Dooc#: Y63l Frieet: MUWABIZZ 15 aif 30. AR D#H#: 563D

Transcript of Ray DiRossi
Conducted on October 19, 2021 8

QUESTIONS INSTRUCTED NOT TO ANSWER

PAGE LINE

109 18

171 19

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

DEPO_00460



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Cresse: A 22 s THF2 IR0\ [Dooc#: Y63l Frieet: MWABIZZ 16 aif3H0. FRage D#H#E: 5610

Transcript of Ray DiRossi
Conducted on October 19, 2021

Tuesday, October 19, 2021, 7:05 a.m. PST
-—--00o---

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Here begins the wvideo
deposition of Ray DiRossi in the matter of the
League of Women Voters of Ohio, et al., wvs. Ohio
Redistricting Commission, et al., in the Supreme
Court of Ohio, Case Numbers 2021-19 -- 1193 and
2021-1198 and 2021-1210.

Today's date is Tuesday, October 19, 2021.
The time on the monitor is 7:05 a.m. Pacific time.
Your videographer of the day is Brendan Case
representing Planet Depos. This video deposition is
taking place remotely via Zoom video teleconference.

Would counsel present please identify
themselves and state whom they represent.

MR. FRAM: Robert Fram, Covington &
Burling, for the League of Women Voters, Relators.

MR. FUNARI: Brad Funari on behalf of the
Ohio Organizing Collaborative, et al., with Reed
Smith. And this is Case Number 2021-1210.

MR. KLEIN: Spencer Klein, Elias Law Group,
on behalf of the Bennett relators.

MR. CLARK: Eric Clark on behalf of the
Ohio Redistricting Commission.

MR. STRACH: Phil Strach, Nelson Mullins,

PLANET DEPOS
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on behalf of Respondents Cupp and Huffman.
MS. MENASHE: Diane Menashe on behalf of
Respondents Senator Sykes and Leader Amelia Sykes.
THE VIDEOGRAPHER: If no one else will be
introducing themselves, the court reporter today is
Tammy Moon representing Planet Depos.
Will the reporter please swear in the
witness.
RAY DIROSST,
called as a witness, having been duly
sworn, testified as follows:

THE WITNESS: I do.

EXAMINATION
MR. FRAM:
0. Good morning, Mr. DiRossi.
A. Good morning.
0. Hi. This is Robert Fram from Covington for

the League of Women Voters, Relators.
And I just want to ask you to please state
your full name for the record.
A. Raymond Edward DiRossi.
0. Thank you.
Any reason you can't give full and truthful
testimony today?

A. No.

PLANET DEPOS
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Q. I know you've been deposed before. We met
before trial. So if you know how this works, we'll
just say a couple of the basics just to refresh.

And that is, I'm going to ask my question
and ask you please let me finish the question before
answering. And I'm going to do my best not to
interrupt you when you're providing your answer sSo
we have a nice clean record of the questions and the
answers.

Do you understand that?

A. I do.

Q. Great. And there may be objections from
time to time from your counsel. Hopefully not too
many. But if there are, it's just an objection.

The way it works is you should go ahead and provide

an answer unless your counsel instructs you not to

answer.
Do you understand that?
A. I do.
Q. Great. I'd like to ask you: What -- what

did you do to prepare for this deposition?

A. Upon receiving -- or being notified that a
subpoena had been received by my wife, I talked to
my attorneys about what I needed to do to be -- to

respond.

PLANET DEPOS
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And I searched all of the available
computers and other emails and so forth that I had
at my -- that were in my possession and, you know,
to turn over everything that I could that was
responsive.

0. Did that include -- was Maptitude -- the
software Maptitude on one of the computers you
looked at?

A. It was.

Q. And did you provide any files -- Maptitude
files over to your counsel?

A. I -—- I believe the -- the final maps that
were adopted by the redistricting commission, I
believe, were -- were provided.

Q. Did you have any other Maptitude files,
other than the final maps, on your computer?

A. I -- sir, I gave to the attorneys
everything that -- and turned over everything that
they told me to turn over.

Q. But I asked did you recall whether you

provided any Maptitude files, other than the final

maps?
A. I think I had some gquestions about what was
responsive. And so when I had gquestions about

things like that, I consulted with my attorneys

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

DEPO_00464

Cresse: A 22 o THS2 IR0\ [Dooc#: Y63l Frieet: MUWABIZZ 1D aif3HD. AR D#H#E: 5613

07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:
07:

07:

08

08

09:

09:

09:

09:

09:

09:

09:

09:

09:

09:

09:

09:

09:

09:

09:

09:

09:

09:

09:

10

10

10

10

:51

: 54

00

02

05

05

14

19

19

21

24

26

36

39

41

47

48

54

55

57

59

:02

:02

:06

:09



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Transcript of Ray DiRossi
Conducted on October 19, 2021

13

about what would be responsive.

Q. Right. And after consulting -- I'm not
asking you to tell me what the conversations with
your lawyers were, but just asking what you did.

After that was over, do you remember
providing them any Maptitude files other than the

final map?

A. Not that I recall sitting here today, no.
Q. On your computer -- let me back up for a
minute.

When you're talking about your computer,
you're talking about your -- your laptop or
something that sits in an office? What -- what
computer are we talking about you were looking at?

A. I -- I looked at a number of devices that
had, both personal, my state equipment. The
computers that were purchased specifically for the
redistricting task and email accounts, both state
and private.

So every -- I looked at all those.

Q. Okay. And which computer -- or computers

was the Maptitude software on?

I

A. It was on a PC computer.

Q. Okay. And where was that located?

A. That was in the redistricting office.
PLANET DEPOS
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Q. Okay. And do you use that, say, computer
with -- when you were drawing maps? Is that the one
that has the Maptitude on it?

A. Yeah, that was -- that was the one that had
the Maptitude software on it.

Q. And just so I understand, when you have
Maptitude -- we talked about this last time you
testified. When you're using Maptitude, so you can
get different kinds of information, can appear in a
pop-up window up next to a district you've drawn.
Isn't that right?

A. You could -- I think you could customize
layouts however you would choose to.

Q. Right. And -- and you drew these maps.

Did you have such a pop-up window which you'd
customize some information?

A. What do you mean by a "pop-up window"? I'm
a little confused by that.

Q. You know, you know how Maptitude works.
You can see the district and then you can get
information -- can appear in a window or a pop-up Or
whatever you want to call it, next to that district.
Isn't that right?

A. I mean, it wasn't a pop-up window, but

there was a -- there was a -- there was another
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window that displayed district information.

Q. Okay. Would you prefer if I called it a
"display window" rather than a "pop-up window"?

A. Sure.

Q. Okay. We'll call it the "display window."

Did you have a display window next to a

district when you were drawing a map?

A. Yes. There -- there was always a display

window that showed the district numbers and so

forth.
Q. Right. And part of that display window,
would that include the -- some information about

voting history in the district that you have drawn?

A. I don't understand what you mean by "voting
history."
Q. Any information about how many voters in

that district had voted republican versus how many

voted democrat?

A. I -- can you —-- can you state that again?
Sorry.
0. Sure. Is there any information, in that

display window, about how many voters in that
district that you had just drawn had voted
republican and how many voted democrat?

A. I -- I don't recall that information being
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in the -- in the display window.

Q. Was there any of that information in
Maptitude at all?

A. Was there any information in Maptitude?

Q. About -- about how many voters had voted
democrat versus how many voted republican.

A. I mean, the display window is primarily
district numbers, population, deviations from
population. The things -- those were the things
that I was really focused on.

Q. Okay. But was there any information --
this is primarily about that, but was there also
information about -- any -- any information about

how people had voted republican or democrat?

A. There -- there -- there was information
later -- later in the process that the -- this --
this was a -- a long saga of getting this to work

properly and it took a lot of time.

So, eventually, we did have information
that was displaying some of the leanings of
districts.

Q. Okay. And then when you say "leanings,"
you meant how many people had voted republican and
versus —-- and how many had voted democrat? Is that

what you mean?
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A. Yeah. I'm getting caught up with your "how
many people.”" I don't -- I don't understand the

data to be the number of people, but --

Q. Okay. The number of voters --
A. -- that's why I'm getting caught up on your
question.
0. Fair enough.
Number of vote -- number -- did you have

any information about the number of democrat votes
and number of republican votes in the district?

A. Again, the number of votes -- the number of
votes, I don't think, was ever displayed.

0. How about the percentage of votes; the
percentage republican votes and the percentage of
democrat votes?

A. I do think there was -- there was some
percentages that showed republican leanings or
democratic leanings.

Q. Okay. And that would appear in a display

window or how would that appear?

A. Yes.
Q. Display window?
A. Again, along with everything else I talked

about, the district numbers, the populations, the

deviations, the ideal population targets.
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Everything else set is constitutionally required.

Q. So just so I got it. I appreciate all the
other information is there also. There's more than
one thing in the display window.

But I just want to focus on this percentage
republican and percentage democrat votes in a
district as you're drawing the district.

Now, if you change the district lines,
would those percentages change?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And -- well, I appreciate your
clarifying that.

Now, is that information some of the -- in
any of the files you provided to counsel, were those
displayed --

(Reporter clarification.)

Q. Were any of the districts, with display
windows, that had the republican/democrat
percentages, was any of that in the materials you
provided to counsel?

A. I -—- I don't think I can speak to that.

I -—- I'm not an expert on Maptitude and its -- and
how it exports files and what or what would not be
included.

Q. So you -- did you provide the full file to
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counsel, whether you're not sure whether it was

exported or not? Is that the -- that's what you're
saying?
A. We had prepared block -- what are known as

block assignment files for the districts and some
other information for the districts that were

adopted by the redistricting commission.

Q. All right.

A. That's what I'm referring to.

0. Okay. You --

A. Could I ask a question just logistics?
Q. Sure.

A. Apologies. 1I've never -- I know you've

salid we've done this before, but I've never done
this by video. Am I supposed to be looking at this

camera or this camera or speaking into -- what's the

MR. STRACH: Look at this one.

THE WITNESS: This one here?
MR. STRACH: Yeah.
MR. FRAM: Yeah.
THE WITNESS: Okay. Thank you.
MR. FRAM: Not a problem. Any questions
like that, feel free to ask away.
Q. And while we're on the questions of remote
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video, I just -- we're clear for the record that,
just like in a normal deposition, I know your
counsel won't be suggesting answers to you and you
won't be asking. But if anybody provides you with
any information in a text or email or chat or
anything about how to respond to a question, I'd ask

that you please tell us that you got such a text or

video -- or text or any other information?
A. Okay.
0. Well, thank you.

Let me go through this quickly because
we've done it before. But just say a little bit
about your background.

You went -- is it fair to say you went to

Firestone High School in Akron. 1Is that right?

A. I did. I did, yes.

Q. Okay. And then you went --
A. Falcons.

Q. There you go.

And you're from Akron. Is that right?
A. Yes. I was born and raised there, vyes.
Q. Okay. And then after that you went to Ohio
State. 1Is that right?
A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And you got a degree in finance and
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marketing. Is that right?

A. That 1s correct.

Q. Okay. And graduated in 1994. 1Is that
right?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And -- since graduating from Ohio
State, when asked -- let's Jjust walk through the

jobs you had.
What was your first job after getting out
of Ohio State?

A. Well, I was -- I was employed with the Ohio
Senate while I was attending classes at the Ohio
State University.

0. Okay. And then after -- and after that --
after you graduated, what was your first job?

A. My first job, I believe -- I recall -- it
was a few years ago -- I came back to the Ohio
Senate and was employed by the Ohio Senate in '95.

Q. All right.

(Reporter clarification.)

Q. When you were an aide -- were you an aid to
the senator -- when you an aide to a state senator
from the Dayton area?

A. At -- at some point a little bit later,

yes, I -- I was.
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Q. Okay. And do you recall who that senator
was?

A. Sure.

0. And who was that, please?

A. It was Senator Chuck Horn from Kettering.

0. And Mr. Horn was -- was a republican. Is

that right?

A. Yes.
Q. Okay. And did you also work for the
republican caucus -- republican caucus staff in the

senate for tax and economic policy?

A. A little bit later, yes, I did.

Q. And deputy finance director for the
republican caucus and the house of representatives.
Is that right?

A. No.

Q. No, you were not deputy finance director?

Were you finance director?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.

A. You demoted me.

Q. I'm so sorry. I apologize for that. And

then that's all on the house. At some point, did

you go work for the republican caucus on the senate
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side?
A. Yes.
Q. Around 2015. Is that right?
A. Yes.
Q. Okay. Now, in 2008, I think the democrats

took control of the general assembly. Is that

right?
A. I guess I wouldn't say that.
Q. Okay. Did they control either of the

houses in 20087

A. I don't think in 2008. I think the general
assembly was still controlled by the republicans in
the house and senate.

Q. At some point, did the democrats get

control of either house while you were working

there?
A. In -- yes.
Q. Do you recall about when that was?
A. 2009.
Q. 2009. Now, what did you do in 2009 when

the democrats took control of the house?

A. I left the house.
Q. Okay. And -- okay. And what did you do
then?
A. I started my own business and also was
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appointed by a former senate president to a
position -- a boarding commission position with the
Ohio Department of Transportation.

Q. Okay. Now, your business, did that involve

fundraising for republicans?

A. Yes.
Q. And the board of transportation job, you
were appointed that job by Bill Har- -- Senate

President Bill Harris. Is that right?

A. That 1s correct.

Q. And Mr. Harris 1is a republican also. Is
that right?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, what are your current responsibilities
at your job today?

A. I am the finance director in the Ohio

senate, so budget and finance and tax policy.

Q. When did you start on that job?

A. 2015.

Q. Okay. And who pays your salary?

A. The taxpayers.

Q. Okay. But any particular congressional

unit organization office is responsible for
authorizing that?

A. I believe the checks are issued by the
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state treasurer's office.

(Reporter clarification.)

Q. And who do you report to?
A. The chief of staff of the Ohio senate.
0. Okay. And is that -- what's that person's

name, please?

A. John Barron.

Q. To whom does Mr. Barron report, please?

A. I -- the president of the senate.

Q. That would be Mr. Huffman. Is that right?
A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Now, one of your job duties over the

past years was working on drawing the map --
district map for the general assembly. Is that
right?

A. Well, it certainly hasn't been over the

past years because, as you know, we didn't get our

census data until just a couple months ago. So it
was --—

Q. Okay. When did you start?

A. Start doing what?

Q. Working on the map for the general
assembly.

A. That would have been sometime after the

census data was received in August.
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Q. So sometime -- do you recall -- was the
census data received around August 12. Is that
right?

A. That sounds about right. I think -- the

number 134 days late is stuck in my head.

Q. Okay. So you started -- did you do any
work on -- related to preparing to draw those maps
before August 127

A. What do you mean by "work"? I mean, we
didn't have the census data, so —--

Q. Did you look at any information that would
be useful for drawing the maps before August 127

A. Well, obviously, 1if you know anything about
our state budget, I was preoccupied with our binding
operating budget until it was signed by the governor
and put in place on June 30th. So I was -- that was
my main focus as my job duties up and through
June 30th.

Q. Appreciate that was your main focus.

Were you in touch with anyone, say, at Ohio
University about information particularly useful for
drawing the maps?

A. I mean, I don't recall specific
interactions, but I'm sure I touched base with just

trying to understand how they were preparing for the
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census bureau's late arrival of the census data.

Q. By the way, who asked you to work on
drawing the maps?

A. Well, are you talking in general, or are
you talking about a specific time? I'm confused by
your question.

Q. On this year's exercise, drawing the map
for the general assembly, who asked you to work on
that project?

A. In conversations with the president and the
chief of staff, that's how that came about.

Q. Okay. Do you recall when that conversation
took place?

A. I don't.

0. Was it -- I take it, it was before

August 12, though. 1Is that right?

A. Yes, it was before the census data was
received.
Q. Okay. Was it back as early as February,

say, of 20212

A. I -- I don't recall. I don't recall the
specific timeline of that conversation or
conversations.

Q. Okay. Do you recall if that conversation

was 1in person, or was it on the phone, or do you
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recall where -- how it happened?
A. I -—-— I don't recall the specifics of it.
Our offices are all pretty close, so —-
Q. Was anybody --
(Simultaneous colloquy.)
Q. Was anybody -- this is all senate side.

Was anybody from the house side in that

conversation?

A. I -- I don't recall the specifics of that
conversation.

Q. Okay. As you proceeded with your work on
drawing the maps -- and we can talk about after
August 12 -- did you -- to whom did you report about

how the work was going?

A. I would report it to the president of the
senate.
Q. Okay. And did you report with -- well, how

did you report? Was it by phone, or was it by
email, or give them a draft? Tell me how the
reporting went.

A. Well, when I say "reporting," I just mean
verbal updates of what was happening and what I was
seeing. But there was no formal report.

Q. Okay. Did you ever send them an email

about it?
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A. I -- none that I recall specifically
sitting here today.
Q. Did he ever come take a look at the maps or

drawings as you were drawing them on your computer?

A. So are we still pre- -- I'm trying to
understand your timeline. Are we still --
0. After August 12.

(Simultaneous colloquy.)

A. I'm sorry.

Q. I apologize for jumping in.

After August 12, as you were drawing the
maps, did Senate President Huffman ever come over
and take a look at your computer to see how the
districts were going?

A. Yeah. I -- after August 12th, I know the
president was extremely busy with other legislative
duties, so I would -- as I felt that I needed to
interact with him, I would seek him out, either in
person or in any other way, to give him updates on
what I was seeing and working on.

Q. Okay. And would he take a look at your

computer screen as part of your updates?

A. Yes.
0. Okay.
A. As well as conversations and other -- other
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ways.

Q. Right. I just -- the computer, as you sit
right now --

(Reporter clarification.)

Q. You said you were over working -- the
computer you said you looked at was in the office.
When you were drawing the maps, were you drawing
them at the office, or were you in a hotel room?

A. The computer was in my office. And I also
had a number of meetings in the state house about
redistricting in general. Never in a hotel room.

Q. So you didn't rent a room over at the
Marriott -- Courtyard by Marriott?

A. So that I could sleep when I was about to

fall asleep, yes.

Q. But you didn't set it up as a workroom?
A. Absolutely not.
Q. Okay. Now, you were working on that

computer in the office.
Were you -- was anybody else working with
you as you were drawing the maps?
A. There were -- there were two workstations
that were set up. They were side by side. And
there was a gentleman Blake from the house who was

doing the same thing and, you know, working with the
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speaker, reporting to the speaker.

Q. That would be Blake Springhetti. 1Is that
right?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And did you work on -- did you both
work on house district maps or -- how did you divide
it up?

A. Well, there was no specific division, but
we would both work on whatever needed work on. But

obviously, at the end of the day, he was the one
responsible for going back to the speaker and
briefing him and getting his feedback, and I was the
one responsible going to the senate president and
briefing him and getting his feedback.

Q. Right. But you had to work on some house
districts, didn't you, because you created the
senate districts combining of the house districts.
Isn't that right?

A. We would both work on whatever needed to be
worked on. So we both would have worked on house
districts, and we both would have worked on senate
districts.

Q. Okay. Now, you both had the -- the
percentage of republican and democrat votes in the

display window on your computer screens. Is that
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right?

A. I can't speak to how his computer was set
up. Mine was set up with, as I said, all the
district numbers, the populations, the deviations,
the target populations, and any other data, as we've
talked about.

0. And the other data that -- we talked about
the other data did include the republican and
democratic vote percentage in the district as you
had drawn it, correct?

A. Yeah. I think there's a lot of information
that led up to that moment.

So in answering your question, I know there
were a lot of conversations that I wasn't
specifically part of, but I was later told that
members of the senate democratic caucus, the chiefs
of staff for several of the caucuses -- at least
three of the caucuses were working together to try
to come up with some type of agreed-to publicly
available data source that could be used for not
only the computers that I had, but computers that
the senate democrats or maybe the house democrats,
if they chose to participate, would have access to.

0. Thank you.

I want to —--
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A. That's what I'm referring to.
0. Sure. Thank you.

I do want to talk about the source of the
information in just a little bit, but right now, I'm
just focused on what you could actually see -- just
sitting at your computer, what you could see on that
display window.

And you already said part of what you could
see was the democrat/republican percentage in the
district as you've drawn it.

Was that available right from the start
when you started drawing, or is that something that
became available a little later in the work?

A. Yeah. ©No, I appreciate the question.

That was a -- this whole issue of data was
a work in progress, and it was a very challenging
thing from the get-go when the census data was
released.

There was very little information that was
available early on, and it wasn't until, I think,
these conversations with the senate democratic
caucus and the other two republican caucuses yielded
some kind of joint data or read-to publicly
available data sources.

Then it took time to get that on the
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computers and get that up and operational.

Q. And do you recall around when that took
place? Was that before September 1 or after
September 17

A. I refer to a couple different things. Can

you specify which one you're referring to.

Q. Sure. I'll talk about the display window
again. You got the display window. Like you said,
there was a lot of data in it. And like you said,

some of the data was republican and democrat vote
percentages.

My question is, at what -- about when did
the republican/democratic vote percentages start
showing up in the display window? Was it after
September 1 or before September 17

A. Well, I think we have to go back a little
bit, I mean, to kind of walk through this. The
census data came out on whatever day the census data
came out. But I'm -- I assume you're aware that
data, the PL data, then had to go off to our
bipartisan contracted consultant, Ohio University.
And they had access to it for a couple of days, and
they were producing what we called the CURD, which
is the Common Unified Redistricting Database.

And that was then provided back to -- well,
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actually, I think it was made available to the
entire -- entire public. Not just the citizens of
the state, but anybody who had access to the
internet.

That information only had 2020 data in it
and 2020 geography in it. And so once that
happened, I think that's when those conversations
were starting to be had among the three caucuses
about what publicly available information might be
available to supplement the work that I thought all
caucuses were doing.

Q. Okay. So you get the -- let's see if I got
the sequence right.

You get the census data. Then Ohio
University takes a look at it. They give you some
information about elections, but they only give you
2020. Is that right?

A. Sitting here right now, that's my
recollection, that only 2020 was in the Common

Unified Redistricting Database.

0. And then you have further conversations to
get more election data. Is that right?

A. Well, just to be clear, I did not have
those conversations. The -- I -- I am -- was led to

believe or I seem to remember that those
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conversations were happening at a different level.

0. And who led -- who led you to believe that,
which person?

A. I think the legal counsels for the wvarious
caucuses and the chiefs of staff for the various
caucuses and even potentially the attorneys for the
various caucuses were engaged in trying to come to
some agreement on publicly available data.

Q. And who -- who -- anyone talk to you about
all of that?

A. It -- it was happening so fast after the
census data came out and the CURD data came back
from OU, I -- I don't recall the specifics of -- I
just have this recollection that we were waiting on
the caucuses to agree to some publicly available
data source that everybody could use and everybody
would have it so that going forward we could do
comparisons that were apples to apples.

Q. Sure. And at some point, did you get

election data beyond just 20207

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And do you recall about when that
happened?

A. I don't recall a specific date sitting here
today.
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Q. Well, not a specific date. Was it --
ballpark. Was it before September -- was it the
month of September or the month of August?

A. I think it was near the end of August. I
think the conversations must have proven fruitful
and there was some agreement of additional years of
data that everybody could use.

I -—- I -- I seem to remember something with
Dave's redistricting being able to provide some type
of Ohio geography for some additional years that

everybody was 1in agreement could be used.

Q. Did you get that data from any consultant
or —- well, let's talk.
What was the -- what was the source of

election data? You said Dave's might have been one.
What else?

A. I -- I don't -- since I wasn't involved in
those conversations, I can't -- I can't say for
absolute certainty. That's my recollection sitting
here.

0. Okay. Your recollection is that it was

Dave's. Is that right?

A. For '1l8 and 'l6 data, yes. That's my
recollection.
Q. What about data for any other election, do
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you have any recollection?

A. I -- I think Dave's redistricting was only
-— I -- I think Dave's redistricting and the
conversations with the other caucuses was only

fruitful for 'l1l6 and '18.

Q. Did you get any data for 2012 or 20142

A. Not from any publicly available sources,
no.

Q. Did you get it from 2012 or 2014 from any

source, publicly or not?

A. I think -- I think later in the process,
now probably getting into September or close to
September, there was some -- some data for would --
I guess it would have been '1l2 and '14.

Q. And do you -- do you know what the source
is for that data-?

MR. STRACH: Objection as to the -- Rob,
what do you mean by "data"?

MR. FRAM: Well, he just said he got some
data from the 2012 and 2014 elections at some point
in September.

Thank you for helping me be more precise on
that one.

Q. So for that 2012 and 2014 data that you got

sometime in September, do you recall where it came
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from?
A. I don't.
Q. Okay. But at some point you have it. Let

me ask you a question what you did with the data
that you got.

First, I'll start with the Ohio University
data.

Could that be loaded into a Maptitude so it
can be -- so that information could appear in -- in
a display window?

A. Again, I -- I am not a data -- yes. The
current data, using that word loosely, can be
incorporated into Maptitude as it was. But I don't
have the technical expertise or knowledge to know
how that happened or how that happens.

Q. Sure. I'm not asking you for that. I'm
just asking whether you know, however they got it
done, whatever computer wizardry took place, that
somehow or another that Ohio University current data
did wind up in Maptitude. Is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And the same thing --

(Simultaneous colloquy.)

A. Yeah. The current data -- I'm sorry. The

current data being the geography, the population of
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the counties, the population of all of our units of
geography in the state, municipal corporations or
townships and all the other units of geography as
well. Yes, that data.
And then I think 2020 election results.
Q. Right. And the -- and by the way, we
talked about Dave's and we're being formal there.

We might as well state it for the record. What is

Dave's?

A. I mean, I -- I can't answer that for sure.
It's an -- it's a website.

Q. It's a website that has information --
election information. Is that right?

A. I did not use Dave's Redistricting. I

can't speak to that.

Q. Yeah. The -- let me put it this way. The
Dave's -- the election data that you think came from
Dave's, that also found its way, one way or the
other, into Maptitude. Is that right?

A. That -- that is my understanding, that the
publicly available data for '1l8 and 'l6, after an
agreement among the three caucuses, was able to be
incorporated into people's machines, yes.

Q. So now we've got election data for 'l6, '18

and '20 in Maptitude. Is that right, at some point
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in September?
A. I -- again, I'm not sure on the time lines.

But at some point, you said, yes.

Q. At some point in September, sir. I'm not
asking for a specific date. Just wanted to know
that -- whether it happened or not?

A. Sitting here, I'm not sure if it was late

August or if it was early September.

0. Okay.

A. That -- that was a very -- a very busy
time, as you can imagine.

Q. Sure. And -- and you said, at some point,
additional information, nonpublic election
information was provided to you. Is that right, for
2012 and 20147

A. At some point.

Q. Okay. And that information was also

included in Maptitude. Is that right, at some

point?

A. At -- at -- some point. Again, much later.
Yes. We're getting close to -- to, you know, the
first week of -- first week of September now.

0. Sure. So sometime before, say,

September 9. Is that right?

A. I don't know. It was -- it was -- it might
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have been right around then. Maybe a few days
before.

Q. Okay. And just so I understand how it
looks on the display window, did you see all the
different election results or was there some kind of
a composite average that appeared in the display
window for these election results?

A. Can you -- can you elaborate on what you
mean by "composite™"?

Q. Sure. You said you had 2020 election, then
you got 2016 and 2018, and then you got 2012 and
2014. I'm just trying to understand what the --
just physically what it looks like, what this window
looks like.

Are you seeing all these elections and the
percentages for all of them or are they all rolled
up into one kind of an average?

A. Well, again, at various stages in the time
that I think we've just discussed, we didn't
necessarily have many of these. So, obviously,
there was no composite rolled up into one.

And then, you know, in addition to all of
these time lines, one of my frustrations not being a
data -- a data, you know, expert, Jjust because it's

been received as a file of some type, it doesn't
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mean it's operational on a computer. That took
time.

So the -- the amount of time and effort it
took to put into the software and make it actually
work took a lot of time as well. So -- so that's --
I'm just giving you that background for these dates
that I'm talking about.

Some of these dates, I'm referring to the
dates the data might have been received, but doesn't
mean that it was necessarily operational for a
while.

Q. Sure. I appreciate that.

Once it's operational, I'm just trying to
understand what it looks like. That's all I'm
trying to get a picture of here.

So in the very beginning, you've just got
one election, says "2020," and there's no reason for
a composite.

Then after a little bit of time, we're
getting close to the end of August, maybe beginning
of September. You've got 2016 and 2018 election

data, as well as 2020, if I understand. Is that

right?
A. I'm sorry. Could you repeat that?
Q. I said by 2016 -- by sometime in early
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September, you've got election data for 2016,
2018 --
(Reporter clarification.)
Q. By sometime in early September, you had

election data for 2020, 2018, and 2016. 1Isn't that

right?

A. Can you say those years again, please. I'm
sorry.

Q. Sure. 2020, 2018, 2016.

A. So when you say those years, what I think
of is that -- that is the data set, the election

results and the corresponding geography that was
agreed to with the -- the other members that -- the

senate democrat caucus.

Q. Sure.

A. That -- is that what you are referring to?
0. Yes, sir.

A. Okay. And your question is?

Q. That you had all three of those years in

the election data and you had it by early September.
Is that right?

A. I believe so, yes.

Q. Okay. And now my question is: When you
had all three elections, how did that appear in the

display window?
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Did you see separate lines for each
election or was it any kind of composite average in
the display window?

A. I -- I would have had it set up for --
those years that you just asked about, would have
displayed as one number.

0. One number. Okay.

And you create that number just by a simple
average of the election -- of the data for each of
the three years? Or do you recall how do you set

that number up?

A. Well, that's getting into something that --
I didn't do those calculations. So I -- I can't
speak to how that was done. I know it was done to

try to mimic what the senate democrat map, when they

put their map out and they used that same data set,

they were displaying it as one number. And so we
were trying to mimic that internally. Or at
least -- at least I was.

Q. Got it. Do you know who did the -- who set

up that data calculation in Maptitude? Was there a
technical person who worked with you?

A. I had access to data consultants that I
could ask when I was over my head on a technical or

a data issue.
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0. Sure. Were those technical consultants —--
do they work with the Ohio legislature, or were they
outside consultants? Were they employees or outside
consultants?

A. They did not work for the Ohio legislature.
Well, let me -- let me say I don't know. Because I
don't know how they were paid, and I don't know what
-- there was a lot of money that was being approved
on a bipartisan basis to fund the operations of both
the majority and minority efforts.

And I guess I should retract that.

I don't know how they were paid, and I

don't know if that money -- I don't know how that --
Q. Sure.
A. I don't know how the composition for them
would -- worked.
Q. Could you please just identify for us who

those consultants were.

MR. STRACH: Rob, this is Phil.

I'm going to object. I'm going to allow
Ray to identify who they were, but I'm going to
instruct him not to answer any questions about any
specific tasks they were given because they are
consulting experts. So I just want to note that for

the record.
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MR. FRAM: Sure. Let's get the foundation
as to who they were, and we can take it -- if
there's anything more to be asked about that or not.

Q. Who were these consultants?

A. My data consultant was Clark Benson, and my
technical consultant from Aptitude was John Morgan.

Q. Now, I'm not going to ask you about
conversations you had with Mr. Benson or Mr. Morgan.
I do want to ask you, though, about any factual
information that he provided to you.

Did Mr. Benson provide you with any
election data?

A. Can you repeat that question. I'm sorry.

Q. Did Mr. Benson provide you with any
election data?

A. I'm trying to recall. I -- as I said, the
areas of the data and the areas of the technical
operations of Maptitudes are beyond me. And so I'm
trying to think -- think and try to answer your
question.

Q. I don't want to interrupt your thinking.
Tell me if you're still thinking.

A. No, I -- I'm sorry. I thought you -- I
thought the feed cut out there for a second,

Mr. Fram. I'm sorry.
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0. No. I just --
A. Could you repeat the question?
Q. Sure.

I just asked if Mr. Benson gave you any
election data.

A. I believe that the consultants, once there
was agreements on data that could be used in
Maptitude, were working to provide us that data. So
if that included election data, the appropriate
agreed-to publicly available geography or something
else, that it would have been in there.

Q. Did Mr. Benson provide you with election
data for 2012 and/or 20147

A. I guess I would have the same answer

regardless of the year.

Q. Well, you said he provided -- so he did
provide you with some election data. Is that right?
A. Again, election -- help me understand

"election data."

He provided me databases that made
Maptitude work. Beyond -- and I don't have the
comprehension to know if that is your definition of
"election data"™ or what it was.

Q. Okay. You said at some point somebody gave

you some nonpublic information about the election
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data for 2012 and 2014, correct?

MR. STRACH: Objection as to "election
data."

MR. FRAM: Okay. Fair enough.

Q. At some point, somebody gave you nonpublic
information about the democrat and republican vote
percentage in the 2012 and 2014 elections, correct?

A. I think after the '1l6 and '18 data had been
secured with the conversations with the minority
caucus, there was still an ongoing effort to try to
find publicly available data for 'l2 and '1l4. And I
-- I think at some point, there was some nonpublic
available data from 'l2 and 'l4 that was found.

It would have been provided to me through
this -- my consultants, and -- but it was ultimately
not used because it wasn't the agreed to or the --
it wasn't the apples to apples that we had with '1le,
'18, and '20 data.

0. So if I understand correctly, data's
provided to you by Mr. Benson and Mr. Morgan
regarding democrat and republican vote percentage
for 2012 and 2014. 1Is that right?

A. Eventually, yes. Late in the process.

Q. Okay. And later in the process -- within

the first week of September or so? Do you recall
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when?

A. Give or take. It was -- it was probably no
more than a few days before -- my recollection
sitting here today is that it was probably no more
than a few days before the -- the initial map was
offered on September 9th.

Q. Okay. And you said it wasn't used; it was
not loaded into Maptitude.

What do you mean, it wasn't used? If you
could please explain.

A. Well, at that point -- when we had offered
a map on September 9th -- or President Huffman had
offered a map before the redistricting commission
and the senate democrats had offered a map, you
know, five or six days before that, we got into a
lot of comparisons, and the negotiations were
happening. And while we had access to that data,
the common data between those plans was the 'lg,
'18, and '20 data.

Q. All right. But did you have --

(Reporter clarification.)

Q. Did you have put into Maptitude at any time
the 2012 and 2014 election data showing republican
and democrat vote percentages?

A. And by -- again, the 'l12 and 'l4 data was
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in two pieces, right? It was the geography from '1l2
and '14, and then it was also the election results.
The election results were very —-- very commonly
available from public sources. But the geography
was always in question.

So is your question a -- time specific?
I'm sorry if you asked it. Or did you say at any
time? I'm sorry.

Q. Fair enough.
I said, at any time, did you have 2012 and

2014 election results data loaded into Maptitude?

A. Yes. Late, very late.

Q. "Very late" meaning close to September 97

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So as of September 9 -- let's take
it right there -- if you -- in your display window

in Maptitude, you see an average of the election
results data showing republican and democrat vote
percentages, right, by September 9°?

A. I think, as I said before, as of
September 9th when we offered -- the redistricting
commission offered the first map and the senate
democratic caucus had offered a map, the only
agreed-to data was the 'l6, '18, and '20 data. And

so that was the focus for comparison for all the
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negotiations that followed. Other -- other
information was available, but the focus was on 'l6,
'18, and '20.

Q. I appreciate that.

I'm just asking whether or not, as of
September 9, on your computer, when you turned on
Maptitude, you looked at the district -- you looked
at the display window for the district, whether the
election results average you saw included the
election results for 2012 and 20147

A. I -- I can't recall if I had that in my
display window. I -- being a budget director, I
like to just focus on my spreadsheets on what I was
focused on. And I don't recall at that point if I

took that data away in the display window or if it

stayed.

Q. I'm sorry. Or if it stayed -- it stayed
where?

A. Well, as we've discussed, it was -- it was

in the computer, but you could customize the display
window to focus on what you wanted; the population,
the qualities, the deviations, and the district
numbers and so forth.

The 'l6, '18, and '20 data was almost

always on my display window, but the other pieces
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were either on or off, depending on whether or not
they were being used or considered.

Q. Okay. And you say "on or off." They could
sometimes appear in a display window and sometimes
not? Is that what you're saying?

A. Again, I think users have the ability to
customize the display windows.

Q. I'm just asking what you did.

Did you sometimes it on and sometimes have
it off -- sometimes have the 2012 and 2014 data was
on, and sometimes it was off?

A. Yeah. I think you've asked me that. I
mean, I -- at some point, I had access to it, and I
used it. But then going forward after the 9th when
we had the two maps and the negotiations were
happening, we were using common agreed-to data, for
lack of the appropriate term, and that was not 12
and -- included '12 and 'l4. And so I don't recall
whether or not I left it in the window or I took it
off to just focus on what was important.

0. Understood.

Did you say -- did you have separate
spreadsheets that reflected all the election data
for the different years, separate and apart from

Maptitude?
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A. Did you ask if I created? I didn't hear
the first part. You got a little crackly.

Q. Fair question. Before, I asked if you
wrote any spreadsheets.

Did you have any spreadsheets that just
showed the election data results for these years;
2012, '14, 'le6, '18, '20? Did you have any
spreadsheets?

A. The -- all of this information -- the
Common Unified Redistricting Database, population
amounts for counties, for subdivision, for all units
of political geography -- political subdivision
geography, the geography files for Maptitude, the
election results, all came in very different
formats.

Some were spreadsheets, but they're not the
spreadsheets that you and I would necessarily think
of, like a one-page spreadsheet showing some
information. They would have been spreadsheets that
were 2-, 300 pages or text files that were just
data.

And so all of that information that was
being sent from the consultants as they were
providing it would have been in various forms. Some

of them would have been Microsoft Excel files, but I
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would hesitate to call them spreadsheets in there.
Q. Okay. So -- and do you have those -- those
files, whether they were Excel files or other forms
of data, do you have them saved on your computer?
A. That's a technical question.

Once they were integrated into Maptitude, I
don't know if the underlying files remain or they
just get added to some big database. I don't know.

Q. Okay. So if I understand correctly, you
did integrate all this election data into Maptitude,
but at some point, you might not have used 2012 and
2014 in your display window. Is that right?

A. It's possible. I don't -- I don't recall
specifically what was.

0. Well, I just want to be clear for the
record.

I thought you said at some point you had
the 2012 and 2014 on the display window, and at some
point --

(Reporter clarification.)

Q. Sure. At some point -- I'll say it again.

That -- I think you said that, at some
point, you had 2012 and 2014 election results as
part of the composite average of election results

that you would see in a display window in Maptitude.
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And, at some point, you took that information out of
that display window average. Is that right?

A. Yeah. Yeah. I don't -- I don't want to
keep restating what I've said because I don't want
to say something different than what I said because
I don't want to -- I don't want you to -- I mean,

I -—- I think I've already answered that.

At some point I had it. It had some
problems. It wasn't publicly available. It didn't
-- we -- we —-- I found some geography errors in it
that I couldn't explain. And, at some point, I
stopped using it and focused on the 'l6, '18, and
'20 data.

Q. I understand. Okay. Thank you. Thank you
for that.

I think you said that Speaker Huffman would
sometimes come over and look at your computer screen

as part of your updating him. Is that right? I'm

sorry. Senate President Huffman.
A. Yes. So my -- my office in the state house
is -- I share a wall with President Huffman. So I

met with him in his office, in my office through
this process, and other offices in the state house
as well. But on occasion, when his calendar would

allow, he would come over to the redistricting
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office.

Q. Okay. And he would look at the district
maps on the computer screen. Is that right?

A. If T -- if I -- if I thought there was an

issue or a problem of which there were several, yes,
I -—- I would show him my computer screen.
0. And -- and that screen would have the

district map on it. Is that right-?

A. Yes. The graphic -- the graphical display
of the -- of the districts.
Q. And that would also have the display window

on it. Is that right?
A. Well, he -- the way I had it set up there
were two different monitors. One was dedicated

solely to the graphics and the other one was the

display window. He would -- he would always sit in
front of the graphic -- the graphic window.
Q. But he could -- he could see the display

window. Is that right?
A. I don't know what he could see. I -- 1T
wanted him to look at the graphics. What he looked

at, I don't know.

Q. I understand that's what you wanted him to
look at. But from where he was, was anything
blocking his view of the display -- of the monitor
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with the display window on it?

A. Well, me. I was sitting -- I was sitting
between him and it, so I --

Q. So he -- you don't know if he could see the
display window. Is that right?

A. I —-— I -- I can't speak to what he could
see or couldn't see.

Q. Well, let me ask you: Did you ever talk to
him about any of the information that was in the
display window?

A. Yeah. Specifically, the population
deviations and that we had some significant problems
with the creation of districts. And I very often
would talk to him about those population problems we
were having, especially in northeast Ohio and
elsewhere throughout the state.

Q. Did you ever talk to him about any of the
election data in the display window?

A. I don't recall.

Q. Did you ever talk to him about how a

district might have a republican leaning or democrat

leaning?
A. You know, I -- now that you'wve asked the
second gquestion, let me -- let me say, early on, I

know the focus was on following the constitutional
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guidelines and producing a map that followed all of
the requirements of the constitution.

Afterwards, when there was a democrat map
from the senate democrats and a map from the
redistricting commission on September 9th, there
would have been conversations, as he was going
through the negotiations with whoever he was
negotiating with, about republican leaning and
democrat-leaning districts and trying to make
districts more democrat leaning.

Q. Okay. And you say this conversation you
had -- you had these conversation with Senate
President Huffman. Was anybody else in that room
during those conversations?

A. Not -- not that I recall.

Q. Okay. And what do you recall that was said
in those conversations?

A. Well, I recall early on me talking to him
about some areas of the state where I felt
constructing districts that followed the
constitution was very difficult based on the
population data.

And so a lot of our early conversations
were on following the rules of the construction of

house and senate districts. There was also a lot of
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conversations that once some of the solutions that I
was finding to follow the constitution was going to
have significant negative impacts on republican
state senators.

And so I would have been talking to him
about which republican members were going to have to
be paired together and why we would potentially be
doing that in order to reduce splitting of counties

in other jurisdictions.

So those were garden variety early -- early
conversations.
Q. What about later conversations?
A. Well, as I said, once the -- he was engaged
in the negotiations. There was a lot of

conversations about how to get to a ten-year map and
what was being requested by the minority caucuses
and what was being requested by other members of the
redistricting commission.

Q. Okay. And what do you recall about that --
those conversations?

A. I -- I recall that he was talking about
what republican-leaning districts would need to be
made democrat-leaning districts. And some of the
suggestions that he was hearing from his

conversation that I was not part of.
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Q. Which -- do you recall what -- any
districts in particular being discussed?

A. I -- with President Huffman, I remember the
6th Senate District being a point of conversation.
And I remember the 24th Senate District being a
point of conversation. And the 27th Senate District
being discussed in the later stage.

In the early stages, I remember the 22nd
and 26th, the 32nd and --
(Reporter clarification.)
A. I remember conversations about the 22nd and

26th District, the 18th and the 32nd and the 27th.

Q. Okay.
A. In the early stages.
Q. Okay. Let's -- going through the early

stage set that you've identified, was there any
discussion about the democrat or republican leaning
of those districts when you're talking about those
districts in the early stage conversations?

A. I do remember a conversation about the
27th, which was significantly because of the
footprint that I felt we needed to implement in
northeast Ohio to follow the construction rules of
the Ohio Constitution.

The 27th District was being significantly
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reduced in its republican leaning and I wanted him
to be aware of that.

Q. And do you recall what it -- what -- what
did he say?

A. He said if that's what we have to do to
follow the rules of the constitution then we're
doing it.

Q. Okay. Do you recall about any -- would any
of the other of these districts in the early set
that you mentioned, 22, 26, 32 and 18, were the
democrat or republican leanings of those districts
discussed?

A. I do remember in the -- the 18th District
and the 32nd District where we, again, in northeast
Ohio, which was a considerable focus of my time,
trying to make sure we followed all the rules of the
districts and the constitutional requirements, that
we were going to have to pair two republican members
of the senate together and basically draw one out
of -- out of their district and assign them pursuant
to the Ohio Constitution to a district they did not
live in.

And that that district would become a --
a -- less of a republican-leaning district and

really kind of become a competitive district.
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Q. Got 1it.

Let's talk about District 6, 24, and 27,
the later conversations.

A. Sure.

Q. Now, these later conversations, is that
when negotiations were happening with the democrats?
Is that right?

A. I wasn't part of those, but I -- I
generally would say that after the redistricting
commission adopted a map for consideration on
September 9th, it seemed that those conversations
really kicked in in earnest.

Q. Right. And they -- and some of those
conversations, did they concern Districts 6, 24, 27.
Is that right?

A. I wasn't part of those conversations, but I
do know that the president had inquired about
turning republican-leaning districts into
democrat-leaning districts or democrat-leaning
districts into even more democrat-leaning districts
in one case.

Q. Okay. And which districts did you -- do
you recall any specific districts where he talked
about taking a republican-leaning district and

making it a democratic-leaning district?
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A. The 6th Senate District in Montgomery
County absolutely fits that description. It was
made from a pretty significant republican-leaning
district to a democratic-leaning district.

(Reporter clarification.)

Q. I guess my guestion is --

A. You asked about -- you asked about the 6th
Senate District, if I recall.

Q. We were talking about the 6th Senate
District and you were saying -- I was asking what
you recall about any conversation about the leaning
of that district and whether they should be changed
or not.

A. Yeah. Well, there were a few things going
on. There was a lot of testimony at some of the
hearings about the construction of the house and
senate districts in Montgomery County.

And in addition that was one -- one place
where the president had asked me to look at making
the 6th District, significantly changing both its
geography, as well as making it a pretty -- pretty

solid republican-leaning district to a

democrat-leaning district. And so that was that
conversation.
Q. Okay. And what about the 24th?
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A. So the 24th District in the initial map was
a very —-- 1t was a competitive district, but it was
a —-- it was a slight democrat-leaning district. But
I had been -- it was being relayed to me that the
negotiations wanted it to be even more of a
democrat-leaning district.

So in the final map that was produced, that
district became much more democrat leaning than it
was in the September 9th map.

Q. Okay. And the 27th District, what do you
recall about that one?

A. So, again, that's one that kind of spills
over between the early conversations pre-September
9th and post September 9th.

In the preconversations, that district was
made to be a much more -- or a much less
republican-leaning district just because we had to
-- in order to follow the rules of the constitution
and implement this northeast Ohio solution of
geography, that district was definitely trending
more towards a democrat-leaning district.

And then in the September -- the final map,
to achieve the requested negotiation of making the
24th District overwhelmingly democrat leaning, the

27th got marginally more republican leaning in order
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to achieve the change in Cuyahoga County.

Q. Okay. DNow, were there any other districts
you recall which had been republican leaning in,
say, the September 9 map -- and there was
conversations about them after September 9 and they
say republican leaning when you got to the final
map?

A. Can you say that again, Mr. Fram?

Q. Sure. So you've got a September 9 map, if
I got that right. And you knew some of the
different partisan leanings of the districts for
that -- in that map.

Then, if I understand, there were
conversations about the leanings between September 9
and, say, September 15.

And my question is: During those
conversations, do you recall any districts which
were republican leaning in the September 9 map and
in the end stayed republican leaning in the final
map?

A. Well, there's 99 house districts and 33
senate districts. So the ones that I'm describing

that were part of the negotiations that were being

made to be democrat leaning, the other ones, I -- I
think there started to be some consensus on —-- oOr
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many of them, not all but many -- where the -- the
various maps that were being traded back and forth,
where some of the September 9th districts that we
had put forward, the commission put forward, were
incorporated into some of the final maps that the
democratic caucus put forward.

Q. But I guess my -- okay. My question is:

Do you recall any of the districts, on the

September 9 map, the republican meeting, that by the
time being discussed -- being discussed, that stayed
republican leaning in its final map?

A. Yeah. I guess I -- I don't -- I just don't
understand the gquestion. I mean, ones —-- the ones
that I discussed, the 24th, the o6th, the 27th, and
then a host -- a small handful of them -- or handful
of them from the house map as well that you haven't
asked about, those were the ones that were the focus

of that round of negotiations.

Q. Okay.
A. So the other ones were largely unchanged.
Q. In that run of negotiations, do you recall

there being any suggestion by anybody that a
republican-leaning district should be made less
republican leaning, but in the end, no change was

made in the state republican leaning?
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A. Again, with -- I was not part of the
negotiation, so I was hearing these from
President Huffman based on what he was hearing.

So I'm struggling to think of a district
that matches this very specific fact pattern that
you're asking about.

0. Did President Huffman ever tell you that
the -- a proposal had been made to make a certain
republican-leaning district less republican?

A. Well, he would -- he would have -- maybe
not him personally, but I would have provided a --
been provided a block assignment file of the
democrat map. So I could see it.

Again, that took time. It sounds very
simplistic, but that's how the information was being
conveyed, and then also with conversations with him.

Q. Okay. Do you recall seeing any -- any
districts in the democrat map that would have made a
republican-leaning district less republican? Start
with that.

A. I'm sure there were. I was focused on the
ones that I was talking to the president about that
we were actively working to try to turn into
democrat-leaning maps, to send that proposal back to

them so that they could digest it and send a
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proposal back to us.

Q. What I'm trying to find out is whether you
considered any democratic proposal to make a
district less republican that you did not include in
a proposal back to the democrats; you left it alone
as republican.

A. I cannot recall a specific example of that
in the house or senate maps, sitting here. But we
were focused on the limited time that we had between
September 9th and September 15th on, you know,
making the districts to send back a -- to give
President Huffman a -- from my standpoint, and I
know Blake would have been doing the same thing with
Speaker Cupp outside of me -- so that they could
send back something to the other members of the
redistricting commission for their consideration so
they could digest it and send it back.

But I don't recall a specific district that
meets that fact pattern, sitting here.

Q. Putting aside -- thank you.

Putting aside your recollection of a
specific district, I take it there were democratic
proposals to make some of the republican-leaning
districts less republican that you did not accept.

Is that right?
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A. The things that I remember about the map
were that it paired -- paired republican incumbents
together. It seemed to be challenged with the way
that they were applying section 5 to their
districts. And it also had some negative
consequences to some of their own incumbent members
that I think were probably unintentional by them.

But my focus was on the limited time
available on the districts that we've spoke about,
and that was turning those handful of house and
handful of senate districts from republican-leaning
districts to democrat-leaning districts so that we
could send that back to them and the negotiations
could continue among the redistricting commission
members.

Q. Is it fair to say that other than the ones
that you sent back for negotiation, there were other
districts where the democrats had proposed certain
republican-leaning districts be made less
republican. Is that right?

A. I cannot recall those districts by number
like I can the five, six, or seven that I
articulated earlier by number.

0. I'm not asking --

A. Those are the ones I was focused on. I
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don't know.

Q. I'm not asking you to name a list of
numbers. I'm just saying -- let me back up a
second.

You didn't accept the entire democratic
proposal, right?

A. We -- after -- we picked out districts
where we could work on to make them democrat-leaning
districts. We incorporated that into the
September 9th map and then sent that back as a --
through the proper channels of my president and the
speaker the -- that as a proposal. I don't know
what more I can tell you on that.

0. Sure. But that list does not include the
entire democrat proposal, right?

A. Like I said, we looked at their proposal,
took the -- the districts that we -- through in
talking to my president and the house districts
that, you know, I was hearing about from Blake's
conversations with the speaker could be incorporated
into a proposal from them back. And we were focused
on those.

0. Thank you.

A. As I said, I did notice that there were

some other, I thought, unintentional negative
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implications to incumbent democrat senators and
pairing of additional republican senators above and
beyond the five or six republican senators that had
been paired in the September 9th map.

But those are the things that I remember,
not what the rest of the map looked like, other than
they were splitting some additional counties that we
had figured out a way not to split.

Q. Okay. You mentioned your conversations
with Senate President Huffman and with Blake on the
house side.

Did you have any direct conversations with
Speaker Cupp yourself during this revision process?

A. I can think of one occasion very late in
the process, that I can recall sitting here.

Q. And what do you recall about that one?

A. I recall it being very late. 1In fact, it
might have been the day of September 15th.

And I remember that -- my recollection --
my takeaway was that he was still actively engaged
in -- President Huffman was still actively engaged
in negotiations. And he had a list of a couple
things that were still being requested of him by
whoever he was negotiating with.

And he was asking Blake and I for our
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thoughts on whether or not those could be achieved

in the final hours before the map needed to be

approved.
Q. Do you recall the districts?
A. I don't recall the district numbers. I --

I don't recall the district numbers.

Q. Do you recall the region of the state?

A. I remember in Franklin County, there was a
—-—- there was some request about two of the house
districts in Franklin County about trying to change
the geography so that the two incumbents would
switch districts. I remember that being a
significant request where it seemed to be that that
was a significant focus of the -- whoever he was
negotiating with.

Q. Do you recall, was there a conclusion in
the conversation as to what to do?

A. Was there a conclusion on -- I mean, I
think -- I think that the takeaway was, you guys,
Blake, Ray, you guys, you know, try to work on that
and see if it works. We're going to go and continue
having other conversations about trying to get to a
ten-year map.

Q. Do you recall any sticking points in the

negotiations with democrats that you heard about
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from either Senate President Huffman or
Speaker Cupp?

(Reporter clarification.)

A. Not having been -- not having been part of
any of those conversations and not knowing what
would be a sticking point, I can't answer.

Q. Well, do you remember there being -- let me
break it down.

Did President Huffman ever tell you, the
democrats are asking you for a certain change, but I
don't think we can do that?

A. No, I don't recall that.

Q. Do you recall him ever saying, the
democrats are asking for a certain change, and
you're telling him you don't think you can do that?

A. I don't recall -- I don't recall that
conversation with President Huffman.

Q. Okay. Do you recall him ever saying, the
democrats are asking for a certain change, and then
you provided election results information to him
after he told you about that democrat proposal?

A. No. The -- no. I don't recall that. I
remember the takeaway being, in his conversations,
that they were close and that they wanted to have

some additional democrat-leaning districts in the
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house and the senate map, and they felt they were

close. And, you know -- but the time was -- these
are conversations that are happening in the final

days, and time was running out.

Q. You say they were close.

Were you ever told why no agreement was
reached? Were you ever told?

A. I don't recall a specific conversation like
that other than that there weren't enough
democrat-leaning districts, I guess.

Q. Do you have an understanding of how many
democratic-leaning districts were being asked for
that were not being provided by the republicans?

A. Yeah, I get -- I get caught up on this -- I
know it's easy to say, well, the computer spits out
a number of 48 or 49 or 51, and so it's that. But I
mean, it's -- it is so difficult to categorize a
district and who is going to win an outcome of an
election over the next ten years based on some
number on a computer screen that's focused on the
last six years of data.

But I remember him saying he thought they
were close. They were continuing to talk. A lot of
conversations were happening. But I don't recall

the specific instances of how close they were. I
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don't recall.

Q. Do you recall if they were ten seats apart
in the house or five seats apart? Any -- just a
ballpark?

A. I think it was single digits, but I don't

recall the number, sitting here.

Q. Okay. And you say everything was an
apples-to-apples basis. Understanding there's a
question about predicting the future, but apples to
apples, people were assessing whether it was
democrat or republican-leaning district based upon,
like you say, the 2020, 2018, and 2016 data. Is
that right?

A. That was the assessment, although I always
joke that using that methodology, there were seats
that would score as republican-leaning districts
that democrats occupied, and there were seats that
were —-- you know, would be called democrat-leaning
seats that republicans occupied, and I remember

commenting how I thought that was just ironic.

Q. Right. Appreciate the irony. It does
happen.
But the -- in the conversations, the
common -- the common data set everyone was looking

at was 2016, 2018, and 2018 [sic] elections. That's
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right?

A. From where I was seeing it, yes. When we
were getting maps during the negotiations or where
maps were being made available to me from the other
negotiations, it seemed that 'l6, '18, and '20 was
the -- the scoring that everybody was using.

Q. Okay. Did you ever have any communications
with Auditor Faber about the districts maps you were
drawing?

A. Very limited interaction with Auditor
Faber, but some.

Q. What do you recall about those?

A. Did you say interactions, or did I,

Mr. Fram?

0. I asked about interactions. You said
limited. So I guessed what they were.
A. Yeah. There was one instance where I

physically met with the auditor before the map was
rolled out on September 9.

Q. And do you recall how many days before the
September 9 interaction?

A. Well, two things. I think it was in early
September, somewhere around the 3rd or 4th of
September. And it -- it wasn't to preview the maps.

It was more of Jjust conversation about some of the
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struggles we were having to produce the map, which
ultimately was produced on the 9th.

Q. Did any questions about election results or
apportionment of democrat/republican shares of

districts come up in the conversation with Auditor

Faber?

A. I -- not that I recall.

Q. Okay. And so no other -- that was the only
interaction you had with Auditor Faber. 1Is that
right?

A. That was —-- that was the only meeting that

I had with him, to my recollection.

Q. What about text messages or emails?
A. Yeah. I do recall one -- one text message
exchange very, very late in the process. Maybe even

a couple of days before the September 15th deadline.

Q. And what do you recall about that?
A. My recollection is that he was Jjust asking
for the population of -- the populations of a couple

of counties and whether or not a couple of counties
in central Ohio could actually be paired together
and still meet the constitutional requirements.

Q. What about Secretary of State LaRose? Did
you ever have any interactions with him?

A. Sorry. You crackled for a second --
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Q. Secretary of State LaRose. Secretary of
State LaRose, did you have any interactions with
him?

A. Again, there was one meeting that comes to
memory that was probably -- I think one meeting --

one meeting, that I can recall, sitting here.

0. When was that?
A. September 7th, 8th. Somewhere in there.
Q. And what do you recall about what was said

in that meeting?

A. I -- I remember the secretary encouraging
the president and the speaker to find a consensus
ten-year map. He had -- he had some questions about
some of the constitutional challenges that I was
articulating to him that -- some geography issues
and the northeast Ohio issue.

Q. Okay. So in that meeting, the secretary
was there, President Huffman is there, Speaker Cupp

is there, you were there. Anybody else in the room?

A. Speaker -- just for -- for being as
accurate as I can, the speaker came late. He -- I
think he had a -- well, I don't know. He had
something else that was happening in the house. He

showed up at the very end of the meeting.

Q. Okay. And so -- and who else was in the
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room?
A. I remember specifically the president,
Secretary LaRose, myself. I -- Speaker Cupp and

Blake came, like I said, very late. And there
were —-- there were two staff for the secretary of
state that were present and I -- I can't remember
their names right now.

0. Okay. And --

A. That's —-- that's everybody I can remember.
The chief of staff for the senate, John Barron, was
there.

Q. Okay. And you say there were some
discussion about what it would take to reach an
agreement on a ten-year map. Is that right?

A. No. I think I said that Secretary LaRose
just asked about how are the negotiations going to
get to a ten-year map. And I remember the president
saying they're ongoing, but, you know, time is --
time is ticking away. And they were still actively
negotiating, or having conversations about
negotiations.

Q. Did they mention any issues in the
negotiations?

A. Not that I recall, no. Again, at this

point, as I had mentioned, Mr. Fram, we had not
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rolled out our map at the commission hearing. And
that's -- that's really when I kind of think things
really kind of kicked off.

But I'm sure there were plenty of
conversations happening beforehand, but I wasn't
party to them.

0. So, I'm sorry. Was —-- this conversation
was before September 9 when the first -- when the --
when your map was rolled out. Is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. What about Governor DeWine? Did you
have any interactions with him during the map
drawing process?

A. I remember one in-person meeting with the
governor and the lieutenant governor.

Q. What do you recall about that meeting?

A. I -- I remember, again, the conversations I
was articulating to them, the challenges that I was
seeing in the map and that Blake was seeing in the
house map as well and -- you know, house and senate
maps, challenges that we were seeing.

Talked a lot about northeast Ohio and the
constitutional challenges there to come up with
districts that would follow all of the provisions of

the constitution.
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Recall that the lieutenant governor was a
member of the apportionment board in the previous
decade when nobody could find a constitutional
solution in northeast Ohio.

And so I think he was very cognizant of
that fact. And when I told him that there were
significant challenges again in northeast Ohio,
there were a lot of conversations about that.

And I recall telling him that we were most
likely going to roll out a map that would implement
the only solution that I could find and that it
would -- it would necessitate pairing a number of
republican members together.

And I remember him saying, very similar to
President Huffman, if that's what we have to do to

follow the constitution, then that's what we have to

do.
Q. Okay.
MR. FRAM: 1I'd like to ask the technician
to please pull up tab 12. We can mark it as an
exhibit.

THE REMOTE TECHNICIAN: Would you like me
to mark this as Exhibit 1°?
MR. FRAM: Please.

THE REMOTE TECHNICIAN: Stand by.
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(Exhibit 1 was marked for identification.)
MR. FRAM:
Q. Mr. DiRossi, is that -- can you see

Exhibit 1 up on your screen there?

A. I see it, yes.

0. Have you ever seen this document before?
A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Did you have anything to do with

creating this document?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Do you recall about when you created
itw

A. I don't.

Q. Was it in August or September or before?

A. I -- I don't recall. I think it probably
was earlier. Much earlier than that.

Q. Okay. So before -- before August, you
think?

A. I don't recall specifically, but that's --

that sounds about right.

Q. Okay. Do you recall if it was, like, back
in the spring?

A. No. It -- this would have been something
that I think I created shortly after the budget was

put in place, June 30th.
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Q. Okay. So —--
A. But I can't -- I can't speak specifically

to the date. I —-

Q. Okay. Do you recall why you put it
together?
A. I was just -- as I was turning my attention

from the state operating budget to the redistricting
effort, I was reading the constitution and I was
just trying to, for my own benefit, you know,
think -- think through what -- what some of the
things in the constitution could -- could look like
as numbers.

Q. All right. And the thing in the
constitution, we're talking, of course, about

Article XI. Would this be relevant to Article XI in

Section 6(B). Is that right?

A. I don't know the specific section.

Q. Well, you're looking here at statewide
elections over the preceding decade or so. Is that
right?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So whatever provision in the Ohio

Constitution was talking about statewide elections
over the past ten years, that would be the one that

you had in mind when you put this together. 1Is that
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right?
A. Well, this was just me putting on paper
what I -- what I was seeing in the constitution.
Q. Right. But I was just saying -- and I'm

trying to get to the part of the constitution this
relates to. Did it relate to a part of the
constitution that talks about statewide elections
over the past ten years?

A. Yeah. I mean, it -- it -- I just don't
know it by 6(B) or whatever you referenced it as.

Q. Sure. And I'm not going to hold you to
quoting citations. I just want to know which --
which part of the constitution you were talking
about.

Let me ask you a question here about this.

I notice you've got data filled in for
statewide elections for 2020 and 2018 and 2014. And
you've got one for -- you've got the presidential
2012.

But you did not include data -- although
you listed it, you did not include data for the 2010
election. Do I have that right?

A. Correct.

Q. Do you recall why you did or didn't include

the data for the 2010 elections?
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A. Well, again, this, you know, is data -- you
know, these are just election results from the
secretary of state's website. These are just the
election results from those particular elections.

Q. Right. And you want -- so what you did to
create this is you went to the secretary of state
website and you filled in the data. Is that right?

A. I filled in the election results, yes.

Q. Right. Election results.

But you did not fill them in for 2010. Is

that right?

A. It appears not.

Q. Do you recall why not?

A. I -- I don't recall if I got called away to
some other duty or if -- I don't -- I don't recall
why.

Q. Okay. Did anybody ever tell you which

elections you should or should not include in your
analysis?

A. No.

Q. Okay. Did you ever share this document,

Exhibit 1, with anybody?

A. What do you mean by "share"?

Q. Did you ever send a copy to somebody?

A. I produced this document, under public
PLANET DEPOS
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records request, numerous times. And I also shared
it with my attorneys in response to the subpoena for
documents.

Q. Did you ever give it to any -- did you ever

share this document with President Huffman?

A. Not that I recall.

0. Did you ever share it with Blake
Springhetti?

A. Blake Springhetti?

Q. Springhetti. I apologize. Springhetti.

A. I don't recall if I did or not.

Q. Did you ever provide it to any member of

the redistricting commission?

A. Sorry. I couldn't -- I couldn't -- you
broke up.
Q. Did you ever provide it to any member of

the redistricting commission?

A. Not that I can recall. I don't think so.

Q. Okay. Did you ever -- other than providing
it to your counsel in response to public records
requests, did you ever provide a copy of this
document to anyone else?

A. Not that I can recall sitting here, no.

Q. Okay. Did you ever use this document for

any purpose, in terms of creating any other
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document?
A. Yeah. This -- so maybe a little
explanation. This -- this is a document that I

think I created shortly after the budget, as I was
starting to look forward, even before census data
had been received.

Once we got into the process, the value of
this document to me was -- was really nothing
because this -- this section of the constitution was
something that I was not involved in determining,
interpreting or doing anything like that with. So
this document, while I still had it, was -- was not
really of use to me in the process.

Q. All right. By the way, the numbers at the
bottom of the document in yellow, those are just the
averages. Is that right? From all the statewide
elections to where it says, "Total votes" at the
bottom. Is that right?

A. Yeah. There are -- and I think I produced
two copies of this document. One that has two --
two highlights at the bottom.

So I -- I don't know if you're specifically
choosing this one or -- or the other one is --

(Simultaneous colloquy.)

Q. You've got one row -- and I'm looking at
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the stuff in the yellow. One number is raw numbers

and the other is percentages. Is that right?

A. One row --

0. It says, "Total Votes," very bottom.
A. Oh, yeah. Okay.

0. Do you see that?

A. Hold on one second.

(Brief pause.)
A. Do I have the -- do I have the ability to
zoom in on this at all?
Q. Do you have trouble seeing it? You can

make it bigger there.

A. Thank you.
Q. There you go.
A. I appreciate that.

Okay. Go ahead. I'm sorry.

Q. So you've got one row is total votes.
Do you see that row?

A. I do see that row.

Q. And that Jjust totals up all the elections

you have data for above. Is that right?

A. It should, yes.

Q. And the percentage are under that. Okay.
And you calculated those percentage using

Excel or a calculator or something?
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A. You know, this looks like a Word document,
not an Excel sheet, so I probably would have done
those on a separate calculator. So hopefully,
they're accurate.

0. Okay. So you calculated that the
democratic percentages for those elections was

45.9 percent. Is that right?

A. 45.97
0. That's correct.
A. Did you say -- oh, 45.9. I thought you

said 54.92. Sorry.

Q. 45 --

A. I see that number.

0. 45.9. That's right?

A. That's the number on the page, yes.
Q. And republicans 54.1. 1Is that right?
A. I see that as well.

Q. And you calculated those percentages?
A. Yes, I would have done that

hand-calculation if this is not a spreadsheet.
Q. Okay. Okay. All right. Well, thank you
for that.
Do you have -- so did you ever update this
spreadsheet after you first calculated it, or you

just did it once and that was it?
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A. I think at some point in the second one --
sorry. I keep trying to scroll it.

Can you scroll up to the top of the
document, whoever is in control of documents? Thank
you, to whoever that is.

Yeah, there's a second version of this that

I'm pretty sure was produced.

Q. Do you recall when that was?

A. It was produced a couple weeks ago.

Q. Do you recall when you created the second
version?

A. Oh, sorry. I do not. No. The second

version is just highlighting the second column in
green and yellow, as the first column is. So it

probably was done shortly thereafter the first one.

Q. Did you share the second document with
anybody?

A. No, not to my recollection.

Q. Okay. Do you recall why you created the

second document?

A. I'm sorry. You were crackly.

Q. Did you recall why you created the second
document?

A. Well, the second -- the second document is

the first document, just with shadings of additional
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cells or —-- or columns and rows.
Q. But the -- the numbers didn't change. Is

that right?

A. I don't believe so, no.
Q. Okay.
A. I did it because I was bored after the

budget because we had no census data and there was
nothing to do to get ready. And so I was just kind
of trying to preoccupy my time.

Q. Okay. Now, if I've got it right, you've
got 16 elections for which you provided data. Is
that right? You can count them up if you want.

A. Again, you keep saying "data." It's just
the election results from the races.

0. Fair. Let me restate the question.

You had 16 elections for which you provide

election results. Is that right?

A. It appears to be, yes, 16.

Q. If I'm reading this right, you'wve got the
democrats won three of them. Is that right?

A. That's what it shows.

0. And the republicans won 13 of them. Is

that right?
A. Yes.

Q. And the percentage, therefore, the
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republicans won was 81 percent of the elections, if
you just add up winners and losers of the elections.
Is that right?

A. That's 3/16ths, yes.

Q. Did you create -- other than this document
and the subsequent version with the shading, did you
create any other spreadsheets, Word documents,
tables adding up the democrat and republican results
in statewide election over the past ten years?

A. Not that I recall.

MR. FRAM: Phil, we've been going a couple
of hours now. We can -- I forget how you all -- are
doing breaks or not, if you're charging the breaks
against the time, what is the overall time for the
day, 1f I recall correctly, Jjust not the time limits
that are --

Do you want to take a break now? Is it an
okay time to do it? Or do you want to not take 1it?
It's up to the witness and up to you all.

MR. STRACH: I don't think we want to take
a lunch break until closer to 1:00 or so. And if
you want to take a short five-minute break now,
that's fine. But, you know, with the understanding
being that, you know, we stop today at 5:30.

MR. FRAM: Right. That's fine.
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Why don't we take a five-minute now. It
might -- I don't know if that edges us a little bit
past 1:00. It's already noon, I guess, your time.

MR. STRACH: Right.

MR. FRAM: If you'wve got a hard stop at
1:00, I guess that would be worth knowing. If
there's any flexibility on that, if we take a little
break now and then do a little lunch break. I think
you said, what, 30 minutes on lunch?

MR. STRACH: We're flexible on the 1:00
o'clock. It doesn't have to be right at 1:00.

MR. FRAM: I appreciate that.

Let's take a five-minute now and then come
on back.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Please stand by.

The time is 8:56 a.m. We're going off the
record.

(Break taken.)

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is now
9:16 a.m. We are now back on the record.

MR. FRAM:

Q. Why don't we put up on the screen tab 16,

the commission 8(C) (2) statement.

THE REMOTE TECHNICIAN: Stand by.

(Brief pause.)
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MR. FRAM:
0. Mr. DiRossi, can you see that document --
MR. FRAM: I guess we'll mark that as
Exhibit 2.
(Exhibit 2 was marked for identification.)

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR. FRAM:
Q. Have you ever seen it before?
A. Is it just this one page, or is it --
Q. Let's go all the way down to the bottom.

think it may go right over the top of the second

page —-
A. Okay. Thank you.
0. -- is what I printed out.
A. Okay. Thank you. Yes.
Q. So you have seen it before.
Do you recall when you first saw this
document?
A. Probably September 17th after the vote.
Q. After the vote.
You didn't see it before the vote?
A. I don't believe I ever saw it before the
vote.
Q. Did you ever have discussions about the

document before the vote?

I
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A. The only discussion I remember about this
was that it was not something that I was —-- needed
to worry about. It wasn't my job to do it. And it
was being done by the commission.

Q. And do you recall who you had a
conversation with?

A. I don't recall how that was -- I don't
recall the specific of who said that. I just
remember asking if something needed to be done and
was told that the commission was taking care of it.

Q. Okay. Do you recall providing -- were you
asked to provide any figures that could be used for
this document?

A. I do not recall that, no.

Q. Do you recall ever being asked to provide
for a calculation of the percentage of statewide
elections won by republicans?

A. I don't, no.

Q. Okay. Do you recall -- looking at the
document, you'll see there's a reference to
republican candidates having a statewide share of
54 percent.

Do you see that?
A. Is that at the -- are you referring to the

bottom of what's on the screen, the very bottom
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line?

0. That's right.

A. I see it in the document.

Q. Right. Do you recall -- we just saw back
on Exhibit 1, you had a calculation of that -- of

the voters favoring statewide republican candidates.

Do you recall that?

A. I do.

Q. And why don't you take a look at Exhibit 1,
if you'd like, to see the percentage. That was the

one shaded in yellow, I believe, that you had it at

50 == I think it was 54.1 percent.
Do you recall that?
A. I don't recall the numbers from the first
exhibit specifically.
MR. FRAM: Why don't we take a look at it,
Exhibit 1, please. Go down to the bottom to the
yellow shaded material.
Q. Do you see there, 54.1 percent?
A. I see that, but again, recall there's a

second document of this where the shaded are 54.92

and 45.08.
Q. Okay. So you have two different
calculations, one at 54 -- one about 54 and one

about 55 percent. Is that right?

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

DEPO_00549

Cresse: A 22 e A2 IR [ooc#: Y63l Frieet: MUWABIZZ 1MW aif 3D, gy D#: 628

09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:

09:

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

21

21

21

21

21

21

:06

:06

:08

:10

:14

122

227

227

227

134

136

138

42

142

146

148

:51

:56

:58

:01

:05

:10

:13

:16

:20



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Cresse: A 22 s T2 IR [ooc#: Y63l Frieet: UWABIZZ 1T aif 3D, ey D#: 62D

Transcript of Ray DiRossi
Conducted on October 19, 2021

98

A. Correct.
Q. Okay. And do you recall why you had a

difference in the two calculations?

A. Why is there a difference? 1Is that the
question?
0. You said it differently. One was about

54.1, and the other one was about 54.9.
Do you recall how -- what drove the

difference?

A. Math.
Q. Was there --
A. Yeah. One is a percentage of votes, and

the other is a percentage of percentages.

Q. Percentage of percentages.

So —-- but the percentage of vote was

54.1 percent. Is that right?

A. The first column is 54.1. 45.9 was my
hand-calculation, I believe, yes.

Q. Okay. So just looking at that column for a
minute, comparing that --

MR. FRAM: We can go back to Exhibit 2.

Okay. So we've got there -- pick up Exhibit 2,
please. Put it on the screen.
Q. Now, you see there is statewide republican

candidates proportion of the voters is 54 percent.
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Do you see that there?

A. I see that, the last line of the screen,
yes.

Q. Do you know who made that calculation, 1if
it wasn't you?

A. I don't.

Q. And so -- and you never -- did you ever
provide your 54 percent calculation to anybody, in
conversation or otherwise?

A. Not that I recall.

Q. Okay.

(Brief pause.)

MR. FRAM: Going down a little further in
the document if you could, please, Exhibit 1. I'm
sorry. Exhibit 2. I apologize. Exhibit 2.
Further down.

Q. The -- you see where it says that the
commission adopt -- "the commission adopted the
final general assembly district plan, which contains
85 districts (64.4 percent) favoring republican
candidates."

Do you see that?

A. Sorry. Can you say what numbers you were
speaking about again. 85 --
Q. It says -- yeah. It says, "the commission
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adopted the final general assembly district plan,
which contains 85 districts (64.4 percent) favoring
republican candidates and 47 districts (35.6
percent) favoring democratic candidates out of a
total of 132 districts.”

Do you see that?

A. I'm sorry. Did you say, do I see that?
Q. My question is simply, do you see it?
A. Yes. I'm sorry. You cut out for a very

quick second.

Q. No problem. You do see it. Okay.

A. I do see it.

Q. My question is, did you ever provide
that -- did you ever do a calculation of the

percentage of districts favoring republican
candidates in the final plan?

A. Probably as the negotiations were going
back and forth, there was some calculations like
that.

Q. Did you ever communicate your calculations
to anyone?

A. I don't recall specifically, but if I did,

it would have been to Senator Huffman.

Q. Okay. And did you ever communicate to
Senator Huffman the percentage of the -- let me back
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up. Let me rephrase.

Did you ever communicate to Senator Huffman
the proportion of voters favoring statewide
republican candidates over the previous ten years?

A. During the negotiations that he was engaged
in, I'm sure there were a lot of information that
were -- was shared. I don't recall a specific
instance where that was asked, though.

Q. Whether it was asked or not, do you recall
ever providing that information?

A. Well, if it was asked, I would have
provided it, but I don't recall the asking or the
providing of it.

Q. Okay. So you had -- you had calculated the
republican percentage of elections that were won and
81 percent previously in Exhibit 1. Isn't that
right?

A. Well, I mean, the previous -- can you say
that again. Did you say 81 percent --

(Simultaneous colloquy.)

0. You had calculated that 13 out of 16
elections were won by republicans. Is that right?
A. Well, I listed 16 races, and I noted that

13 had been won by republicans to help, you know, do

the calculations.
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Q. And you would agree with me that 13 of 16
is 81 percent. Is that right?

A. That's what the math says, yes.

Q. And did you ever convey to anybody that
fact that the republicans had won 13 out of 16
elections or 81 percent in the last ten-year
statewide elections?

A. I remember -- no. I remember hearing that
from President Huffman, I think, at the hearing --
one of the hearings I was watching.

Q. Okay. Did you ever hear about that number
from anybody else other than President Huffman?

A. Yeah. I -- I don't recall a specific
conversation of that. Again, this whole area, even
though I put that document together after the
budget, was something that was not in my purview and
not in my to-do area. And so I did not focus on
that a lot, this -- this document. I'm not even
sure I produced this document.

Q. Okay. And did you ever talk to anybody
about the republican statewide vote share being
54 percent of the elections over the past ten years?

A. 54 -- I -- I do recall some conversations
about the information that we received -- not to

backtrack and rehash, but the information that we
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received, the geography that the senate democratic
caucus provided. I remember the 'l6, '18, and '20
calculation, talking about what that would look
like -- look like on a statewide basis. But I can't
recall if it's 54 or some variation of that.

0. You see in the next sentence, it says, "The
commission obtained publicly available geographic

data for statewide partisan elections in 2016, 2018,

and 2020."
Do you see that?
A. I do see that, yeah.
Q. Do you recall talking to anybody about how

the publicly available geographic data for statewide
partisan elections was limited to the election of
2016, 2018, and 20207

A. I remember conversations -- being told that
the conversations with the senate democrats were
fruitful and that there was going to be some type of
geographic data that was going to be provided for

'16 and '18, because I think we already had '20. I

do -- I do recall that.

0. And who told you that?

A. I think that was the chief of staff of the
senate who had -- who had mentioned that in passing

when I asked about how it was going.
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Q. To determine -- let me ask you the next
question, another sentence.

It says —-- looking at that sentence, it
says, "the commission adopted the final general
assembly district plan, which contains 85 districts
(64.4 percent) favoring republican candidates."

Do you see that?

A. No, I don't. Where -- I'm looking. Where

Q. "The commission adopted the final general
assembly district plan..."

A. Yeah. Please -- yeah. Okay. Now I see
it. Thank you for paginating. Yes.

Q. Okay. There you got it.

Now, my question is, did you ever
communicate to anybody that the final plan adopted
by the commission had 85 districts, 64.4 percent,
favoring republicans?

A. I don't -- I don't recall that specific
conversation, but it's possible. It would -- it
would have needed to originate from, I assume, a
computer.

Q. Right. It would have been information you
would have had on Maptitude. Isn't that right?

A. Possibly. I don't recall that specific

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

DEPO_00556

Cresse: A 22 s T2 IR [ooc#: Y63l Frieet: @WABIZZ 1T aif 300, Faegyd D#: G35

09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:

09:

30

30

30

30

30

30

31

31

31

31

31

31

31

31

31

31

31

31

31

31

32

32

32

32

32

:33

: 47

148

:51

:54

:59

:06

:07

:10

:11

:15

17

121

124

: 25

:29

: 35

:45

:47

:57

:00

:03

:03

:05

:08



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Transcript of Ray DiRossi
Conducted on October 19, 2021

105

conversation happening. But --

Q. Right. But putting aside a conversation
happening, you would have had that information on
Maptitude. Is that right?

A. Let me -- let me read it and make sure.

Yeah, using the '16 and '18 and '20
geography and the 'l6 and '18 and '20 results, yes,
that would have been available on the computer.

Q. Right. So in other words, you had the
information for each district, whether it favored
republicans or democrats, on your computer, right?

A. Well, with the caveats of, you know, what
variations of a number actually favor a candidate,
yeah. There was -- what numbers were
republican-leaning and which were democrat-leaning,
yes.

Q. Right. And so to come up with an overall
map solution, you would take -- you would put all
the district, and then you'd add them up, right?

A. Yes.

Q. And you had that information on Maptitude,
and Blake had that information on Maptitude, right?

A. Yes.

Q. Did anybody else have that information, to

your knowledge?
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A. Well, I can't speak for everybody else.

But whoever had the final map, the block assignment
file, and whoever had this publicly available data
could have recreated it.

0. Right. But in terms of people who actually
had it from Maptitude, it would be you and Blake.

Is that right?

A. Well, I mean, anybody who had Maptitude and
had the current data and had the publicly available
geography and the block assignment files of the
adopted map would have had this.

Q. Okay. Now, in terms of who had Maptitude,
you had two -- I believe you got two licenses from

Maptitude. 1Isn't that right?

A. That is true.

Q. And you used one of them. Is that right?
A. Correct.

0. And who used the second one?

A. Blake did.

Q. Okay. So it's just the two -- as far as

you know, two people have licenses from Maptitude.
Isn't that right?

A. Between Blake and I, I'm aware of two
people that have licenses from Maptitude, but I know

the Senate democrats, I think, were using Maptitude,
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and plenty of other people were probably using
Maptitude.

Q. Right. But on the republican side, people
involved in drawing the maps was just you and Mr. --
and Blake. 1Isn't that right?

A. His name is Blake, yes.

Q. Okay. All right. But you do -- do you
have any recollection of providing the
64.4 percent --

(Reporter clarification.)

Q. Did you provide a 64.4 percent calculation
of the districts favoring republicans -- did you
provide that to anyone at any time?

A. I don't recall that specific conversation.
I don't recall that.

Q. Do you recall providing any calculation of
the total number of districts favoring republicans
to anyone at any time?

A. Yeah, I think -- as I said before, during
the negotiations, I think that was something that
the democrat members were asking for more districts
to be more democrat leaning. And so I'm sure I was
asked where the maps and the proposals were from
them and us.

Q. And who would have asked you?
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A. Well, my -- my principal contact was
President Huffman.

Q. Okay. And did you provide
President Huffman with the calculation of the total
number of districts favoring republicans in the map?

A. During the negotiations, it would seem very
likely. On the final one, I can't recall that
specific conversation.

Q. You said -- in terms of other elections,
2012 and 2014, I believe you said the data came from
Mr. Benson. Is that right?

A. Well, again, the election results were
available either through the CURD or through the
secretary of state's office. The geography is what
was very sought after, and that was the point of a
lot of focus. And then marrying the two in a way
that could be used in Maptitude.

Q. And that information -- the geography and
then marrying the geography election results for --
(Internet connection interrupted.)

THE WITNESS: You're a little crackly, but
I —-— I -- can you just repeat that instead of me
guessing what you said? I'm sorry.

MR. FRAM: Let me try it again. Hold on a

second. Let me try something. ©No. I think that's
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right.

Q. The -- so Mr. Benson provided you with
information that would marry the geography with the
election results. Is that right?

A. Once the geography was provided from Dave's
Redistricting to the Senate democrats to the
republican chiefs of staff, that was then given, I
assume, to our data consultant so that he could then
marry that with the other publicly available
election results.

So if I just restated what you asked,
apologies, but that's --

0. That -- that was helpful.

And then he provided that back to you, that
combination of the information?

A. Yes, that's how I -- that's how I would
have got it.

Q. Okay. Who suggested to you to work with
Mr. Benson?

MR. STRACH: Objection. Compound.
Rob, that would be privileged. I'm going
to ask him not to answer that.
MR. FRAM: Okay.
Q. Do you recall when you started

communicating with Mr. Benson?
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A. I -- I don't recall. I mean, I don't
recall when I started.

Q. Would it have been in August?

A. It very well could have been because that's
when the census data finally arrived, in mid-August.

Q. Okay. I noticed when you calculated the --
when you calculated the statewide election results,
you included 2012 and 2014. But that -- as you say,
you didn't have the common data set with everybody
for the individual districts except for 2016, '18,

and '20, if I've got that right. Is that right?

A. Close. Somewhat.
0. Please clarify.
A. Well, it has nothing to do with the

districts that were being drawn by anybody in the
state of Ohio, the redistricting commission or
anybody else. It had to do with the geography and
the election results and the geography that existed

at the time those elections happened.

Q. Right. And -- but you said in two
different sets of data -- two different data sets,
depending on the question. If the guestion was, was

the statewide election results, if you looked all
the way back, including 2012 and 2014. But if you

looked at particular geographies, you were only
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going to look at 2016, '18, and '20. Is that right-?

A. Those were the ones that everybody seemed
to be coalescing around. The further back we went,
the further unreliable the data seemed to -- seemed
to get.

Q. Did you have any conversations with anybody
about the fact that you had these two different
data -- two different sets of elections you were
looking at, two different gquestions?

A. Did I have conversations with anybody?

Q. Anybody.

A. I'm sure Blake and I would have talked
about it.

0. What do you recall those conversations?

A. I laugh because it probably would have been

like, "What's going on with the data?" It would
have been something along those lines.

Because, again, that was -- that was all
happening outside of us. We were just the end
recipients of what was being obtained through
publicly available things. And that -- you know, it
wasn't anything that we were doing.

Q. What -- do you recall him commenting in any
way about what was going on with the data?

A. I -- I remember telling him had that --
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that it was a very messy thing this time through and
that the data issues were major stumbling blocks
this time, unlike previous times. Which is obvious
since, you know, it came so late. It was
exacerbating everything.

MR. FRAM: I'd like to ask the technician
to please put up on the screen tab 21, which is
titled, "A Description of the Final General Assembly
District Plan As Adopted By the Ohio Redistricting
Commission."

THE REMOTE TECHNICIAN: Would you like to
mark this as Exhibit 37

MR. FRAM: Yes, please.

(Exhibit 3 was marked for identification.)

Q. Mr. DiRossi, can you see that up on your
screen?

A. I see the cover page.

Q. Yeah, it's the first page. Bates Number

SOS 001461, the cover page.

You might want to -- I want to -- just to
ask you about -- more about the document, first few
pages of the document.

Why don't we scroll through the first three
pages, if we could, just to make sure you've seen

this before.
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(Simultaneous colloquy.)

MR. FRAM: Actually, the first five pages.

There you go. Let's stop right there and
take a look if you could, please.

And why don't we go to the next one.

(Brief pause.)

Q. Do you see that? Okay. I just want to
ask -- you can -- you can go up through the rest if
you'd like. But do you recall seeing this document
before?

A. Yes. It looks familiar.

Q. Okay. And is this, in fact, the final

adopted map for the general assembly?

A. Yes.
Q. Okay.
A. So I'm looking at the senate map right now.
Q. Senate --
MR. FRAM: We can look up at the -- go to

the top of that document for a second there if we
could, please, the very top of that page. Top of
that page, please.

This is the adopted senate seats, senate
districts.

And then if you go to the previous

document -- previous page, which says, "Adopted

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

DEPO_00565

Cresse: A 22 s T2 I [ooc#: Y63l Frieet: @MUWABIZZ 122D aif 3D, gy D#: BB}

09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:
09:

09:

44

44

45:

45:

45:

45:

45:

45:

45:

45:

45:

45:

45:

45:

45:

45:

45

45:

45:

45:

45:

45:

45:

45:

145

:57

00

01

04

04

07

11

12

13

15

18

26

26

28

31

32

33

36

39

43

47

47

49



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Transcript of Ray DiRossi
Conducted on October 19, 2021

114

house districts." Do you see that?

A. I do.

0. All right. And so what I would like to do
is show you some -- we've created sort of a blowup

of certain portions of the same document just for
viewing purposes so it's easier to see. Because
some of these districts are small on the page. So
I'm going to show you if we could put up tab 25,
please. Hamilton County House District.
This will be Exhibit 4, I guess.
(Exhibit 4 was marked for identification.)
Q. Mr. DiRossi, do you see that Exhibit 4, the
Hamilton County area districts? Do you see that?
A. I do.
Q. Okay. Now, Hamilton County had seven whole
house districts. Is that right?
A. That sounds right, vyes.
Q. Those would be Districts 24 through 30. Is

that right?

A. Yes, seven.

Q. Yeah. Okay. Now, I just -- starting in
some of the districts -- District 24, do you see
that down there, sort of the middle of the -- of
the -- of the document?

A. I do.
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Q. District 24, that -- that district tends to

favor democratic candidates, right?

A. It would be helpful if I had access to
my -- to my computer to know that, but...
0. Well, 24 is -- Cincinnati is 24. Isn't

that right?
A. If you -- yeah. I don't know if you could
scroll ahead. In this same document, there is a

description of District 24. It would help me --

Q. Sure.
A. -- understand the geography if it's --
Q. There definitely is.

MR. FRAM: If we go to Bates Number
SOS 001466, please.

THE REMOTE TECHNICIAN: Is that a page
number or a tab?

MR. FRAM: Sure. It's a Bates number.
It's a Bates number. That's the Bates number.
Bates Number is SOS 001466.

THE REMOTE TECHNICIAN: Give me one moment,

please.

MR. FRAM: Sure.

(Brief pause.)

MR. FRAM: We're going to look for District
24.
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THE REMOTE TECHNICIAN: All right.
MR. FRAM: It's down a little ways.

(Brief pause.)

MR. FRAM:
Q. Now, you see where -- there you go.
District 24. Do you see that, Mr. DiRossi?
A. I do. Thank you.
0. Do you see "Hamilton County (part),"™ and it

says, "Cincinnati (part)"? Do you see that?

A. I do.

Q. Okay. Does it refresh your recollection
that District 24 includes Cincinnati?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Does it refresh your recollection
that District 24 is a democratic-leaning district?

A. Well, I would say based on the 'le6, '18,
and '20 geography, that's -- that's how it would
score, yes.

Q. Okay. All right.

A. Whether it is or not, I'll leave that to
somebody else.

Q. Okay. Fair enough. Let's -- in answer to
my question in terms of how it scores under those
elections, thank you for clarifying that.

If we can go back up to the -- if we can go
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back and take a look at tab 25 for a minute.
Exhibit -- I guess Exhibit 4, is it? The -- that
blowup. Just -- there you go.

If we go to District 25, do you have a
recollection of the depth of the partisan leaning
for those -- for that district under the 2016, '18,
and '20 scoring?

A. I mean, I would guess that it is similar,
but I -- but I -- I can't say for sure. But my

guess is it's similar to the 24th.

0. And you know for sure you'd have to check
your -- your -- your Maptitude files. 1Isn't that
right?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And same thing about District 26,

also leans democrat under that scoring?
A. I can't say for sure, but I would -- I
would think it would score along those lines.
Q. Okay. And District 30 also?
A. I --
(Simultaneous colloquy.)
0. Would it lean republican?

(Reporter clarification.)

A. I would -- I guess I would think so, but
I -- I would obviously, again, check to -- to verify
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before definitively saying.
Q. Okay. And so looking at these districts

here, is it your sense that Districts 27, 29, and 30

would lean republican? 1I'll say it again. 27, 29,
and 30.
A. I -- I would check. I don't -- I -- 1

would grant 29 and 30, but I don't know about 27.

And -- yeah. 1I'd have to check.

Q. Okay. When you say "check," you mean check
in with -- check on Maptitude?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.

MR. FRAM: Counsel, if I could just ask.
Are those -- the Maptitude files the witness keeps
referring to, have they been produced in this -- in
response to our document request?

MR. STRACH: Yeah. We -- we -- Rob, we --
I can't remember which files we produced, but we
saved them in our interrogatory answers that we
produced.

Exported Maptitude -- Maptitude files for
at least the enacted plan, maybe the September 9th

plan, too, from both Ray and Blake.

MR. FRAM: Okay. And did those -- but did
they say for the -- for the enacted plan, did they
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include the information that appeared once it was
described as in the display windows?

MR. STRACH: It's whatever comes in a
Maptitude file. I really have no idea, Rob.

MR. FRAM: Okay. Okay. Okay. I
appreciate that.

Q. Now, we discussed what your general
understanding was with the partisan leaning of these
districts in Hamilton County.

Did you ever discuss the partisan leanings
of the districts in Hamilton County with anyone at
any time?

MR. STRACH: Rob, if you could clarify for

the house or for the senate.

MR. FRAM: We're talking -- we're -- right.
Thank you.

Q. We're talking about the house districts
here is what we're talking about. Did you ever talk
with -- with anybody at any time?

A. Blake and I work side by side on -- on all
projects. So I -- I would imagine Blake and I would

have discussed that at some point.
Q. Okay. Did you talk with anybody else other
than Blake?

A. Not -- not that I specifically recall.
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Q. Okay. Did you communicate with him in any
way —-- well, let me back up.

Do you recall Speaker Huffman ever coming
and looking at the districts in Hamilton County with
you on your computer screen and looking at that
display window?

A. When you -- can you clarify? You said
"Speaker Huffman" again. Did you mean --
(Simultaneous colloquy.)
Q. I apologize.
A. No problem.

(Simultaneous colloquy.)

Q. I keep making that mistake. President
Huffman.

Did he ever come over and look at your
computer screen and the display window as regards to
any of the districts in Hamilton County?

A. Not that I recall. Not the house
districts, nor the senate districts, that I recall.

Q. Do you recall anybody coming over, other
than you, Mr. Springhetti, looking at the house

districts in Hamilton County on the computer screen?

A. Can you say that again, Mr. Fram.
Q. Do you recall anybody coming on over and
looking at your computer screen -- looking at the
PLANET DEPOS
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house districts in Hamilton County?

A. With me -- I don't recall that. I would
have at some point shown President Huffman the
senate districts in Hamilton County, but they were
pretty straightforward. And so I don't think we
would have spent a lot of time looking at the senate
districts in Hamilton County. There was a little

issue in Butler and Warren, but not Hamilton.

Q. What was the issue in Butler and Warren?
A. So the population ratios, as they changed
with the updated census data -- I don't know if you

can picture the Butler County and Warren County
house and senate districts from the previous decade
in your head, but there is one wholly contained
house district in Warren County, and then there is
another house district that takes the northern two
wards roughly of Middleton in Butler County to form
the required construction of house and then senate
districts.

And with the new census data, that
obviously I said we got very late, the ratios of
Warren County changed from being roughly
1.97 percent of the house ratio to 2.03 percent.

And so that pairing was not constitutional

anymore. And it caused the districts down there in
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southwest Ohio, specifically Butler and Warren
counties, to be drawn into dif- -- different way
with Preble County and Butler County being the ones
that were joined in the house and senate districts.

So that was that issue. We focused on that
because it was a seemingly small change in numbers,
but it had a big impact on the map. And that's one
of the things that I was focused on.

MR. FRAM: Got it. Let me ask you a
question about a different county and ask you a
question about -- let's see here -- Montgomery
County.

If we could put tab 26 up and mark that as
Exhibit 5, I guess.

(Exhibit 5 was marked for identification.)

Q. Do you see that, Exhibit 5 up on the screen
that shows the districts in and around Montgomery
County? Do you see that?

A. I see an image of house districts in
Montgomery County. It doesn't say Exhibit 5, but
I'll take your word for it.

MR. FRAM: Right. If we can make sure that
gets marked as --
THE WITNESS: Oh, there you go. Thank you.

MR. FRAM: Thank you. All right.
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Q. Now, Montgomery County itself -- I take it
there are four house districts that are in
Montgomery County, and then there's one district
that overlaps into the neighboring counties, I guess

that is Preble and Butler. Is that right?

A. Yes, in a house map, correct.
Q. House map. Okay.
So the house districts are -- what is it --
35, 36, 37, 38 -- is that right -- are in -- are in

Montgomery County, and then 39 is sort of the
crossover that goes over into Preble and Butler. Is

that right?

A. Yes.
Q. And just going through the districts a
little bit at a time. The -- looking at 38, is that

a democrat-leaning county under the 2016, 2018, and
2020 election data-?

A. Again, I'd want to verify that, but I would
think so, yes.

Q. Right. And why would you think that?

A. I remember looking at that district later
in the negotiations when District 36 was made from

being a republican-leaning district to a

democrat-leaning district and -- during those
negotiations. And so I remember looking at 38 as
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well.

Q. Okay. And District 35, we'll take a look
at that. District 35, I take it that's a
republican-leaning district, isn't it?

A. Again, same provisions, I'd want to check.
But since we took a lot of time and effort to unify
Dayton mostly into two house districts and unify
Dayton mostly in one senate district and make that
Dayton district the district that stayed inside
Montgomery County were wholly contained, as I call
it, I would think that 35, when I checked, would be
a very marginal republican-leaning district.

0. What about 37? Which way would that lean?

A. Again, same caveats. I would check. But I
would think that after we took steps to make 36 a
strong republican-leaning district to a
democrat-leaning district, I would think 37 would be

a republican-leaning district.

Q. Okay. What about 397
A. Again, with every district, same things.
I'd want to check to verify. I think -- having

worked and spent a lot of time in Montgomery County
because that was a point of negotiations, that was a
point of a lot of public testimony at the regional

hearings and the redistricting committee hearings, I
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know that area pretty well, and I think that would
generally be a republican-leaning district.

Q. Okay. Now, did you have any -- you said it
was a point of conversation and negotiations.

What do you recall about those
conversations?

A. I remember the president saying to me that
the 6th Senate District, which is the senate
district that is comprised of three of the house
districts you had me looking at, we needed to make
that a democrat-leaning district. And so that's
what I recall about Montgomery County.

Also, as I said before, making sure that
Dayton was in the senate district that remained in
Montgomery County or wholly contained. That was
something I was being told was a point of
discussion, a point of contention at the negotiating
table, if there ever was a negotiating table, per
se.

Also, the fact that Dayton should be in --
try to be in as few house districts and as few
senate districts as possible was also a point of
request from the democrat members of the
redistricting commission.

Q. Did you ever have a conversation with
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anybody about any of these districts, that they
should stay republican leaning-?

A. Can you say that again? I'm sorry. During
the negotiations --

0. At any time, did you have a conversation
with anybody that any of these districts should stay
in republican land?

A. Well, I -- I am sure and it's very possible
that I spoke to Senator Antani, who obviously would
not have been a fan of his district being made from
a republican-leaning district to a democrat-leaning
district. So it's very possible, in fact, probably
probable that I would have had a conversation with
him at some point about why he did not like that.

Q. Did you have a conversation with anybody
about a district that remained republican and that
should remain republican-?

A. I don't think I follow.

Q. You said you had a conversation with
Senator Antani about taking a republican-leaning
district and making it democratic. ©Now I'm asking
it the other way around.

Did you have a conversation with anybody
about a district that was republican leaning and

conversation it should remain republican leaning,
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and then it did remain republican leaning?

A. I don't recall -- you mean with the office

holder of the district in question or --
(Simultaneous colloquy.)
Q. No. No. With anybody.
A. And you are specifically asking about
Montgomery County?
Q. Any districts in Montgomery County.
A. Any districts. Thank you for the
clarification.
I'm trying to remember. I mean, I only
have one senator that represents the wholly

contained district in Montgomery County.

Q. We've got the house districts up here on
the map.

A. Understood.

Q. Did you ever have any conversations with

anybody about any of the house districts remaining
republican?

A. It's possible in the September 9th map,
because obviously, in the September 9th map, those
negotiations hadn't happened yet. And so the

changes I just described happened afterwards. So

none that I can recall -- that I can articulate here

for you today.
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Q. Okay. Putting aside Montgomery County.
Just statewide, did you have a conversation with
anybody -- anybody at any time about
republican-leaning districts that were republican
leaning and they thought that they should stay
republican leaning?

A. Well, I already mentioned I'm sure that --
it's very possible, if not probable, that I talked
to Senator Antani about the very fact pattern you
just asked about. Of course, we didn't do that, to
which I'm sure he's very upset.

No additional ones that I can think of or
articulate for you right now.

0. I'm not talking about conversations
necessarily with the office holder, okay. Just
about with anybody saying, we got a certain district
that's republican leaning, let's keep it that way?

A. Yeah. I -- well, like I said, I talked to
Blake daily, and we would have talked about
districts in Montgomery County, house districts and

senate districts. But that's kind of going the

other way. That was when we were being instructed
to make them democrat leaning. So beyond that, I
don't think I have a -- I can articulate a specific

conversation for you.
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Q. So let's -- let me see if I understand
correctly.

On the September 9 map, you had budget
districts which were republican leaning. Later,
there were -- and then there were negotiations about
suggestion making some of them democrat leaning.

Do I have that right?

A. I wasn't part of those negotiations, but it
was relayed to me that in Montgomery County, there
was specific things that -- again, I say the
democratic caucuses, but I understood it to be the

senate democrats were the ones negotiating. But I

Those negotiations were being relayed to me
from President Huffman that we needed to make the
6th Senate District a democrat-leaning district and
the 36th House District a democrat-leaning district.
But that would have come to me through Blake, I
assume, from the speaker.

Q. Okay. But just so I understand, there were
a couple -- a couple of districts were identified
for possible change, but the others were not. 1Is
that right? There's not all the districts that were
identified for a change?

A. I -- in the Senate, it's a lot easier
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because there's only two, right? And the democrats
-- the senate democrats were asking that the
district that was wholly contained to be inside --
include Dayton. The democrats were asking that
Dayton be in a district that was wholly contained in
Montgomery County. So there was only the 5th and
6th Senate District.

On the house side, there's obviously -- as
you said, there's four and a half districts in
Montgomery County. I -- I -- I'm pretty sure, from
talking to Blake, that 36 was identified. If we
could have made multiple ones, I'm sure that would
have been something we would have worked on, but I
don't think that we thought that was possible.

Q. So you did it for -- one of them was you
tried to shift it over to the democrat leaning, but
you did not make a similar change, if I understand
correctly, for the others. Is that right?

A. Well, it's not that we tried on the 36th
District. 1I'm pretty sure we tried and succeeded.

And, again, that was just to have something
so that the principals, my principal, President
Huffman, could back to -- I keep saying negotiate
table, but the negotiations -- and have -- continue

to have more conversations.
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And, you know, then we could see another
proposal from the other size.
Q. But you did it for 36, I take it. You
tried -- as you said, tried and succeeded. But you
did not either try or succeed for the other

districts. 1Isn't that right?

A. Well, we tried and succeeded in the 36 in
the house. We tried and succeeded for the 6th in
the senate. And for Montgomery County changes,

those were that round of changes that we sent back
-—- well, I shouldn't say we sent back -- that we
then gave to our principals and that they could go
back and have conversations about.

So there were two districts where we
succeeded.

Q. Right. And so there was neither an attempt
or a success in changing the partisan leaning of
Districts 35, 38, 37, or 39 in the house. 1Isn't
that right?

A. No. I mean, look, there's only so many
people in Montgomery County and they vote how they
vote. That's -- you know, that's up to them. And
when you score them, it's going to be whatever the
scoring is going to be.

In order to turn the 36th District from a
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strong republican-leaning district to a
democrat-leaning district required geography changes
and the displacement of a number of
republican-leaning voters. Those voters had to go
into some districts.

So in that first attempt, one in the house,
one in the senate, we were successful in moving
those to the democrat-leaning column.

But as a by-product of that, surrounding
districts, you know, probably were going the other
way.

So, yes, we were successful in those two in
that round. Happy to do other rounds as other
rounds came back. But those were the ones that we
were tasked with looking at in -- in
Montgomery County.

(Reporter admonition.)

Q. I appreciate that. That's -- that's
helpful. We're well past the 1:00 o'clock time. I
know Phil said he could flex a little on it, but I
don't want to abuse the courtesy.

Do you want to -- Phil, do you want to take
your half hour now?

MR. STRACH: Yeah, let's -- let's do that

and come back at 1:45.
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MR. FRAM: See you then.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Time is 10:12 a.m. We
are going off the record.

We are off the record.

(Lunch break taken.)

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is 10:47 a.m.
We're now back on the record.

MR. FRAM: Yeah. It's 10:47 Pacific time,
I guess.

Technician, if you could please put up tab
15 up on the screen.

THE REMOTE TECHNICIAN: Stand by.

MR. FRAM: Just for the record, this is
going to be a transcript of the September 9 hearing.

THE REMOTE TECHNICIAN: Would you like to
mark this as Exhibit 67

(Brief pause.)

THE REMOTE TECHNICIAN: Counsel, would you
like to mark this as Exhibit 67

MR. FRAM: Yes, please.

(Exhibit 6 was marked for identification.)

MR. FRAM: Okay. If we could please turn
to -- let's see —-- the fourth page. Let's come down
to the fifth page, the bottom of the page where it

says, "State Senator Vernon Sykes at [00:19:42]."
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(Brief pause.)
MR. FRAM: Let's see. You may have gone
past it, please. There you go.
Q. Do you see that? Okay. Mr. DiRossi, do
you see Exhibit 6 up on your screen?
A. Yes.
Q. Okay. And you recall on the September 9

hearing you made a presentation regarding the

proposed map at the time. Do you recall that?
A. I do remember testifying, yes.
Q. And following that, do you recall

Senator Sykes asked you a question?

And I'm just focusing in on, this is a
question he asked right after your -- after your --
after our presentation. Do you see that question?
He's putting -- that's on the -- for the record,
it's on the -- I believe it's on the fifth and the
sixth page.

The question is on the fifth page and then
your answer —-- goes over to the fifth page and your

answer is on the sixth page.

A. Okay.
Q. Okay. And do you see here where he thanked
you for your presentation, and then he asks -- he

says, "I like to know," and you didn't mention this
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in your presentation, how you satisfy the new
requirement in Section 6(B) of the Constitution that
deals with the statewide proportion of districts
whose voters based on statewide and federal partisan
general election results during the past ten years
favor each political party shall correspond closely
to the statewide preferences of voters of Ohio."

Do you see that?

A. I see the text, yes.

0. And then he asks further down in -- when
he's asking his question, "And so I'm just wondering
how you address this issue."

Do you see that?

A. Okay. At the very end of it, yes, I see
it.

Q. And then you see your answer that follows
then at 00:21:35? And where you say, at the end of
your answer, "That analysis is ongoing, it's not
complete as of today, and it is ongoing."

Do you see that?
A. I do.
Q. Okay. What were you doing as part of that

ongoing analysis?

A. Well, as I mentioned in our earlier
conversations, the -- getting the data, getting the
PLANET DEPOS
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election results, getting the geography put together
in a computer that was in a useful, meaningful,
useful way for us was very challenging. It -- well,
I'1ll speak for myself. It was extremely challenging
and time consuming and frustrating.

So at this point when I'm testifying, we
were still trying to get that data, get it into the
computers. It may have been in the computers, but
maybe not fully functional. And so that's what I
was trying to articulate in my answer, that our
analysis was not complete and that it was still
ongoing.

Q. Okay. And at some point, did you complete
your analysis?

A. You know, it was a -- it was an evolving --
an evolving process getting that data, making it
functional, finding new problems with it and getting
that corrected and making it work.

After the September 9th -- I'm sorry. I
just have a bunch of messages from people on the
thing popping up on my sScreen.

MR. FRAM: Okay. Can we please, people,
maybe don't give the witness messages in the middle
of his testimony?

THE WITNESS: It looks like they were chat
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messages to some chat group.

MR. FRAM: Okay.

THE WITNESS: Can you -- can we back up?
Can you restate the question --

(Simultaneous colloquy.)

MR. FRAM:
Q. You said the analysis was ongoing. You
explained some of the challenges. And my gquestion

to you is, did you ever complete the analysis?

A. Yeah, okay. Thank you for that reminder.

So as I mentioned I think earlier in our
conversations, the -- I don't want to say the world
changed. But after we presented that map on
September 9th is when all of these negotiations
seemed to, in my opinion, start. And things were
happening and evolving very fast.

And so I don't know if we ever completed
the analysis. But, you know, we maybe moved on to
new analyses that were -- analyses that were being
done to help -- help the negotiations progress.

Q. Do you know if anyone ever completed an
analysis to determine compliance with Section 6 (B)
of the constitution, Article XI?

MR. STRACH: Objection. Objection. Go

ahead.
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THE WITNESS: Well, I can't speak for
everyone. I -- I mean, I -- like I said, I think we
talked about length I -- you know, as the
negotiations went on, there was a lot of
conversations and training of block assignment
files, i.e. maps, trying to get at a ten-year plan
that a majority of the redistricting commission
could support. And that quickly became the focus in
those last six days, five-and-a-half days.

MR. FRAM:

Q. Okay. Again -- so my question to you,
again, is, I take it you never completed the
analysis. Is that right?

A. Yeah. I -- I guess what I'm referring to
is the election data that I'm referring to here on
September 9th was evolving. And so it would -- that
was a different set of data after we got more
geography from publicly available sources or were
able to get it into the computers and make it work.

So the -- any analysis that I would have
done would have been then directed -- my efforts
were directed to support President Huffman in his
negotiations to try to get to a ten-year map.

Q. Okay. Did you ever complete an analysis to

determine whether or not the map complied with
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Section B -- sorry -- Section 6(B) of Article XI, as
asked in Senator Sykes' question?

MR. STRACH: Objection.

Go ahead.

THE WITNESS: I was focused on providing a
map that followed all of the requirements of the
constitution dealing with the construction of senate
districts and house districts, making sure that we
didn't make any dumb or sloppy mistakes and
providing that information as timely as I could to
President Huffman so that he could carry on the
negotiations for a ten-year map.

Inherent in that would have been any -- any
information about, as we've talked about the
republican or democrat leaning of districts.

If you -- if that's an analysis, then, I
guess that your answer. And if that's not an
analysis, I guess that's my best answer.

MR. FRAM:

Q. I guess my question is: If that was your
analysis, did you ever complete it?

MR. STRACH: Objection.

MR. FRAM:
Q. If it's ongoing. I'm trying to understand
if you ever -- if it ever got completed?
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A. I did not produce any type of report or
analysis that way. I guess what I'm trying to
convey to you i1s that we were focused on the
negotiations at hand that were evolving minute to
minute, hour to hour, day to day in the short time
we had left.

And trying to provide, for me,
President Huffman with any information that he
needed in his negotiations or conversations with the
other members of the commission.

Q. Okay. So it was not a comprehensive review
of the map as a whole, but it was rather responding
to specific questions about particular districts in
the negotiations. Do I understand you correctly?

A. No. We were always focused on the entire
map. So any -- that was one of the things that --
that -- I don't want to say it was frustrating, but
anytime that we were making changes to geography,
whether it's Montgomery County like we talked about,
northeast Ohio or any other districts, there were a
number of things that needed to be done.

Some of which, I guess, you could call
analyses to make sure that the map complied with the
continuity requirements, the population

requirements. You know, they didn't -- we didn't
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split extra counties. We weren't splitting
unnecessarily the wards of major cities. We weren't
splitting any protected political subdivisions as
outlined in other provisions of the constitution.

So all of that was all happening
simultaneously anytime we were reviewing a democrat
proposal or making one of our own.

Q. So you say you never provided a written
report regarding compliance with Section 6(B) of
Article XI. 1Is that right?

A. I don't recall doing so, no.

Q. And how did you convey information relative
to the election results analysis that you said was
ongoing? What form? If it was not in a written

report, how did you convey it?

A. I mean, a lot of that was done verbally --
Q. Okay.
A. -- personal conversations between myself

and President Huffman.
Q. I understand.
Was any of it done in any visual way; for
example, using your Maptitude screen?
A. I don't recall, between September 9th and
September 15th when we were in the -- they were in

the negotiations, if I showed the screen to the
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president, although I can recall one time when I was
with him in the office.

But I don't -- I don't recall specifically
showing him any type of analysis that you're
referring to. It was more about, these are the
things that -- I'll say the democratic members of
the redistricting commission were asking to be
considered and what were we going to do to do that
or suggest alternatives. That was the focus.

Q. When -- you testified when
President Huffman did see a screen -- you testified
he did -- I take it that was done before
September 9°?

A. I am sure throughout the process I showed
-- in fact I know I showed Senator Huffman the
graphics on the screen. I don't recall specifically
what was before September 9th and what was after
September 9th.

Q. Okay. Thank you. I appreciate that.

And in the conversations with Senator
Huffman regarding the negotiations, other than the
items which you've already testified, do you recall
any other conversations that concerned the partisan
leaning of any district?

A. I recall him asking our status on, you
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know, receiving data, both the geography and
election results, and getting them into the computer
system.

And I recall expressing frustration to him
that it was a -- I called it, it's not a light
switch. It takes time. So I do recall
conversations -- me expressing frustration to him

about how long that was taking.

0. And that --
A. -- taking.
0. Those conversations were towards the end of

August, very, very beginning of September. Is that
right?

A. Yeah. The end of August through -- through
September 15th.

Q. So there were still frustrations about not
getting good election data all the way up to
September 15, or were those conversation really up
to September 97

A. Well, as I mentioned before, at one -- at
some point, we received the 'l6, '18, and '20 data,
but that took time to have that be received and have
it in a usable way that the computers would work
with it. So that was one set of frustrations.

There were just a number of frustrations
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throughout the process about data. Not necessarily
about election results. Not necessarily about
geography. But just about how the computers were

working and how we were able to turn projects

around.
0. Okay. Let me see 1if I can break it down a
little bit.

So prior to September 9 -- let me look at
it another way.

As of September 9, I take it the election
results stayed, and the geography data -- at least
as to 2016, '18, and 2020 elections, that was fully
baked. Is that right?

A. Could you restate the question.

0. As of September 9, was the election results
data and the geography data as regarding the
elections for 2016, 2018, and 2020 -- was that fully
baked?

MR. STRACH: Objection.

MR. FRAM: I can clarify.

0. Was it -- had it been conveyed and
formatted in a manner that was usable by the
Maptitude software map in your computer?

A. I would say -- I would say the 'le6, '18,

and '20 information was after September 9th, the
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focal point for what was using. I would say some of
the frustrations that I was experiencing with its
functionality were ongoing through the process.

Q. But my question is, was —-- you were able to
use, 1in Maptitude, the 2016, 2018, and 2020 election
data as of September 9. 1Is that right?

A. I don't specifically recall. And as we
continue to talk about it and various pieces of it
here today, I'm starting to doubt the -- it's
becoming less clear when what data was available,
when it was useful, when it was operational for all
of these different data sets.

Q. So you're not sure, as you sit here now,
that there was a usable data set of election data
even as late as September 15. Is that right?

A. No, I didn't say September 15th. No.

Q. So as of -- by September 15, I take it,
there was a usable set of election data for the
2016, 2018, and 2020 elections. Is that right?

A. I'm trying to restate what I think I've
already stated before previously, and that is, the
'16, '18, and '20 data was some of the -- other than
the '20 geography and '20 election results, the 'lé6,
'18, and '20 pieces were available through the

conversations with the democratic caucuses earlier
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in the process.

Once those conversations were fruitful and
the data was given to us and made available to us in
a usable form and it was integrated in the
computers, that was happening around early
September.

But it doesn't mean -- as I've tried to
articulate, and maybe I've done a poor job
mentioning it. There were continuing problems with
the data where the data wasn't lining up at all
levels of geography. And it was received by us,
usable by us, but that's why I'm saying there was
continuing frustration throughout the process that
was really never fully resolved. But I'm not
suggesting it wasn't -- the '1l6, '18, and '20 sets

of geography and election results weren't usable.

0. So they were usable?
A. I'm trying to -- yes. They were usable,
but there was ongoing -- the layers weren't

necessarily matching up, and that was a cause for
frustration that I've tried to articulate.

Q. Okay. But they were usable to the point
where you could see the results of election --
strike that.

It was usable to the point where you could
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see the partisan leaning of a district in the
display window in Maptitude when you looked at a
district. 1Is that right?

A. Yes. I could see it generating numbers. I
mean, I'm not speaking to its authenticity or
accuracy, but yes, I could see numbers.

Q. Okay. And so when you said to
Senator Sykes that your analysis was ongoing, was
not complete as of today, September 9, and it's
ongoing -- when you said that, in fact, it remained
ongoing right up through September 15, or not?

A. Well, as I think I said before, if not a
couple times, on September 9th, everything seemed to
change. You know, we were five and a half days away
from the deadline.

There was renewed conversations about

negotiations, getting a ten-year map, the exchanging

of proposals started in earnest. There were maps to
receive and analyze. There were maps to propose and
send.

And so that process of doing that analysis
that I spoke of on the 9th kind of evolved.
Q. It was displaced by a focus on responding
to issues in the negotiation. Is that right?

MR. STRACH: Objection.
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THE WITNESS: I had limited time, so I was
focused on providing President Huffman with the
information for him to carry out negotiations.

MR. FRAM: Thank you. All right.

I have no further questions at this time. Only
to turn it over to the other relators who may have some
questions of their own, counsel for the other relators.

MR. KLEIN: Spencer Klein, Elias Law Group,
for the Bennett Relators.

I do have a few questions, but I can also
wait if one of the other co-counsel also have
questions as well.

(Brief pause.)

MR. FUNARI: Go ahead, Spencer. This is

Brad.
MR. KLEIN: All right. Thanks, Brad.
EXAMINATION
MR. KLEIN:
Q. Hello, Mr. DiRossi. How are you?
A. Doing great. Thank you, Spencer.

MR. KLEIN: Why don't we pull back up
Exhibit 1. I believe that should be a ten-year look
back.
Q. So Mr. DiRossi, when we were discussing

this earlier, was it your testimony -- and feel free
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to correct me if I'm wrong here -- that after
negotiations got going over the maps in early
September, that you stopped looking at this. Is
that right?

A. Can you clarify -- are you saying stopped

looking at this document?

Q. Yes, correct. You stopped consulting this

document -- actually, strike that.

You stopped consulting this data that you
compiled in this document generally.

MR. STRACH: Objection.

MR. KLEIN: Basis?

MR. STRACH: 1It's a confusing and weird
question.

MR. KLEIN: Okay. I can rephrase it.

0. So what I'm asking is -- well, let's
actually bring it back to the initial question,
which was, at that time, as negotiations got going
in early September, is it correct that you stopped
looking at this document?

A. I mean, when I -- when I created it, you
know, post-budget, before census data is when I
think I created it, I didn't know if it would be
useful to me, but this -- I -- yes. When

negotiations were going, I don't recall looking at
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this document. That was -- I had much more
important things to do.

Q. Okay. Now, was it also your testimony
earlier that you did not consult this document
because -- and I'm quoting verbatim here from the
transcript -- "this section of the constitution was
not something I was responsible for determining,

interpreting, or doing anything like that with"?

A. If that's what I said before, yes, that's
right.

Q. Okay. So when you're talking about that
section of the constitution, were you —-- were you

referring to Article XI, Section 6? And we can also
pull that up if you need it.

MR. STRACH: Objection. The record will
speak for itself.

But you can answer that if you can.

THE WITNESS: Yeah. I said I was -- I was
focused on providing President Huffman any
information he needed to go through negotiations and
hopefully get to a ten-year -- ten-year conclusion,
ten-year map. That was my focus in those final five
and a half days-ish, six days.

MR. KLEIN: Okay. So why don't we pull up

tab 19, I believe, Article XI, Section 6 it should

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

DEPO_00602

Cresse: A 22 s TS2 IR0 [Dooc#: Y63l Frieet: @MWABIZZ 157 aif 380, R D#E: AL

11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:
11:

11:

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

: 30

134

137

144

:50

:53

:55

:58

: 04

:06

:06

:09

:15

:18

124

:25

227

132

:34

137

:41

144

: 47

:50

:52



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Transcript of Ray DiRossi
Conducted on October 19, 2021

151

be.
THE REMOTE TECHNICIAN: Would you like to
mark this as the next exhibit?
MR. KLEIN: Yes.
(Brief pause.)
(Exhibit 7 was marked for identification.)
MR. KLEIN:

0. All right. Our -- so first, Mr. DiRossi,
are you familiar with the constitutional provision
that's contained within this document?

MR. STRACH: Objection.
THE WITNESS: Yes. Did you say am I

familiar with it?

MR. KLEIN:
Q. Yes.
A. Well, I know it exists.
Q. Okay. And at the time you began your work

on the maps, were you aware of what's set forth in
this constitutional provision in front of you?

A. I mean, I see the words, but I don't know
how to interpret them. I was very glad when this
ended up not being something that I was being tasked
with.

So I see the words, but I don't know how to

interpret these provisions.
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Q. Okay. And Mr. DiRossi, when you say this
was not something that you were tasked with, what do
you mean precisely by that?

A. Like I said, we had five or six days after
the September 9th meeting, and there were a whole
host of things that needed to be done every time a
map was received from the democrat members of the
redistricting commission to -- ultimately to me or
to Blake.

Or the other way, making sure that the
districts complied with all of the other very
obvious provisions of the constitution, like
population equality, contiguity, the construction
requirements of house and senate districts, Section
5, the assignment of senators.

And the simple mechanics of trying to
receive files, import them into Maptitude, make the
software work correctly, and export files to send
back through President Huffman to the negotiations.

That was a monumental task. That was my
singular -- well, I shouldn't say singular focus,
but that was my main focus in those final less than
a week we had to try to get to a ten-year map.

Q. Okay. Okay. So going back before

September 9th in stages of the map-making process
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from when the census data came out to when you
presented the map on September 9, was this also not
something you were tasked with in determining
whether the map complies with Article XI, Section 67?

MR. STRACH: Objection.

THE WITNESS: Early on -- again, remember,
we didn't even have computers set up and
operational. We didn't have census data that we had
received from the census bureau to Ohio University
back to us, you know, trying to get it in the
computer.

In those early days, I know everybody was
of the mindset of, like, hey, you got the census
data yesterday, where are the maps. But internally,
there was a tremendous amount of time and effort
that was going into just getting up and running and
getting operational and getting functional.

That was what was happening early on. So I
wasn't focused on this or not focused on this. I

was focused on all those logistical things early on.

MR. KLEIN:
Q. What do you mean by "those logistical
things"?
A. The functionality of the computers; making

sure that the software worked with the computers;
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making sure that the census data -- I mean, the
population data was working in the computer system;
making sure that the geography at each layer of
geography, that blocks aggregated to precincts; that
precincts aggregated to wards; that wards aggregated
to political subdivisions; that political
subdivisions aggregated to counties; making sure the
populations were right.

All of that was happening early on, and
that was the early focus before we even —-- you have
to walk before you can run. And that was all --
that's just a sampling of the things we were trying
to do to get ready to walk.

Q. Okay. And around what point were all of
those logistical matters up and running?

A. I don't recall. Some of them would have
gotten worked out, you know, sometime in August.
And, obviously, then come September, we were, you
know, preparing something for September 9th,
ultimately. But various things that I just
described were worked out in August and -- through
the month of August.

Q. Okay. So what I'm trying to figure out is,
as you're preparing the map leading up to the

presentation on September 9, was whether the map
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reflected the standards in Article XI, Section 6 --
was that a consideration in your mind?

A. I was much more focused about, as I refer
to, in northeast Ohio, there being a specific
geography problem that had plagued the state for a
number of decades. I was very focused on that
because early on, I could not find a mathematical
solution to it.

I was focused on a couple other areas of

the state where I thought there were changes that

were going to cause some disruption. I think I
spoke about one -- a simple one in Warren and Butler
Counties earlier. But those were the early -- the

early issues that I was focused on.

And then making sure that all the districts
were contiguous, had the right populations, and
had -- adhered to all the other mandatory
requirements of the constitution.

Q. All right. So is it a fair
characterization to say that the matter of
Article XI, Section 6 was just not at the top of
your -- this was not at the top of your -- of your
priority list in drawing this map presented on
September 97

MR. STRACH: Objection.
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Go ahead.

THE WITNESS: My goal and what I viewed my
role was -- in those early days was putting forward
a map for the president of the senate to consider
presenting to the redistricting commission that did
not have any constitutional construction errors or
problems in it and that found solutions to be a
constitutional map.

MR. KLEIN:

Q. Right. As -- and so what I'd like to know
is, in your view, in drawing these maps, would a map
that does not reflect the standards in Article XI,
Section 6 be a map that has, by your
characterization, constitutional errors?

MR. STRACH: Objection. Calls for a legal
conclusion.

(Reporter clarification.)

MR. STRACH: Same objection.

Spencer, your voice 1is kind of trailing off
at the end of sentences.

MR. KLEIN: I'm sorry about that. 1I'll try
to speak up a bit more.

MR. STRACH: Go ahead, Ray.

THE WITNESS: I'm sorry, Mr. Klein. Can

you repeat that.
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MR. KLEIN: Sure thing.

Could we actually have that read back.

(Record read.)

MR. KLEIN:

Q. What I'd like to know is that -- just
moving back a little bit, you had said that your
goal was to give a map to the senate president that
did not have constitutional construction errors.

What I'm asking is, if a map -- was whether
a map that does not reflect the standards set forth
in Article XI, Section 6, is that a map that has
these, by your characterization, constitutional
construction errors?

MR. STRACH: Objection. Calls for a legal
conclusion.

Go ahead, Ray.

THE WITNESS: I mean I'm not sure I know
how to answer that. I feel the map -- the map
complies with all the provisions of the
constitution, but Section 6(B), I think you referred
to i1t as, was for President Huffman and others to

focus on.

MR. KLEIN:
Q. Right. So it is your understanding that --
so -- sorry. Strike that.
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It is your understanding that it was not
your responsibility to focus on Article XI,
Section 6; that was for Senate President Huffman and
the other commissioners, correct?
A. It was not my responsibility.
Q. Okay. Thank you. Just a moment.
Did you ever have conversations with any of
the commissioners concerning Article XI, Section 67?
A. I am thinking through.
(Brief pause.)
A. The only one I generally recall was
Senator Huffman, and him saying that that was not my
responsi- -- that was not my focus; that I should
focus on following the construction rules of the
constitution for producing a fair and neutral map
that complied with all those construction
requirements.
Q. And Mr. DiRossi, do you recall when that

conversation occurred?

A. I don't. I do not.
Q. Was it prior to September 9th?
A. I can't recall. Those six days were a

whirlwind of everything.
0. Okay.

A. And even before that time was amazingly
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chaotic.

Q. Was this at some point in September that
you had this conversation?

A. I hesitate to say yes. And then sometime
later, remember, it was August 30th. I don't recall
when the conversation was.

0. Was it after the census data came out?

A. I'm sorry. You kind of garbled there after
you said "was it after."

Q. Sorry. This may be an issue with my mic.
Let me just make sure that Zoom has this all right.
My apologies.

A. No problem.

0. All right. Did this conversation occur
following the release of the census data?

A. I don't recall specifically. That -- that
sounds a little more realistic, but I cannot recall.

Q. Okay. Do you recall anything about the

context for this conversation?

A. I don't. Yeah, the only thing I remember
is that President Huffman said he had his own -- his
ideas, and he was -- he was the one negotiating with

the other members of the commission, and keep
drawing maps that were compliant with the other

provisions of the constitution.
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Q. Okay. All right. Changing gears a bit.

You've testified earlier on that you
received feedback on the maps from incumbent
legisla- -- from -- from incumbent legislators. Is
that right?

A. Well, I would say the ones that were
negatively impacted certainly made their concerns
and displeasure known.

Q. Okay. So what legislators -- and this is
whether positive or negative feedback. But which --
sorry. I'll actually have that struck. Sorry about
that.

Which legislators did you receive feedback
from on the maps?

A. I'll start with Senator Antani was very
displeased and not happy about his district being
made to be a democrat-leaning district.

Senator Roegner was unhappy that her
district was made from being a very
republican-leaning district to a marginal
republican-leaning district.

Senator Romanchuk was very unhappy, as was
his wife, that he was being drawn into the district
of another republican and common state senator, and

he made his -- very politely, but made his
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displeasure known.

And those are the ones that I had direct
interaction with. I had heard that others were
upset because their districts were negatively
impacted, in their view. But those were the ones

that I had direct interaction with.

Q. Okay. And did you receive any feedback
from -- from legislators prior to September 97

A. I mean, I was talking to President Huffman,
who was an incumbent senator, so I would put -- I

would check that box.

I'm trying to recall if, before a map was
ruled out, other than the senators that I've
articulated who were being told that their districts
were going to be -- they were going to be drawn out
of their districts, drawn into another district. Or
in the case of Antani, that didn't happen until the
negotiations were progressing. I'm trying to
remember if there were any other incumbent senators
that I had heard from.

0. Take your time.

A. Yeah. Can you -- can you ask -- Mr. Klein,
can you ask that question again and see if it helps
me?

0. Sure. Absolutely. So aside from Senate
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President Huffman --

A. Okay. Thank you.

Q. -- did you receive feedback on the maps,
from any incumbent legislators, prior to
September 9th?

A. And I'm struggling with "prior to
September 9th," because there -- there are a few —--
a few others that I would say, but I couldn't say
for sure that they were before or after
September 9th.

0. All right. Well, so then let's speak
generally before or after. Which legislators did
you receive feedback from, aside from the ones we've
already canvassed, aside from Senate
President Huffman?

(Reporter clarification.)

A. Form state senator and now current member
of the house, Tom Patton. I -—— I can't remember if
he called me or -- yeah, I think he called me -- and
he was not happy with the map that was -- I guess
that -- I'm guessing now that that would have been
after the 9th because he was not happy with the map,
that he felt that was a negative thing for him. So
that would be one additional one.

As you can see, there's a theme here of all
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